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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN THE PRC
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Xiamen City, Fujian Province, the PRC
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

With a surge of spring tide, a new chapter unfolds. In 2024, the global
economic witnessed signs of recovery with a gradual revival in consumer
market dynamism. The demand for healthcare products continued to rise,
with quality and personalization becoming dominant trends. EBN consumers
are exhibiting a shift toward rational consumption, as traditional culture of
nourishment integrates with modern health concepts, driving the industry
toward quality-driven and service-oriented transformation. Looking back at
2024, through the collective efforts of our employees, Yan Palace maintained
steady growth in revenue. Our revenue increased by 4.37% from RMB1,964.2
million in 2023 to RMB2,050.0 million in 2024. Our net profit for 2024 was
RMB160.4 million, compared to RMB211.6 million in 2023. Despite the
year-on-year decline in profit, we made solid progress in brand building,

market expansion, product innovation, and corporate social responsibility.

LEADING THE NEW DEVELOPMENT OF THE
MODERN BIRD’S NEST INDUSTRY AND FURTHER
STRENGTHENING OUR BRAND INFLUENCE

In 2024, Yan Palace consolidated its leadership in the bird’s nest industry
with multiple accolades of “No. 1 in national sales volume of EBN’, “No.
1 in CAIQ-traceable bird’s nest imports among domestic importers’,
“World's largest EBN factory” and “No. 1 in the China Brand Power Index”.
To enhance our influence across diverse demographics, we implemented a
dual-ambassador's matrix, partnering with Gong Li (Zl) and Wang Yibo
(E—18) to reinforce our premium brand image while boosting appeal
among younger consumers. Meanwhile, we entered into strategic consulting
collaboration with Hua & Hua to reconstruct the brand’s super symbol “Yan
Palace EBN’, to unify the outlet visual system, optimize the store display logic
and consumer flow design, and complete the systematic upgrade of the

brand from visual symbols to content communication.
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER
EERYE

EXPLORING NEW CHANNELS AND BUILDING
OPERATING STRATEGY OF SYNERGISTIC
DEVELOPMENT ACROSS ALL CHANNELS

We have launched the strategy of integrating online and offline channels
to fully align our product lines. Our offline sales network now covers
nationwide, with 108 self-operated stores and 650 distributor-operated
stores as of December 31, 2024. Our EBN products from offline stores were
available for sale through platforms such as Youzan Private Domain Mall,
Meituan, JD.com Instant Delivery and Douyin Local Life, further boosting the
brand exposure and traffic of offline stores. Meanwhile, our online business
continued growing. Through refined operations, the conversion efficiency
of the platform was optimized. The Company leveraged Al technology
to increase sales conversion by reshaping the operational chain, initiated
the intelligent customer service system to increase the conversion rate of
late-night order inquiries, and utilized Al creative technology to significantly

amplify marketing effectiveness.

CONTINUING PRODUCT INNOVATION TO DRIVE THE
ADVANCEMENT OF THE BIRD’S NEST INDUSTRY

Over the past 27 years, we have continually promoted the research in EBN
industry and the innovation and upgrading of the EBN products. In 2024, we
joined hands with the National Research and Innovation Agency of Indonesia
to carry out scientific research on the natural ecology of swiftlets and the
scientific management system of swiftlet houses, as well as taking the lead in
drafting the industry standard of the Edible Bird's Nest Products and issuing
the Yan Palace’s Rating Report for EBN Production Areas in Indonesia V2.0.
In collaboration with the Joint Laboratory of Collaborative Innovation on
EBN Nutrition and Health of Peking University Health Science Center and
Jiangnan University, we conducted a population-based intervention study
on the health effects of One Nest and a study on the bioactivity of Freshly
Stewed Bird's Nest, alongside with conducting a 28-day human feeding trial
of Freshly Stewed Bird's Nest, scientifically validating the nutritional value of
EBN.

Meanwhile, by combining EBN with new food raw materials and ingredients
with medicinal and food properties, we then launched innovative products
such as One Nest — Orange Sincerity (BE#E-#8 =) (EBN with raw coconut
and peach gum), One Nest — President (BB 7%&-42%, %) and E-Jiao bird's nest.
We also refined the existing flavor formula of EBN porridge by introducing
new flavor to satisfy the needs of more diversified consumer groups and
scenarios, creating a new growth driver for the performance of the Company.
In addition to making significant progress in the production process of EBN
peptide, Yan Palace’s core patent on EBN peptide was granted an invention
patent by the National Intellectual Property Administration, marking that we

have reached a new height in the field of EBN peptide technology.
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EMBRACING AN INTELLIGENT FUTURE AND
SOLIDIFYING INDUSTRY LEADERSHIP

Officially commencing operation in May 2024, Yan Palace’s smart EBN factory
has undergone comprehensive upgrades across seven key dimensions
including smart manufacturing, R&D integration, intelligent logistics, digital
office systems, digital exhibitions, smart security, and green energy. Through
the innovative model of “cultural center visit + production line traceability”,
we turned the factory open to consumers and enterprises for visits, while
live streaming with the theme of smart factory traceability garnered a total
exposure of over 200 million times, becoming a self-livestreaming benchmark

for top brands in the food and health category.

PROACTIVE COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY AND PRACTICING SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT GOALS

For years, Yan Palace has adhered to its corporate concept of “Born with Love,
Nourish with Love”. During 2024, we engaged in various welfare activities.
Through providing financial aids to education, underprivileged children in
rural areas can have better educational opportunities and improved learning
environments. In response to sudden natural disasters, we donated funds
and essential supplies to aid affected communities during critical times. In
addition, the rural factory of Guanghe County Yan Palace, which was built
in Guanghe County in 2019 as part of the East-West Pairing-off Cooperation
for Poverty Alleviation, was awarded the "2024 Outstanding Investment
Attraction Enterprise” by the CPC Guanghe County Committee and Guanghe
County Government. The Yan Palace’s Empty Bottle Environmental Protection
Program in 2024 has entered its fourth quarter, calling on consumers to
participate in green carbon reduction actions and contribute to a low-carbon

life and ecological protection.

Based on the Group's operation in 2024, the Board of Directors will
recommend a final cash dividend of RMB2.15 (inclusive of tax) for every 10

Shares at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER
EERYE

The 2025 State Council Government Work Report regards “vigorously
boosting consumption and investment returns and stimulating domestic
demand across the board” as the major priorities. Driven by the strong
policy tailwinds, China’s consumer market has been experiencing a robust
recovery across all sectors. By staying close to market developments, the
Company accelerated the upgrading from individual products to composite
nourishment solutions with the core strategy of “tapping deeper into the
value of bird’s nests and expanding the health ecosystem”, driving full force

to achieve the strategic goal of “doubling revenue in five years”.
Last but not the least, | extend my deepest gratitude to all shareholders for

your trust and support. We will strive relentlessly and make strides towards

the next glorious decade of Yan Palace.
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RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

Our revenue increased by 4.37% from RMB1,964.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB2,050.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Our gross profit increased by 1.79% from RMB994.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB1,012.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Our net profit decreased by 24.18% from RMB211.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB160.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024.
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RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FEERENIBERE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY MEBE
As of/for the year ended December 31,
BE+=-A=+—-H BE+=-A=t+—-HALEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
BT B4 ZFE_-_C —Eo=F ZEBEZNF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARBTT AREBTR
Revenue ON 1,301,157 1,506,997 1,729,945 1964237 2,050,000
Gross Profit EF 555,709 555,709 878,252 994,916 1,012,762
Profit before taxation ¥ 258 Al AR 159,826 230,173 264,566 273,326 206,613
Income tax Frig#i (36,401) (57,814) (58,688) (61,738) (46,183)
Profit and total FAFERZERGETE 123,425 172,359 205,878 11,588 174,350
comprehensive
income for the year
Profit attributable to equity N AR 2 AR R R A F) B 122,017 167,353 191,840 201,218 170,221
shareholders of
the Company
Earnings per share FlEAEF 0.29(Note) () () 3gNote) (i) 0.44 0.46 0.34
Total assets wEE 649,774 796,726 978354 1,469,993 = 1,486,614
Total Liabilities BEE 438,009 443,589 506,344 673,066 718,370
Total Equity B 211,765 353,137 472,010 796,927 768,244
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEY 150,573 169,495 350,818 537,093 420,508
Net current assets MENFEE 160,118 181,322 280,178 594,387 402,043
Note: BiEr

The earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021 are presented
with the assumption that the Share subdivision was completed at that time for the
purpose of comparison. The sub-division of the Shares by the Company was approved
on May 25, 2023 and effective upon the Listing, where the Company subdivided its
Share from one Share of RMB1.0 each into five Shares of RMBO0.2 each. For details, please
refer to the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Over the past year, the volatile external environment, increasingly
differentiated consumer demand and intensified competition in the
industry undoubtedly contributed to an extremely challenging year in the
development of the Group. Under such complicated circumstances, we
made every effort to promote the strategy of high-end branding, actively
explored new channel layout, innovated and enriched our product portfolio,
and maintained the largest market share in China’s EBN market for eight
consecutive years, which in turn, lead to a continuous and steady growth in

the sales revenue and greater brand influence.

1. Brand Management

In 2024, the Group continued to consolidate its leading position in
the industry and achieved breakthroughs in both brand influence and
commercial value. On the China Brand Power Index SM (C-BPI") EBN
brand ranking, the Company has been ranked the first in the industry for

five consecutive years, leading the industry in terms of brand power.

Dual Ambassador Strategy: Building Cross-generational
Influence

The Company used the dual ambassador matrix of “international movie

star + youth idol” to accurately cover diverse consumer groups:

In January 2024, Ms. Gong Li (2/f]) became the global brand
ambassador of the Group. Her international reputation and high-end
image strengthened the brand’s “superior quality” mindset, rapidly
increased the brand awareness through official publicity, and
significantly attracted the attention of high-end customers. In December
2024, we worked with Ms. Gong Li (Zff]) to hold a new product
launch conference “The Gift of Time” in Shanghai, strengthening the
stickiness of high-net-worth customers through immersive experience
and high-end customized products, thereby further consolidating the

brand’s high-end positioning.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED T

12

In May 2024, Mr. Wang Yibo (£—18) became the global brand
ambassador of the Group. He interacted deeply with young groups
through trendy content, successfully expanding the consumer market
of Generation Z and the new middle class, promoting the brand’s
penetration into young generation and stimulating the consumption

vitality.

Full-scenario Brand Communication: Strengthening
High-end Mindshare and Driving Consumption

By exposing the brand image in high-quality media such as airport hubs,
China National Radio, and Focus Media, we continued to strengthen the
mental awareness of premium EBN. We focused on business elites and
high-net-worth families, accurately targeted household consumption
decision-making scenarios, and activated holiday gift demand through
high-frequency community reach, promoting gift box products to
become the preferred choice for household consumption, and further

expanding the brand's share advantage in the traditional festival market.

The World’s Largest EBN Factory: Trust Endorsement and
Brand Potential Upgrade

Relying on the world’s largest transparent and smart EBN factory, the

Company created the “cultural center visit + production line traceability”

model and made the factory open to consumers and enterprises for
visits, strengthening brand trust endorsement through visual production

processes and third-party certification. The closed-loop layout from

production to dissemination transforms the hard power of “World No. 1"

into brand trust and market potential, consolidating the brand's position

as a benchmark in the industry.

Introducing Hua & Hua Strategic Consulting (% £ % 2} # %
#): Driving Systematic Brand Upgrade

The Company introduced Hua & Hua Strategic Consulting to reconstruct
the brand’s super symbol “Yan Palace EBN" to unify the outlet visual
system, optimize the store display logic and consumer flow design, and
facilitate the systematic upgrade of the brand from visual symbols to

content communication.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

—E_NEFRAFT-EEAHEREESR
KeBREA  WEAREAND EFEEE
RELE - IWARZEREFTERED
% HHmBEE 2B REEES o

B RmEERE  BILE RO ELK
EE%EAEEE?
BHMPBEERSELD TRARERE
é‘ PRETEREERBMETLRE

CRBERESHRABNOERA - BE
ﬁ%ﬁ”ﬁﬁ@@%ﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁi%
EHBRES S BBLERSIEREYL
HMERRER HHBRERKAREH
EEE HE—ITEARMESERHET

PHERFE-—WHBEIR  FEEE
B g EEHR

KAEEHRREFE - OEBEALERT
B BAII L2 B+ £ ESPIRERX
EREEERPCEFMER  BBARL
E?mﬂ&ﬁ-ﬁi ZShHREFRIEMBEARS

P REERIEEGNRARGE - &2
f*% INEENE (L RREEERTSE
B8 - SEMBITERIEMAL -

SIA EREEREZN - FEE R
1EF AR

NESIAFEHEEREE LR  BBEEME
BREFRIBZEXRB IS —HORER
% BPIERIBEEE B RRE
BB RBRRIAREENRERL
FHR



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Channel Management

In 2024, with steady development of traditional channels and active
exploration of new channels, we continued to implement operating

strategy of synergistic development across all channels.

(i) E-commerce Channel

Our online sales network consists of self-operated online stores,
distributor-operated online stores and e-commerce platforms. As
of December 31, 2024, we had 39 self-operated online stores and
52 distributor-operated online stores on mainstream e-commerce
or social media platforms such as JD, Tmall and Douyin. As of
December 31, 2024, we had 26 e-commerce platforms as our
customers, including JD, Vipshop and Tmall Supermarket, among
others. For the year ended December 31, 2024, our total revenue
from e-commerce business was RMB1.24 billion, accounting for
60.6% of the total revenue of our Group during the year and
representing an increase of 12.5% compared to the same period in
2023.

The online business maintained strong growth momentum, and
the platform operation data hit a new high. The total number
of online visitors in 2024 exceeded 340 million, representing a
significant year-on-year increase of 47.9%, and the scale of user
reach achieved a leapfrog increase. On the basis of expanded traffic
scale, the conversion efficiency of the platform was simultaneously
optimized, and the total annual orders in 2024 reached 1.389
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 36.2%. After refined
membership operation, the cumulative number of registered
members on the platform in 2024 has exceeded 8.3 million, and the
solid private domain traffic pool has laid an important foundation

for precision marketing and deep cultivation of user value.
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We used Al technology to reshape the operational chain, which has
been fully implemented in the online business and achieved great
results. For example, the launch of digital character live streaming
on JD.com has increased sales conversion during non-prime time.
Our intelligent customer service system identifies 98% of common
inquiries through natural language processing, increasing the
conversion rate of late-night order inquiries by 40%. The Al creative
middle platform enables generation of marketing materials in
batches. By inputting keywords, design proposals can be output
in minutes, greatly improving the efficiency of the marketing

department.

Both the full-area live streaming and content seeding operation of
Xiaohongshu have achieved outstanding results. The live streaming
with the theme of smart factory traceability had a total exposure
of over 200 million times and created a gross merchandise value
of over RMB80 million, becoming a self-livestreaming benchmark
for top brands in the food and health category. By developing a
key opinion leader evaluation algorithm, we selected bloggers
with high-quality fans and strong content matching on content
platforms such as Rednote, launched targeted content and
interactive tools, and collaborated with nutritionists to use clinical
data to prove the nourishing effects. The continuous enrichment of
note content has greatly increased the reading volume, gradually
shifting customers’ consumption motivation from “following the

trend”to “recognizing the efficacy”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(ii) Offline Channels

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our total revenue from
the offline business was RMB808 million, accounting for 39.4%
of the Group’s total revenue during the year and representing a
decrease of 6.1% compared with 2023. As of December 31, 2024,
we have established a nationwide offline sales network consisting
of 108 self-operated stores and 251 offline distributors covering 650
distributor-operated stores in China. The following table sets forth

the number of our offline stores by type as of the date indicated.
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2024 2023
—EopmE —E-=
Offline stores HBTME
Self-operated stores B PE 108 9%
Distributor-operated stores LIEEPYE 650 647
Total et 758 743

By entering diversified platforms such as Youzan Private Domain
Mall, mini program-based live streaming, Meituan, Dianping, Maps,
JD.com Instant Delivery and Douyin Local Life, the traffic and brand
exposure of offline stores increased significantly. At the same time,
we actively expanded overseas markets and successfully opened
our first store in Flushing, New York, the United States during the
Chinese New Year in 2025. Our products were simultaneously
available for sale in Chinese supermarket chains in California
and Costco supermarket chains, further expanding the brand'’s
international influence. In addition, the first self-operated store in
Singapore is under decoration and design, which marks our first

step in global layout.
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In order to improve customer experience and operational efficiency,
we have launched the strategy of integrating online and offline
channels to fully connect our product lines. For example, the One
Nest product series were available for online sale, and freshly
stewed products were available for sale in offline stores nationwide,
which not only improved the efficiency of product promotion,
but also accurately met the diversified needs of customers. At
the same time, by organizing cross-industry alliance membership
activities such as black diamond member tasting salons in high-end
shopping malls and special concert box activities, more vitality and
warmth are injected into the brand. The number of offline Golden
Yan Club registered members reached 510,000, and customer

stickiness and repurchase rate were further enhanced.

(iii) New Channel Layout

We actively explored various channels and created bird’s nest
derivative products that are more suitable for the characteristics of
different channels. Bazhen freeze-dried bird's nest was developed
offline and was available for sale in more than 300 Freshippo
boutique supermarkets and bird’s nest porridge nourishing gift
boxes were available for sale in boutique supermarkets such as
Sungiven and Ole. We are promoting customized products such as

bird’s nest light bowls for sale in Sam’s Club.

Products and R&D

We have always adhered to the core philosophy of “Customer First”.
Leveraging modern technology, we have continually promoted the
basic research in the EBN industry and the innovation and upgrading
of EBN products. We have joined hands with the National Research
and Innovation Agency of Indonesia to carry out scientific research on
the natural ecology of swiftlets and the scientific management system
of swiftlet houses, in order to promote the sustainable development
of the EBN industry. Based on the research on the natural ecology of
swiftlets, the Company constructed a multi-dimensional production area
assessment system and outputted the Yan Palace’s Rating Report for
EBN Production Areas in Indonesia V2.0. In April 2024, Yan Palace took
the lead in drafting the Edible Bird's Nest Products, China’s first industry
standard for EBN products in the light industry, which laid a normative

foundation for the healthy development of the industry.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company is committed to demonstrating the value of its products
through scientific evidence. In collaboration with the Joint Laboratory
of Collaborative Innovation on EBN Nutrition and Health of Peking
University Health Science Center, we conducted a population-based
intervention study on the health effects of One Nest. Through a
randomized controlled trial design, it was confirmed that continuous
consumption of Yan Palace’s One Nest can produce significant positive
effects on amino acid metabolism and glucose metabolism in human
beings. These landmark studies have provided strong scientific evidence
for the nutritional value of One Nest and provided reliable reference for

consumers to choose high-quality EBN products.

The Company also cooperated with Jiangnan University to conduct
a study on the bioactivity of Freshly Stewed Bird's Nest. The results
showed that the amount and activity of active peptides in Freshly
Stewed Bird's Nest under Yan Palace’s proprietary production process
increased after digestion. Meanwhile, a 28-day human feeding trial
of Freshly Stewed Bird’s Nest was further conducted. The results of
the study showed that after consuming Yan Palace’s Freshly Stewed
Bird's Nest for 28 consecutive days, the subjects showed significant
improvement in a number of key indicators such as skin elasticity, skin
melanin content, skin radiance and skin moisturizing and repairing
ability. Based on the results of this rigorous and scientific human feeding
trial research, the Company was awarded the authoritative certification
by Sullivan, an internationally renowned consulting organization, and
was recognized as “the first brand in China to conduct a human feeding

trial on the effects of freshly stewed bird’s nest”.

In 2024, the revenue generated from the pure EBN product series was
RMB1.80 billion, representing an increase of 0.1% compared with 2023

and accounting for 87.6% of our total revenue in 2024.

EBN+ and +EBN Products

By scientifically combining EBN with new food raw materials and
ingredients with medicinal and food properties, the consumption
scenarios and flavors of our EBN have been further expanded and

enriched.
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Combining ingredients with medicinal and food properties, we launched
One Nest - Orange Sincerity (3% 2 5X) (EBN with raw coconut and
peach gum) to meet the demand of the gift market in the RMB1,000
price range, and One Nest — President (B 3E-425,3X), which is designed
to cater to the extensive men’s nutrition market. Meanwhile, Yan Palace
actively promoted co-branded product cooperation by co-launching
E-Jiao bird's nest with Dong-E-E-Jiao, and created the product concept
of “red E-Jiao integrating with white bird’s nest, nourishing ruddy
complexion and good condition” (BRI EARAT - BEAEI AR
RE), which has helped our EBN become an instant hit and reach more

consumers.

While refining the existing flavor formula, we continued to develop new
flavors of EBN porridge, adding new flavors such as EBN porridge with
milk and black rice and EBN porridge with thick taro puree and milk, to
satisfy the needs of more diversified consumer groups and scenarios. In
2024, the cumulative sales of EBN porridge has exceeded 7,358 thousand
bowls across all platforms, with a revenue of RMB90.7 million, which has

become a new growth point contributing to our performance.

The Company actively expanded the boundaries of scientific research on
EBN and continued to deepen the innovative research on EBN peptide.
In 2024, the Company made significant progress in the production
process of EBN peptide, and was granted an invention patent (Patent
No.: ZL 2022 1 1398048.3) by the National Intellectual Property
Administration for “A kind of bird’s nest peptides preparation method
and application with the efficacy of promoting cellular repair and high
moisturization and whitening”, Yan Palace's core patent on EBN peptide.
This marks that Yan Palace has reached a new height in the field of EBN
peptide technology, which has effectively promoted the recognition of
the scientific value of EBN peptide in the whole industry, and continued
to lead the technological innovation and development direction in the

field of EBN deep-processing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Supply Chain Management

In May 2024, Yan Palace Intelligent Manufacturing Industrial Park
completed its intelligent transformation and officially commenced
operation. The new factory pioneered the “Intelligent EBN Sorting
Production Line System’, integrating automatic soaking machines,
cleaning machines and Al-powered sorting machines, as well as
innovating and developing a number of core processes to realize a fully
automated workflow for pre-processing of EBN. We deployed automatic
bottle unloading system, robot loading and unloading of sterilization
baskets, and 360° intelligent water spray retorts, which increased the
production efficiency by over 30% compared with the traditional mode.
We also completed the industry’s first “intelligent low-temperature
CTU stereoscopic warehouse for EBN materials’, which, complemented
by the intelligent stereoscopic warehouse for finished products, can
realize unmanned operation of the whole storage process through the

cooperative operation of three-way forklift and AGV stacker.

The new factory’s park management platform integrates energy
consumption monitoring, intelligent security, fire warning and other
sub-systems, significantly improving management response efficiency.
The self-developed water recycling system realizes tertiary reuse of
production water and effectively reduces water consumption per unit
of product. Meanwhile, it integrates SCM (supply chain management),
MES (manufacturing execution system), WMS (warehouse management
system) and other systems, and connects with the traceability system of
the CAIQ to build a digital management platform covering the whole
chain from raw material procurement, production and manufacturing to

end service, realizing visualized control of the supply chain.

In 2024, our Shanghai production base achieved a breakthrough in
production capacity through lean production management, with a 23%
year-on-year increase in the annual shipment volume, which effectively
lowered the unit production cost of freshly stewed products at our
Shanghai factory, and achieved the planning objectives of our Shanghai
production base. We plan to replicate the system and management
experience of our new Xiamen factory to our Shanghai and Guanghe
production bases to enhance the synergy of the production bases and

further improve the production efficiency of the overall supply chain.
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OUTLOOK

Against the backdrop of fluctuations in global economy and the trend of
consumption stratification, the stability and rebound of Hong Kong's capital
markets, coupled with the continuous expansion of new consumption
scenarios in China have provided dual support for the Company's
performance growth. From high-end nutrition to daily wellness, we remain
positive about the long-term development prospects of China’s health
food industry. In particular, as the core carrier of Chinese nutrition culture,
bird’s nest continues to occupy the core area of consumption upgrade by
virtue of its extensibility of consumption scenarios and cultural identity.
The structural growth of the demand for health management among
silver-haired consumers, the growing trend of light health care among urban
white-collar workers, the popularization of the concept of “self-care through
tonic foods” among young people, and the continuous expansion of the
maternal nutrition market are all contributing to the high-frequency and
scenic penetration of universal health consumption. In view of the above,
the Company will accelerate the upgrading from individual products to
composite nourishment solutions with the core strategy of “tapping deeper
into the value of bird’s nests and expanding the health ecosystem’, striving to
achieve the strategic goal of “doubling revenue in five years” and building the
second growth curve of the Group. In order to realize this strategic goal, the

Group plans to take the following measures:

1. Upgrading the product matrix and focusing on the growth
of single product

Under the trend of stratified consumer demand and diversified scenarios,
the Company will precisely cover core scenarios such as business
gifting, family nourishment and light meal replacements through the
three-dimensional product matrix of “pure EBN, EBN+ and +EBN". For
pure EBN products, we have put forward the core strategy of “high-end
positioning, ingenious quality, and technological empowerment” to
maintain and consolidate our brand’s leadership in the bird’s nest
market. By infusing cultural narratives and emotional values into the
products, we deepen our brand moat among consumers. With the
combination of traditional craftsmanship and modern scientific research
and innovation, we ensure the products’ leading position in quality,
experience and safety, making them the first choice of consumers in

purchasing bird’s nest products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Strengthening the super single product of EBN porridge, we combine
it with breakfast and other scenes to strengthen the attributes of
high-frequency consumption and construct the omni-regional growth
model of “online marketing campaign + B-end distribution penetration
+ penetration of distribution channels” We entered the wedding
gift market segment with bird’s nest lava chocolate, and launched
limited-edition gift boxes in collaboration with high-end consumer
brands to build up consumer’s mindset of emotional consumption. At
the same time, the bird’s nest peptide division was set up to develop
complex formulations of bird’s nest peptide products and to expand the

growth curve of technical bird’s nest.

Optimizing channel structure to penetrate the mass market

The Company will implement a channel optimization strategy that
matches market demand and consumer preferences, enhancing
the efficiency of existing channels with differentiated layouts. The
third-generation iconic concept stores were launched in first-tier
commercial centers in core cities, integrating brand culture display,
immersive experience and digital interaction functions. Priority will be
given to expanding the top 100 counties with strong consumption
power in market penetration. By 2025, the target is to complete the
market layout in key counties, initially establishing a county-level grid
coverage system through the standardization of store types and the

asset-light cooperation model.

We continue to make breakthroughs in innovative channels, planning to
enter membership warehousing channels such as Sam's Club and Costco
with customized products, penetrating the convenience store network
with lightweight products such as bird’s nest thick drink, bird’s nest lava
chocolate, and ready-to-eat freeze-dried products, and simultaneously
consolidating the strategic cooperation with high-end superstores such

as Ole and Freshippo.
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Taking bird’s nest derivatives as the breakthrough point of online
ready-to-eat retail channel, we will anchor on three high-frequency
consumption scenarios, namely breakfast meal replacement, afternoon
tea light snack and snack-oriented scenario, focus on breakthroughs in
core cities, and achieve breakthroughs in key cities through the model
of “trending products testing — data feedback - regional replication”.
Targeting at potential online distribution channels, the Company
will develop high-potential new products and cultivate high-quality

benchmark customers to promote their long-term stable growth.

Expanding overseas presence and accelerating regional
penetration

Leveraging on the overseas Chinese community’s understanding of the
EBN products, the Company has formally initiated its overseas expansion.
In 2025, we plan to successively open offline stores in New York and
Singapore, and simultaneously launch cross-border e-commerce
business in the United States and Southeast Asia, exploring Yan Palace’s
overseas expansion path from “China’s leading EBN brand” to “global

provider of nourishing products”.

Enhancing content operation to improve marketing
efficiency

Through the refined operation of high-quality content such as short
videos for science popularization and key opinion leader’s scene-based
product recommendation, we can achieve an integration of brand
building, marketing effectiveness conversion and sales and improve the
marketing efficiency; taking Yan Palace Business School courses, the
traceability experience in transparent factory and EBN culture as vehicles,

we offer customized health benefits solutions for corporate customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2025 is the strategic breakthrough year for the Company’s “second venture”.
Faced with the uncertainty of the market environment, we will adhere to
the corporate vision of “leading the global bird’s nest industry and building
a century-old national brand" (BIE2KFEITE, ITEBFRKZMME) by
driving product innovation through creativity, leveraging technology to
build up a stronger protection from competition, focusing on practical work
to deepen market value, and building team consensus through culture; the
Company will uphold the “consumer-centric” business philosophy, strive
to achieve the strategic goal of “doubling in five years’, and steadily move

towards the vision of “leader of the global bird’s nest industry”.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussions are based on the financial information and
notes set out in other sections of this annual report and should be read in

conjunction with them.

Revenue

Our revenue was mainly derived from sales and distribution of EBN products.
Our revenue increased by 4.37% from RMB1,964.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to RMB2,050.0 million for the year ended December 31,

2024. The following table set forth a breakdown of our revenues by product

categories for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024.
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Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2024 2023
1123 —E-=F

RMB’000 % RMB'000 %

AR®T T % ARETIT %

Pure EBN products HEBE®D 1,795,365 87.6 1,794,214 913
EBN+ and +EBN products EE+ M+ ERBEMR 231,874 11.3 141,986 7.2
Others®" Hipo 22,761 1.1 28,037 15
Total st 2,050,000 100.0 1,964,237 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED T

Note:

m

Include non-EBN products such as moon cakes, snacks and rice dumplings etc.

Pure EBN products. Revenue generated from pure EBN products
mainly represents the revenue generated from sales of pure EBN
products primarily consisting of One Nest (83%), Freshly Stewed
Bird's Nest (f¥/Z7% %), other bottle-canned bird’s nest and dried
EBN. Our revenue generated from the sales of pure EBN products
increased by 0.06% from RMB1,794.2 million for the year ended
2023 to RMB1,795.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

December 31,

EBN+ and +EBN products. Revenue generated from EBN+ and +EBN
products mainly represents the revenue generated from sales of
EBN+ and +EBN products. Our revenue generated from the sales
of EBN+ and +EBN products increased by 63.31% from RMB142.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB231.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to significant

increase in the sales of EBN porridge.

Others. Our revenue generated from the sales of other products
decreased by 18.82% from RMB28.0 million for the year ended
, 2023 to RMB22.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

December 31

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw materials, employee

benefits expenses, production costs and courier fees.

Our cost of sales increased by 7.01% from RMB969.3 million for the year

ended December 31,

2023 to RMB1,037.2 million for the year ended

December 31, 2024, in line with the revenue growth in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit increased by 1.79% from RMB994.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to RMB1,012.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2024. The increase in our gross profit was in line with the growth in our
overall revenue. Our gross profit margin decreased from 50.65% for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to 49.40% for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of (i) advertising and
promotion fees; (ii) employee benefits expenses; (iii) sample and gift costs;
(iv) technical service fees; (v) rent; (vi) depreciation and amortization; and (vii)
others which primarily consisted of design fees, conference fees, property
utilities, office expenses, business hospitality, travel expenses and decoration
and maintenance costs. Our selling and distribution expenses increased by
19.08% from RMB563.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB670.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which was primarily
attributable to the increase in advertising and promotional fees. In 2024, we
completed the development of a dual ambassador’s matrix and engaged the
international actress Ms. Gong Li (Zf]) and the young actor Mr. Wang Yibo
(E—1%) as our global brand ambassadors.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consisted of (i) employee benefits
expenses; (i) consulting service fee which primarily consisted of expenses in
connection with strategic and management consulting services; (iii) office
expenses; (iv) travel and business reception expenses; (v) depreciation and
amortization; (vi) property utilities; and (vii) credit impairment loss. Our
administrative expenses decreased by 12.64% from RMB159.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB139.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, which was primarily due to the fact that the Company
has successfully became listed, and the professional service fee related to the

listing of the Company decreased accordingly in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED T

Research and development expenses

Our research and development expenses increased by 8.19% from RMB26.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB28.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, which was primarily attributable to increased

process development costs.

Other netincome

Our other net income primarily consisted of (i) government grants and (ii)
interest income. Our other net income increased by 29.38% from RMB30.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB39.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, which was primarily attributable to increased

government grants.

Finance cost

Our finance costs primarily consisted of interest on lease liabilities and
interest expenses on bank loans. Our finance costs increased by 138.10%
from RMB2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB7.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, which was primarily attributable to
increased interest expenses on our lease as a result of the increase in leasing

expense of smart EBN factory of the Company.

Income tax

Our income tax decreased by 25.20% from RMB61.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB46.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2024, which was primarily attributable to profit decrease.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year decreased by 24.18% from
a net profit of RMB211.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB160.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The primary uses of cash are to fund the daily operations of the business of
the Group. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, we financed
our capital expenditures and working capital requirements primarily through
cash generated from our operating activities. Going forward, we believe that
our liquidity requirements will be satisfied with a combination of cash flows
generated from our operating activities, the gross proceeds from the Global
Offering, bank loans and other borrowings, and other funds raised from the
capital markets from time to time. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had

not used any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

We have continued to maintain a healthy and sound financial position and
have followed a set of funding and treasury policies to manage our capital
resources and mitigate potential risks involved. Our current assets decreased
from approximately RMB1,154.5 million as of December 31, 2023 to
approximately RMB1,013.5 million as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to a
decrease in cash and cash equivalents balance as a result of the construction

of the new green intelligent factory.

Cash flows

As of December 31, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents primarily consisted
of cash at banks and were denominated in RMB and HKD. Our total cash and
cash equivalents decreased by 21.71% from RMB537.1 million as of December
31, 2023 to RMB420.5 million as of December 31, 2024. The decrease was

primarily attributed to the construction of the new green intelligent factory.

Foreign exchange risk management

Our functional currency is RMB. Our business is principally conducted in RMB,
and substantially all of our assets are denominated in RMB. Foreign exchange
risk arises when commercial transactions or recognized assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not our functional currency. We are
subject to foreign exchange risk arising from commercial transactions and

recognized assets and liabilities which are denominated in non-RMB.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWED T

We recognized net foreign exchange losses of RMBO0.2 million in the year
ended December 31, 2024.

We have not implemented any hedging arrangements. We manage our
foreign exchange risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates. We mitigate such a risk by constantly reviewing the economic
situation and foreign exchange risk, and applying hedging measures when

necessary.

Capital expenditure

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our total capital expenditure was
approximately RMB114.2 million, compared to approximately RMB24.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023. Our capital expenditure primarily
consisted of payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment and
purchase of intangible assets. We funded these expenditures with cash

generated from our operations and financing activities.

Capital commitments

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, we had capital commitments of RMB33.9
million and RMB8.3 million, respectively, primarily in connection with (1) the
remaining amount of payments expected to be made in the future for the
purchase of long-term assets; and (2) the amount of payments for short-term

leases within the next year.

Contingent liabilities

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have any material contingent liabilities,
guarantee or any litigation or claim of material importance, pending or

threatened against any member of our Group.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the Prospectus and in this annual report, as of December 31, 2024, we did

not have detailed future plans for material investments or capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Material acquisitions and disposals and significant investments

We did not have any material acquisitions and disposals and significant

investments during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Pledge of assets

As of December 31, 2024, we did not pledge any of our assets.

Net current assets

As of December 31, 2023 and 2024, our net current assets amounted to
RMB594.4 million and RMB402.0 million, respectively. The decrease in our
net current assets was primarily attributable to a decrease in cash and
cash equivalents balance as a result of the construction of the new green

intelligent factory.

Borrowings and Indebtedness

Our indebtedness consisted primarily of lease liabilities. The following table

sets forth a breakdown of our indebtedness as of the dates indicated.

BB WD
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ERRER
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As of December 31,

B#8=Z+=-A=+-—-H
2024 2023
—E-ME 2=
(RMB in thousands)

(AR®ETFTT)
Current indebtedness BENHAE 7%
Lease liabilities HEEE 25,267 26,391
Non-current indebtedness BB
Lease liabilities HEaE 105,048 111,287
Total Fe 130,315 137,678

As of December 31, 2024, we had no outstanding balance of borrowings.

BE—E-ME+=A=+—B  RALEX
EEM B RS -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WD

Key financial ratios

The following table sets forth our key financial ratios as of the date and/or for

the years indicated.

TEHBLER

TREHNFHMB LR BB R KR FER
TR -

As of/for the year ended
December 31,
BE+=-—HA=+-8"
BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023
—EF —F==

Profitability ratios BRI LR
Gross profit margin® e 49.4% 50.7%
Net profit margin® FAERE 7.8% 10.8%
Return on equity® ENERE 20.5% 33.3%
Liquidity ratios mENE L=
Current ratio® et &R W 1.7x 2.1x
Gearing ratio® BREELL RO 17.0% 17.3%

Notes:

(1) The calculation of gross profit margin is based on gross profit for the year divided
by revenue for the respective year and multiplied by 100%.

(2)  The calculation of net profit margin is based on profit for the year divided by
revenue for the respective year and multiplied by 100%.

(3) The calculation of return on equity is based on profit or loss for the year divided
by average total equity as of the beginning and end of the year and multiplied by

100%.

(4)  The calculation of current ratio is based on current assets divided by current

liabilities as of year end.

(5)  The calculation of gearing ratio is based on total debt (including lease liabilities)

divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EE - EE SATEEAERR

AEBRIESE EENRREEABRBNMN

management of the Group. To

EE

E=ZSRmNBREFENR  HPmaamsE
= MEFUATESFR=RBIFNTES -
TRENEMESWEHR -

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors, Supervisors and senior

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of nine Directors, comprised of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive

Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding the Directors.

Name Age Position Date of Appointment as Director
®A Fie B ZEREERH
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. HUANG Jian 58  Executive Director and chairman of the  October 31,2014

Board of Directors
B 585 BITEZHREER —ET-NFE+A=+—H
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin 55  Executive Director and vice chairman of  July 5,2016

the Board of Directors
BB 555 WITESHRAIESER —ZE-XEtHAEAB
Mr. LI Youquan 51  Executive Director and general manager July 5,2016
FHREE ST BITEERARLE —ZE-XRF+HAEAB
Ms. HUANG Danyan 62  Executive Director and deputy general ~ July 5,2016

manager
=ML+ 62p% HITEFFREIBKLRE —ZE-REtLARA
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. LIU Zhen 48  Non-executive Director July 5,2016
BIEEE 4858  FEMITESR —E-RFtLARA
Mr. WANG Yalong 42 Non-executive Director January 15,2018
FoiELE 28% FRTES —E-N\F—A+ThR
Independent non-executive Directors
BuFHTES
Mr. XIAO Wei 59 Independent non-executive Director December 10, 2020
HiEEE 595% BN IEMITES “E-FEF+-HA+H
Mr. CHEN Aihua 39 Independent non-executive Director December 10, 2020
PREEE S A 39  BMIEHITEF —E-Z2F+-A+A
Mr. LAM Yiu Por 48  Independent non-executive Director November 20, 2023
WRIBER 55 A 4858 BIUFMITES —E_=f+—HZ=+H
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 ES - SsREEAERR

Executive Directors

HUANG Jian (Ef#), aged 58, is our founder, an executive Director and
chairman of the Board. He has been a Director and the chairman of the Board
since October 2014 and was re-designated as an executive Director on May
25, 2023. Mr. Huang is primarily responsible for formulating the Group's
overall corporate strategy and make key business and operational decisions
of the Group. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Huang has been serving as the
general manager and executive director of Xiamen Suntama since November
1997.

Mr. Huang graduated from Fujian Normal University (f&22EM &5 AZ2) in July
1986 with a bachelor’'s degree in Mathematics.

Mr. Huang is the brother of HUANG Danyan.

ZHENG Wenbin (EF3&), aged 55, is an executive Director and vice
chairman of the Board. He has been a Director and vice chairman of the
Board since July 2016, and was re-designated as an executive Director on
May 25, 2023. Mr. Zheng is primarily responsible for formulating the Group's
overall corporate strategy and make key business and operational decisions
of the Group. Prior to joining our Group, he has been serving as a director of
Harbin Dazhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (ME/EAFREEFR A F]) from
January 2004 to July 2022. He served as an executive director and general
manager of Heilongjiang Yanglifang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B TI& &
NHEERRAR
Pharmaceutical Sales Co, Ltd. (BEET AP REBEBEEEFEFR AR from
June 2008 to January 2020.

(formerly known as Heilongjiang Zhongce Deguang

LI Youquan (ZEHR), aged 51, is an executive Director and general manager
of the Company. He has been a Director and general manager since July
2016, and was re-designated as an executive Director on May 25, 2023. Mr.
Li is primarily responsible for the overall operation and management of
the Group. Prior to joining our Group, he worked in Guangdong Runsheng
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (BERBEEEFRA

October 2014, where he was mainly respon5|ble for supervising the overall

) from November 2007 to

strategy and operation management.

Mr. Li graduated from the School of Economics and Management in Shanxi

University (LU PEAER) in 1998 with a bachelor’s degree in Economics.

32 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

HITES
R S8 REMWAIMA  ATESRFE
ER -WE-_Z-USETARETESRES

E WYRZZEZ=FFRA-+HAFATAHIT
EE - mAEFIZERESEASENERAA
& WIEHASEMNEBTERREERE -
RMAXERR - HBEEE-NANEF+—A
BIETEMENSAKERRITES -

%%E —HWNARFELAEER
CRSHBRLE -

MiE 2R

BEREREFUNES -

BB S5 ARTTESRAIESER - HB
- ANFLtAREAESREESRE ¥R
TE-=FERAA-+RARAEARITES - B
FEFEARHNEAEENBERAARE I
EHAEBOEZEH REEREK - RIMAK
E@F - ERZTETNF-—AET-_F+t
AEERRBERPREBRARES - AR
TEENFRAZZZEEF—AEAEEIE
BUSEEARAR (AIBAREILATREE
BHEERRAR) ITESHRBLRE -

FHER SR RARARMITEETRALRE -
BE-ZE-—A"FLABLTESFHRAKLE I
R-BE_=FAA_+hRAAERNTES -
FRAETEAEAKENERELRERE - 1
AREER - BR _EELF+—AE T —
ME+AEBRBLAEEZBERARIE T8

BEEEERRBIELER -

FRER-NANNFEERUAABREE R

Bt BEESE LB -



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EE

HUANG Danyan (Zf3#), aged 62, is an executive Director and deputy
general manager of the Company. She has been a director and deputy
general manager of the Company since October 2014 and July 2016, and
was re-designated as an executive Director on May 25, 2023. Ms. Huang is
primarily responsible for the company’s supply chain sector, production and
procurement business. Prior to joining our Group, she served as the deputy

general manager of Xiamen Suntama from November 1997 to October 2014.

Huang Danyan is a sister of Mr. Huang.

Non-executive Directors

LIU Zhen (2I78), aged 48, is a non-executive Director. He joined our Group as
a Director since July 2016 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director
on May 25, 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing professional
opinion and judgment to the Board of Directors. He served as the president of
Glory Manna Media Group (JtBREEH &) from January 2013 to August
2014. He is the partner of Guangyao Tianxiang, since September 2015.

Mr. Liu graduated from Beijing University of Technology (A3t IR T3 K£2) in
June 2000 with a bachelor’s degree in computer science, and from Chinese
Academy of Sciences (R BIFIEBE) (formerly known as University of Chinese
Academy of Sciences (FFEIRIEFTFFEAERT)) in June 2008 with a master's

degree in business administration.

WANG Yalong (EEE5E), aged 42, is a non-executive Director. He has been
appointed as a Director since January 2018, and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director on May 25, 2023. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible
for providing advice and reviewing overall policies and operations. He
has been serving as the general manager of Beijing Yanshi Investment
Management Center LP GERIBAIREEEH O (ERE ) since February
2017. He served as vice president of investment and financing department
of Everbright Financial Holdings (Tianjin) Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (K ARIFE(RBR)EXKREESEEEBMRAA) and
vice president of equity investment business of investment and financing
department of Everbright Financial Holdings Asset Management Co., Ltd. (J%¢
AEEEETEARAF]) from June 2012 to February 2017,

(RRBEKX

&) in June 2004 with a bachelor's degree in marketing, and from Peking

Mr. Wang graduated from Tianjin University of Commerce

University (3t R AEZ) in November 2011 with a master’s degree in business

administration.
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Independent non-executive Directors

XIAO Wei (B f&), aged 59, is an independent non-executive Director. He
joined our Group as an independent Director since December 2020 and was
re-designated as an independent non-executive Director on May 25, 2023. He
is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent advice on

the operation and management of our Group.

Mr. Xiao has been serving as a teacher, associate professor and professor
of Xiamen University Law School (JEPTAREESEEZPT) since August 2001. He
served as director, secretary of the board of directors, and general counsel
of Xiamen International Trade Group Co. Ltd. (EFIEIE &£ BRMD AR A
7)) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600755)
from July 1991 to July 2001. He also served as an independent director of
Suzhou Jinhongshun Automotive Parts Co., Ltd. (ER/JN& % IE 52 Z6 {4 A%
MAERAT) (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
603922) from July 2018 to May 2020, an independent director of Fujian

REFE

Longma Environmental Sanitation Equipment Co., Ltd. ({R %S
HBRMHAEBRZAT]) (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 603686) from September 2019 to September 2022, an independent
director of Ruida Futures Co., Ltd. JRiZEHIERMH AR AR]) (@ company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002961) from January
2019 to January 2022, and an independent director of Fujian Longjing
Environmental Protection Co., Ltd. ({8328 /FIRIR (D B R A R)) (@ company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600388) from November
2014 to November 2020, and rejoined in June 2022 to February 2024 as an
independent director who is primarily responsible for providing independent
advice to the Board. He is currently a director of Xiamen International Trade
Group Co., Ltd, an independent director of Motic (Xiamen) Electric Group
Co., Ltd. (ERBEEH(EPFHERRM AR AT (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300341), an independent director of
Xiamen Faratronic Co,, Ltd.,, (EFERNEFRRMHBMRAF]) (a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600563), and an independent
director of Dabo Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (RIEEERERMDBRA
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7)) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002901).
Mr. Xiao is also a supervisor of Xiamen University Chen An International Law
Development Foundation (EFIRSERLZRBFEZERESE), a member
of China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (4 Ed
BB EEE SHMEHZEZEE), an executive council member of PRC Securities
Law Research Association (FEIFEFHEMITE), an arbitrator of Xiamen
Arbitration Commission (EFfEHZES
Enterprise Legal Work Association ({REEEERZTIERE), a lawyer of
Yinghe Law Firm ({82 HEAZEMMEIEAT), a president of Fujian Economic

Law Research Association ({@2%& & B A BT E LK), a vice president of

), a vice president of Fujian

Fujian International Economic Law Research Association ({224 Bl 4&8%
EBMMREEIER), an arbitrator of Quanzhou Arbitration Commission (5%
MHPELZ E€), arbitrator of Harbin Arbitration Commission (" BB EE
B ), a mediator of Cross-Strait Arbitration Center (U = {F&;H L)), the
president of Xiamen Financial Law Research Association (BP9 & BlAZ
7€), an arbitrator of Guangzhou Arbitration (BMH#HZE€) and an

A

arbitrator of Hangzhou Arbitration Commission (I {FEE B ).

Mr. Xiao graduated from Xiamen University (EFIARER) in July 1988 with a
bachelor's degree in international economic law, in July 1991 with a master’s
degree in civil and commercial law and in July 2000 with a doctoral degree in
international law. Mr. Xiao obtained the PRC lawyer qualification (F B {ZEN &
%) in June 2020, law professor appointment certificate (ZZ2HIRIBTEE)
in 2003 and qualifications for independent directors of listed companies (=

MARBEMEBEN) in August 2010.
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CHEN Aihua (BRE %), aged 39, he joined our Group as an independent
Director since December 2020 and was re-designated as an independent
non-executive Director on May 25, 2023. He is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent advice on the operation and

management of our Group.

Since September 2013, Mr. Chen has been a lecturer, associate professor
and professor of Xiamen National Accounting Institute (EFIRR & &HE57).
He is currently an independent director of Fujian Zhangzhou Development
Co, Ltd, (BBEMERRMNER AT
Stock Exchange, stock code: 000753), an independent director of Shantui
Construction Machinery Co., Ltd. (LU TR2#EWI DGR A 7))
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000680), an independent
director of Goldstate Securities Co., Ltd. (£TLEFBRMHBRAF]) and an
external supervisor of Shanghai Hengshi Financial Consulting Co., Ltd. (/8
17 B B %578 A R A 7). He served as an independent director of Power HF
Co., Ltd. ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&1ﬁ@
Exchange, stock code: 605100) from August 2019 to October 2022 and an
independent director of Beijing Dataway Horizon Co,, Ltd. (3L R Z 265 £ &K
BRERGOBRAE
stock code: 301169) from November 2019 to May 2024.

(@ company listed on the Shenzhen

(@ company

(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock

) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,

Mr. Chen graduated from Central South University (FREIAZ2) in June 2008
with a bachelor's degree in business administration, and from Xiamen
University (EF9RE) in June 2013 with a combined master and doctor
degree in accounting. Since December 2012, Mr. Chen is a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (FF B FEM &A% E) and
obtained the PRC lawyer qualification (BRI E ) in March 2012.
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LAM Yiu Por (MEEJK), aged 48, is an independent non-executive Director.
He joined our Group as an independent non-executive Director since
November 20, 2023. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent advice on the operation and management of our Group. He
has been an independent non-executive director of JNBY Design Limited
(IR AMRAT]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
3306) since October 2016, a chief financial officer and company secretary of
Dingdang Health Technology Group Co., Ltd ("] iEf@ BRI EB AR A F)
(@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9886) since January
2021, an independent non-executive director of Herbs Generation Group
Holdings Limited (B k& EIZAREBR/AF]) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2593) since December 2024 and an independent non-
executive director of BrainAurora Medical Technology Limited (F )% ¥ B &
BHEBMRAF]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6681)
since January 2025.

He served as independent non-executive director of Tian Ge Interactive
Holdings Limited (Ra5E B)IEARABRAF]) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1980) from January 2021 to June 2022, the vice
president and chief financial officer of Greentech Technology International
Limited (&I BIBR AR AR (formerly known as L'sea Resources
International Holdings Ltd. (F/@&RBIFRIERBR AR (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0195) from November 2013 to July
2020, an independent non-executive director of Denox Environmental &
Technology Holdings Limited GEF&ETRIREHIERAER AT (@ company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1452) from October 2015 to June
2020, an independent non-executive director of China Tontine Wine Group
Co., Ltd. (FEIBRXEXEEBR QT
Exchange, stock code: 0389) from November 2016 to November 2018, an

(@ company listed on the Stock

non-executive director of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (PR EIKE
B BPBRAF]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1538)
from April 2015 to May 2017, an independent non-executive director of
Yat Sing Holdings Limited (BAXIERAR AF]) (@ company listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 3708) (currently known as China Supply Chain
Holdings Limited (Bt fESEEZEBFR A F]) from December 2014 to
March 2016, an independent non-executive director of GR Properties Limited
(BB AR A F]) (a company listed on the Stock Fxchange, stock code:
0108) (currently known as GR Properties Limited (Bl ZE A R /AF])) from
June 2012 to February 2014, the chief financial officer and company secretary
of Lijun International Pharmaceutical (Holding) Co., Ltd. (%172 X &8 %5 (#5: fi%)
AR AT (currently known as SSY Group Limited (f &£ B AR A 7))
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2005) from December
2005 to May 2008 and the chief financial officer and qualified accountant
of Zhongtian International Holdings Limited (FFRXBIBRIZERERAF])
(currently known as China Clean Energy Technology Group Limited (R Bl)&
BEBRERHREBE AR AR]) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2379) from July 2004 to December 2005.

B - 485% » BBV IENTEE -HBEZT
—EFt— At HREAREEBIIENT
EE O FEREEBALEEELENEEILMI
REBYER HA-_ZT—AF+AR—HE
EIEAREBERAR (—RRBXMETAHRQ
Al BRDARSE 1 3306) MBI IERNITES - B
T F AR EHECTEEZEREEES
RAR (—RREXFT EMBAR - RO -
9886) MBEFEYV K ERAFWE  BZE-UF
T AR EETEREEERERAR (R
REERZFT EMERAR - RO : 2593) KB
EHMTEERE S -_HFE— AR —HEEK
K EFEREBRA R (—RPEZAT LT
NE]  BIDAREE - 6681) BN IEMITES -

HRZZFZ—F—RAET__FRAEAXX
SEHERERAT (KRB ETHR
A BRBMREE 1 1980) MBI IERITES - K=
=+ —AE-ZT-TFE+ AETERE
BEBERA R (ARG EREEZERAR
AR —RRABRALETHRR - BHRRE
0195) MEIRERERYBE  RZTE—RHF
+TAZEZE_EEXNAETEFAITRAR K
BERAR (—RARERAT TR B’H
RER - 1452) B IERMITES - RZZEE—RF
+—AZE=ZZ—N\F+—AEAPRBRBEE
SEERAR (—RRBRATETHAR - B
MR 1 0389) BN IEWITES  RZZT— A
FMAE-_Z—+FRAAEEITRIIRERR
AR (—RREXFT EMRAR - RO -
1538) MIERTTES  RZT—WF+_AE=
T-ANFZAEFEAKIERER AR (—RRE
RETEMHAR - BROHASR 3708 RiBAFEH
HERELEEERAR) WBUIFENTES -
RIBE——EXNAR-ET—NE- AEFLER
BERERAR (—KRBRALEWHAE - &HD
REE 0108 - WIBABRSGHESFRAR) KB
FNTESZ R-_ZERF+_AZE=_ZTZEN
FRAEAFNERBREZE(ZR) BRAR (R
BAANEEBERAR  — KRB LS
FAR] - BRDASRE :2005) WEEMEERAR
WERR -_EENFLAE_ZTETRF+-A
BAERRERIZERBR AR GRE AT S 24
BEHEEBMABRAR  —KREZXAMETHA
Al RS 2379 MERMBEREERE
FTAM o

ZE PGSR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 37



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 ES - SsREEAERR

Mr. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (H/#&IET
KE) with a bachelor degree of arts in accountancy in November 1997.
Mr. Lam has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since October 2004, an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute since March 2006, a chartered financial analyst of
the CFA Institute since September 2006 and a fellow of the Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2007.

SUPERVISORS

The PRC Company Law requires our Company to establish a supervisory
committee that is responsible for supervising the Directors and senior
management in performing their corporate duties. Our Supervisory
Committee consists of three Supervisors, including two shareholder
Supervisors and one employee representative Supervisor. Our Supervisors
are elected for a term of three years and are subject to re-election upon the
expiry of such term. The following table sets forth information regarding our

Supervisors.

Name Age Position

] Fie W

MEER-—ANLEF T -ARXRBFBETIAK

B NEEHEXELEM - MEEB T
ME+ARREESHMAEER A -2F
NEZAERRBERBFARAEAEEE

BE-FT% /\Ehﬂtﬁﬁ%ﬁimﬂ o AT B 163 &
FHASEMOME  UkB —ZTLF+— At
KARBERALARETHARERER °

ES

TEARKMBERABERE  RARYES
€ ARHES SAEEABBTARRBE
MERETEE - ARAEEEM=REEA
P ERRREEME  BRIAKREE— 4’%
BHMWESEH=F  FHERRTIEER
£ TREBIEMAAMNERENER -

Date of Appointment
BEZERH

Supervisors

E=x

Mr. ZHENG Feng 54 Chairman of the board of Supervisors October 31, 2014
LIS 54 BEEGERE —mE+HA=+—H
Ms. WEI Wei 41 Supervisor July 5,2016

Bzt 41 BF Z-RE+ARA
Ms. ZHANG Ning 36 Supervisor September 26, 2022
REX L 36 EF —E__FHRAZTIRH

ZHENG Feng (I#), aged 54, is a Supervisor since October 2014 and
appointed as the chairman of the board of Supervisors in September 2022.
He is responsible for supervising the performance of duties by our Directors
and members of the senior management of our Group. He served as a
general manager at Xiamen Huarui Zhongying Holding Group Co., Ltd.
(EFERTRBIEREEFERAA)
Zhongying Investment Management Co., Ltd. (EFiHERFH AR EEIE
BIRAR]) since January 2006. He served as a general manager of Xiamen
Yiding Auction House (BPI—$ & 77) from April 2003 to December 2005.
Mr. Zheng holds 20% of the limited partnership interests in our Shareholder,

(formerly known as Xiamen Huarui

Guangyao Tianxiang LP.
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Mr. Zheng graduated from Xiamen Jimei Finance College (EFI%EFEEIRH

RFEHR) in June 1993 majoring in investment economic management.

WEI Wei (B83), aged 41, is a Supervisor since July 2016. She is responsible
for supervising the performance of duties by our Directors and members
of the senior management of our Group. She served as the purchasing
manager and deputy director of production center at Xiamen Yan Palace
Silon Biotechnology Co., Ltd. from December 2008 to February 2024. She
was appointed as the director of supply chain center at Xiamen Yan Palace
Silon Biotechnology Co., Ltd. in February 2024. Prior to joining our Group,
she served as secretary to the general manager and the administrative
commissioner of the human resource department of Xiamen Suntama from
October 2006 to November 2008. Ms. Wei Wei holds 3.65% of the limited

partnership interests in our Shareholder, Jinyan Tengfei LP.

Ms. Wei graduated from Guizhou University of Finance and Economics (E /!

BAAZ K E2) in July 2006 with a bachelor’s degree in financial management.

ZHANG Ning (3REE), aged 36, is a Supervisor since September 2022. She is
responsible for supervising the performance of duties by our Directors and
members of the senior management of our Group. Ms. Zhang served as
secretary to the Chairman of our Group, manager of the legal department
from July 2015 to December 2020 and senior manager of legal department
of our Group since December 2020. Prior to joining our Group, she served as
a legal consultant and chairman’s secretary at Xiamen Suntama from March
2013 to June 2015. She served as the campus principal and partner of the
Longwen campus at Zhangzhou Longvven Hanlin Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. CEMTEXH M B ZHERAR]) from March 2012 to March
2013. She served as Campus Director at Beumg Longwen Global Education
Technology Co., Ltd. Xiamen Branch (It REXIRIRHERIFEBERARE
F993 2 7]) from December 2010 to December 2012. She served as Office
Director of the Nanjing Yurun project department at China Construction
Seventh Engineering Division (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (FE+ (/&) BR A7)
from August 2010 to November 2010. Ms. Zhang holds 2.13% of the limited

partnership interests in our Shareholder, Jinyan Tengfei LP.

Ms. Zhang graduated from Chongging University (& AZ2) in June 2010

with a bachelor’s degree in law.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LI Youquan (ZEH £), aged 51, is an executive Director and general manager.
See "Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management — Directors” for his

biographical details.

HUANG Danyan (EfJ#), aged 62, is an executive Director and vice
general manager of our Company. See “Directors, Supervisors and Senior

Management — Directors” for her biographical details.

WENG Huizhen (¥ H), aged 52, is a deputy general manager of our
Company since October 2014. She is responsible for the chain business
department. Ms. Weng served as the deputy general manager of Xiamen Yan
Palace Bird's Nest Technology Development Co., Ltd. (BP9t~ E#HEE Rl
FERARAF]) from July 2014 to December 2017. Prior to joining our Group,
Ms. Weng joined Xiamen Suntama in July 2005 and successively served as
the store manager, manager of the sales department, marketing director and

deputy general manager until July 2014

LI Liangjie (ZER ), aged 45, is a deputy general manager of our Company
since October 2014. He is responsible for the online business department.
Prior to joining our Group, he worked as the director of sales and marketing
department of Guangdong Runsheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (5B 4 %
¥ AR 7)) from July 2009 to October 2014.

Li Liangjie graduated from the physician class of Wuhan Railway Health
School (EUZEIEEEER) (currently known as Wuhan Tongji Medical
University (02 &7 88 B K 22) in June 1999.

FAN Qunyan (SEBfH), aged 43, is a deputy general manager of our
Company since December 2020. He is responsible for R&D and product
department business. He has been successively served as the assistant to
the general manager, manager of the technical department, deputy general
manager of production, and the director of bird’s nest research institute of
the Yan Sinong when he joined our Group in April 2014 to December 2020.
Prior to joining our Group, he joined Xiamen Suntama in March 2009 and
successively served as the R&D member of the technical department of
Xiamen Suntama, the supervisor of its technical department, the manager
of its technical department, and its assistant to the general manager from
March 2009 to March 2014.
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Mr. Fan graduated from Jiangsu University GLERAZR) in July 2007 with a
master's degree in food science and engineering and Anhui Polytechnic
University (Z#ITF2ARE) in July 2004 with a bachelor's degree in food
science and engineering. Mr. Fan graduated Fujian Agriculture and Forestry
University (f&2 2 AEZ) in 2023 with a doctoral degree in food science

and engineering.

CHEN Zhigao (FRE &), aged 48, is the deputy general manager and
chief financial officer of our Company. He is responsible for financial and
accounting affairs of our Group. He rejoined our Group as the chief financial
officer of the Company since December 2019 and a deputy general manager
of the Company since May 2024. He is responsible for overseeing the

financial and accounting affairs of our Group.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen served as a partner of Xiamen Hongshi
United Investment Management Partnership LP (BEFBABSIREE R
AEBLEBRAE)) from May 2016 to March 2018. He then served as the
financial director of Talent Clothing Co., Ltd. (4 FAREFAZD ABR A F]) from
January 2019 to November 2019. From November 2008 to April 2016, he
successively served as the financial manager, deputy financial director and
financial director of Joeone Co., Ltd. (VR ERMDBR AR
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601566). He served as

(@ company

a senior manager of Solomon Management Consulting (Xiamen) Company
(FTZEPIE B (EPT)AR]) from February 2003 to February 2007. He also
served as a project manager of Xiamen Tianjian Huatian Certified Public
Accountants Co,, Ltd. (BEPIREEXREETAIEHFTBRAF) from July 1999
to May 2002.

Mr. Chen graduated from Xiamen University (EFIAEE) in July 1999 with a

bachelor's degree in accounting.

XIONG Ting (B&%), aged 44, is the board secretary of our Company since
December 2020 and was appointed as a joint company secretary since
the Listing Date. She is responsible for information disclosure and investor
relations management. She joined our Group in July 2020 and served as
the head of the securities department of the Company from July 2020 to
December 2020. Prior to joining our Group, she served as the deputy director
of the business finance department at Joeone Co., Ltd. (L ER DB R A
Al) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 601566).
She also served as the financial manager of Xiamen Topstar Lighting Co., Ltd.
(EPYm T ERBAAR A E]) from August 2000 to August 2011.

Xiong Ting graduated from Xiamen University (EFIAE) in July 2000 with a

bachelor’ degree in accounting.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

XIONG Ting (B&#), is the board secretary of our Company and has been
appointed as one of our joint company secretaries since the Listing Date.
For biographical details of Ms. Xiong, see “Directors, Supervisors and Senior

Management — Senior Management” for more details.

LEUNG Kwan Wai (REZ), has been appointed as one of the joint company
secretaries of our Company since the Listing Date. Ms. Leung is a senior

manager of company secretarial services of Tricor Services Limited.

Ms. Leung obtained her master’s degree of Corporate Governance from the
Hong Kong Metropolitan University (BYSEB& K22) (formerly known as The
Open University of Hong Kong (&R AEZ)). Ms. Leung is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an associate of both
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered

Governance Institute (CGl).
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ Report together with the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31,2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The predecessor of our Company was established as a limited liability
company in the PRC on October 31, 2014 and named as Xiamen Yan Palace
Biological Engineering Development Co., Lid. (EFIZ EEVM T RERE
FR A 7]). The Company was converted from a limited liability company into
a joint stock limited liability company in accordance with applicable PRC
laws and regulations under the name of Xiamen Yan Palace Bioengineering
Co., Ltd. (EFIFZEEMIERMHAERDF) on December 23, 2020.
In November 2023, we were renamed as Xiamen Yan Palace Bird's Nest
Industry Co., Ltd. (EFIfz ERBEERMNBRAA)
leading brand in China’s EBN product market, dedicated to the development,

. The Company is a

production and marketing of high-quality modern EBN products. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on December
12,2023 with stock code 1497.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group's revenue and operating profit for the year ended December 31,
2024 by principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”in this annual report and Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the

Company's principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS AND FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period is provided
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Business
Overview” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group's performance
during the Reporting Period is provided in the section headed “Management

Discussion and Analysis — Financial Review" of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the

consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The future development in the Company’s business is provided in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Overview”

and “Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE
GROUP

We are subject to market risks brought by, among others, uncertainties of
the economic outlook, evolving regulations and policies. Please refer to the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” for more

information.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Reporting Period,

(i) the Group's largest supplier accounted for 23.9% (2023: 18.3%) of its
total purchases, and the five largest suppliers accounted for 73.0% of its
total purchases (2023: 54.2%); and

(i) the Group's largest customer accounted for 11.9% (2023: 10.7%) of its
total sales, and the five largest customers accounted for 15.9% of its total
sales (2023: 15.5%)).

To the best of the knowledge of our Directors, none of the Group's Directors,
Supervisors, their respective close associates or any Shareholder who owns
more than 5% of our issued share capital had any interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers for the year ended December
31, 2024.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH ITS EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For details of relationship with the employees, customers and suppliers,

nou

please refer to “Major Customers and Suppliers’, “Employee, Training and
Remuneration Policy” and the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”

in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

On December 20, 2024, the Company completed the conversion of
136,580,700 Unlisted Shares into H Shares (the “Completion of the
Conversion and Listing"). Immediately before Completion of the Conversion
and Listing, the total issued share capital of the Company comprised
136,580,700 Unlisted Shares and 328,919,300 H Shares. Upon Completion of
the Conversion and Listing, the total issued share capital of the Company
comprised 465,500,000 H Shares.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial

statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debentures during the Reporting Period.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to its Shareholders as
of December 31, 2024 amounted to RMB216.9 million. Movement in the
Company's reserves for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of change in equity of the Group included in this

annual report.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had no outstanding balance of

borrowings or unutilized banking facilities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company

during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period and up to

the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin

Mr. LI Youguan

Ms. HUANG Danyan

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Zhen
Mr. WANG Yalong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIAO Wei
Mr. CHEN Aihua
Mr. LAM Yiu Por

Supervisors

Mr. ZHENG Feng
Ms. WEI Wei
Ms. ZHANG Ning

Senior Management

Mr. LI Youquan

Ms. HUANG Danyan
Ms. WENG Huizhen
Mr. LI Liangjie

Mr. FAN Qunyan
Mr. CHEN Zhigao
Ms. XIONG Ting

Biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and senior management are set

out in "Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the

changes of Directors’ and Supervisors’' information of the Company are as

follows:

(a

Mr. XIAO Wei (Independent Non-executive Director) ceased to be an
independent director of Fujian Longjing Environmental Protection Co.,
Ltd. (REEFRRKRNBR AR
Exchange, stock code: 600388) with effect from February 20, 2024.

(a company listed on Shanghai Stock

Mr. CHEN Aihua (Independent Non-executive Director) resigned as an
independent director of Beijing Dataway Horizon Co., Ltd. Jt RZ 2 H
HEHBRE RO BRAR])

Exchange, stock code: 301169) with effect from May 23, 2024.

(@ company listed on the Shenzhen Stock

Ms. WEI Wei (Supervisor) ceased to serve as director of supply chain
center at Xiamen Yan Palace Si Nong Food Co,, Ltd. (BP9 2 B #42
R mABRAF]) and appointed as director of supply chain center at Yan
Palace Silon Biotechnology both with effect from February 1, 2024.

Mr. LAM Yiu Por (Independent Non-executive Director) was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Herbs Generation Group
Holdings Limited (BB &EEIFERAR QD
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2593) on December 19, 2024 and an

(a company listed on

independent non-executive director of BrainAurora Medical Technology
Bt EREMERAERA
Exchange, stock code: 6681) on January 8, 2025.

Limited ( (@ company listed on the Stock

Save as disclosed above, from January 1, 2024 to the date of this annual

report, there was no changes to information which are required to be

disclosed by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule

13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of our Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service contract with
our Company. The service contracts may be renewed in accordance with their

respective terms, the Articles and the applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has or is
proposed to enter into a service contract with any member of our Group,
other than contracts expiring or determinable by the relevant employer
within one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Competition” in the Prospectus, none of the Directors were
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete with the

businesses of the Group during the Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group included in this annual report, none of the Directors or their respective
connected entities (as defined in the Listing Rules) had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group subsisting during or at the end of

the Reporting Period to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a

party.

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the section headed
“Report of the Directors — Continuing Connected Transactions” of this annual
report, the Group has not entered into any contract of significance with
the controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective

subsidiaries.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, the following transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A31 of
the Listing Rules and are required to be disclosed in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed
that for the related party transactions falling under the definition of
‘connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the
case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, it had complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
We set out below the information required to be disclosed in compliance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework
Agreement

On November 20, 2023, our Company and Tianjin Union Yutai Trading Co.,
Ltd. (KEMABHREHEAFR AT (‘Union Yutai’) entered into an EBN
products purchase and sales framework agreement (the “Union Yutai EBN
Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement’), pursuant to
which, we agree to grant Union Yutai and its associates exclusive right to
sell our EBN products and related services in Tianjin City, the PRC, and Union
Yutai agrees to purchase and procure its associates to purchase from us
and sell to third parties EBN product and related services in Tianjin City, the
PRC. Each party also agrees that they may enter into separate underlying
agreements pursuant to such framework agreement to set out details of
specific transactions thereunder. The terms of transactions with Union Yutai
are based on the standard terms and conditions of our distributors, which is
in line with those we provide to a similar independent distributor, including
pricing, credit terms, sales rebate and return policies. See “Business — Our
Sales Network — Major Terms of Distribution Agreements” in the Prospectus
for more information on terms of distributorship. The term of the Union
Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement commenced
on the date of such agreement and will terminate on December 31, 2025 or
through mutual negotiation between both parties. Please refer to “Connected

Transactions” section in the Prospectus for details.
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As of December 31, 2024, Union Yutai was held as to 38.5 % by Mr. Zheng,
50.0% by Fu Hongbo (f&45%), 6.5% by Zheng Wei (EB{&) and 5.0% by Ni Jun
(72 8&). Mr. Zheng is our vice chairman, executive Director and Controlling
Shareholder, and Zheng Wei is the niece of Mr. Zheng. Therefore, Union Yutai
is an associate of Mr. Zheng and our connected person. Fu Hongbo and Ni
Jun are Independent Third Parties. Accordingly, Union Yutai is a connected
person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules and the
transactions with Union Yutai constitute continuing connected transactions

of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

We determine the sales price charged by us from Union Yutai and sales
rebate enjoyed by Union Yutai for purchases and sales of our product based
on the same general guide on sales price and rebate policies of such goods
as provided by us to all the distributors (including independent distributors).
The rebates policy is determined on an arm'’s length basis with reference to
the sales volume and historical performance in accordance with the rebate
policies to all distributors (including independent distributors). Specific price
and payment will be made according to the respective product purchase and
sales contracts as further entered into between Union Yutai and us under the
Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement, which
shall generally be in line with the term and conditions we provide to a similar
independent distributor. See “Business — Our Sales Network — Major Terms of

Distribution Agreements”in the Prospectus for more information.

Our Directors estimated that the total sales to be generated from Union
Yutai's purchases of the Company’'s product would not exceed RMB23.4
million, RMB26.9 million and RMB31.0 million for the year ending December
31,2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Our Directors estimate that the total fees to be paid by Union Yutai to the
Company under the Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework
Agreement will not exceed RMB26.9 million during the year ended December
31, 2024. The actual transaction amount incurred in accordance with the
Union Yutai EBN Products Purchase and Sales Framework Agreement for the
year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB18.3 million.
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Purchase of Advertising Services — Zhongshi Hongyun
Advertisement Service Framework Agreement

On November 20, 2023, the Company and Beijing Zhongshi Hongyun
Advertising Co., Ltd. Gt RAARIBEESHBR A F]) ("Zhongshi Hongyun”)
entered into an advertisement service framework agreement (the “Zhongshi
Hongyun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement”), pursuant
to which, Zhongshi Hongyun agrees that it and its associates (collectively,
“Zhongshi Hongyun Entities”) will provide advertising services to us,
including placing advertisements of our products and brands on relevant
television and media platform. The term of the Zhongshi Hongyun
Advertisement Service Framework Agreement commenced on the date
of such agreement and would end on December 31, 2025. The Zhongshi
Hongyun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement shall terminate
upon the end of term on December 31, 2025, which can be renewed
through mutual agreement between both parties. Please refer to “Connected

Transactions” section in the Prospectus for details.

Mr. LIU Zhen (“Mr. Liu") is our non-executive Director and the controller of
one of our substantial Shareholders. As of December 31, 2024, Zhongshi
Hongyun was wholly-owned by ZHANG Yongfu, an Individual Third Party.
To the best knowledge of the Company having made reasonable enquiries,
such shareholder was a business partner of Mr. Liu who was ultimately taking
instructions from Mr. Liu and thus Zhongshi Hongyun was controlled by Mr.
Liu. Therefore, Zhongshi Hongyun was our connected persons under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules and the transactions with Zhongshi Hongyun
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Before entering into any advertising services agreement pursuant to the
Zhongshi Hongyun Advertisement Service Framework Agreement, we assess
our business needs and compare the advertising services fees proposed
by the Zhongshi Hongyun Entities with fees offered by at least two other
comparable independent service providers. The service fee is agreed by the
parties through arm'’s length negotiations based on the markets rates and
quality of services. We only enter into an advertising services agreement
with the Zhongshi Hongyun Entities if the terms and conditions are fair and
reasonable and based on normal or better terms than those offered by other

independent third party service providers.
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Our Directors estimated that the total fees to be paid by our Group to
Zhongshi Hongyun for purchasing advertising services would not exceed
RMB32.6 million, RMB43.9 million and RMB52.7 million for the year ending
December 31, 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Our Directors estimate that the total fees to be paid by the Company to
Zhongshi Hongyun under the Zhongshi Hongyun Advertisement Service
Framework Agreement will not exceed RMB43.9 million during the year
ended December 31, 2024. The actual transaction amount incurred in
accordance with the Zhongshi Hongyun Advertisement Service Framework

Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB33.7 million.

Confirmations from independent non-executive Directors and
the auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions mentioned above pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of
the Listing Rules and confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected

transactions:

(i) were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the

Group;

(i) were on normal commercial terms or better to the Group; and

(iii) were in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Shareholders as a whole.
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The auditor of the Company has been engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions of the Company in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their conclusions in
respect of the aforesaid continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. In respect of the aforesaid continuing

connected transactions, the auditor of the Company has confirmed that:

() nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved

by the Company’s Board of Directors;

(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not, in all

material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not entered into,
in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements

governing such transactions; and

(iv) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected

transaction have exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company.
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Internal control measures

The Company has adopted the following internal control and corporate

governance measures to closely monitor connected transactions and ensure

future compliance with the Listing Rules:

m

54

the Company has adopted and implemented a management system on
connected transactions and the Board and various internal departments
of the Company are responsible for the control and daily management
in respect of the continuing connected transactions. The Company
has also engaged external independent internal control consultant
to enhance our internal control system, including, among others, the

system for monitoring connected transactions;

the Board and various internal departments of the Company are jointly
responsible for evaluating the terms of the continuing connected
transactions, in particular, the fairness of the pricing policies and annual

caps (if applicable) under each transaction;

the Board and the finance department of the Company are regularly
monitoring the connected transactions and the management of
the Company will regularly review the pricing policies to ensure the
connected transactions to be performed in accordance with the relevant

agreements;

the Company has engaged external independent auditor which will,
and the independent non-executive Directors also will, conduct annual
review on the connected transactions to ensure that the transactions
contemplated thereunder have been conducted pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules and have fulfilled the relevant

disclosure requirements; and

the Company will continue to comply with the relevant requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the continuing connected
transactions, and comply with the conditions prescribed under the
wavier submitted to the Stock Exchange in connection with the

continuing connected transactions in this regard.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals

are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors or Supervisors waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of
the Directors, Supervisors or other individuals as an inducement to join, or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

EMPLOYEE, TRAINING AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of December 31, 2024, we had 1,869 employees. The staff costs including
Directors” and Supervisors’ emoluments and share-based payment expenses

were approximately RMB292.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2024.

Our employees’ compensation includes basic salary, performance-based cash
bonuses and other incentives. We determine our employees’ compensation

based on each employee’s performance, qualifications, position and seniority.

In order to improve the Company’s incentive mechanism, retain key
employees and promote the sustainable development of the Company’s
business, the Board proposed the H Share Incentive Scheme to the
Shareholders’ general meeting for consideration to incentivize the
management personnel and core technical employees who play important
roles in the Company's operating results and future development. The H
Share Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted by the Company on
March 25, 2024. For the details of the H Share Incentive Scheme and related
information, please refer to “Report of the Directors — H Share Incentive

Scheme” in this annual report.
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We recognize the importance of keeping the Directors updated with the
latest information of duties and obligations of a director of a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and the general regulatory
and environmental requirements for such listed company. To meet this goal,
we are committed to the continuing education and development of the

Directors.

The Directors, Supervisors and senior management receive remuneration
from the Company in the form of fees, salaries, contributions to pension
schemes, discretionary bonuses, allowances and other benefits in kind.
The Board has established the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee to
review and recommend the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company, and the
Board, with the advice from the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, will
review and determine the remuneration and compensation packages taking
into account salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management and

performance of the Group.

As required under the labor laws of PRC, we enter into individual
employment contracts with our employees covering matters such as wages,
bonuses, employee benefits, workplace safety, confidentiality obligations,
non-competition and grounds for termination. In compliance with PRC
regulations, we participate in various employee social security plans that
are organized by applicable local municipal and provincial governments,
including housing, pension, medical, work-related injury and unemployment

benefit plans.

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our employees
and we had not experienced any material labor disputes or any difficulty in

recruiting staff for our operations during the year ended December 31, 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We are subject to various PRC environmental laws and regulations, the
implementation of which involves regular inspections by local environmental
protection authorities. See “Regulatory Overview — Laws and Regulations
Relating to Environmental Protection” in the Prospectus. We have adopted
environmental protection measures to ensure compliance with applicable
PRC environmental laws and regulations. Our wastewater discharge
procedures comply with national standards, and we treat solid waste and

liquid waste in cooperation with qualified third parties.
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We work closely with our suppliers in Southeast Asia to ensure that we only
use harvested bird’s nests abandoned by swiftlets. The artificial birdhouses
protect swiftlets from enemies and predators and create a safe breeding
environment for them, thereby promoting the healthy growth of the
swiftlet population and enabling a sustainable and environmentally friendly
manufacturing process. In addition, we continuously invest in the application
of green technology to our manufacturing processes to reduce energy
consumption and emissions. We believe that it is our responsibility to protect
the environment and promote sustainable practices in the industry, and we

are committed to doing our part to achieve this goal.

We also adhere to the principles of waste and pollutant emission reduction,
energy saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in the way
we operate. During the Reporting Period, all of our production bases met the
national compulsory standards for wastewater and exhaust gas emission.

During the Reporting Period, we have been in compliance with the currently
applicable PRC laws and regulations with respect to environmental matters in
all material respects, and not subject to any material administrative penalties
for violations of applicable PRC environmental laws or regulations which
would have a material adverse effect on our business. We will continuously
communicate with the relevant regulatory authorities regarding the evolving
ESG-related regulatory requirements to keep abreast of the last developments

and ensure our ongoing compliance.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company prepared
in accordance with Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules is set out in the section

headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF OUR COMPANY IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF OUR
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the

interests and short positions of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executive

of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the

Company or any of our associated corporations (within the meaning of

Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO

(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to

have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the

SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
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follows: T
Approximate
percentage
Number of in our total
Name Capacity/Nature of interest H Shares™ share capital
h IR A48 58
HE 54, ERME HER IR BE™ EEE NN R e
Mr. Huang® Beneficial owner 4,335,000 (L) 0.93%
mEAEY EmfEA
Interest held jointly with another person® 75,147,185 (L) 16.14%
HE—ZATHERERG#ERE
Interest in controlled corporation® 91,785,560 (L) 19.72%
R EEERY
Interest in controlled corporation® 8,208,320 (L) 1.76%

NN EB AR
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Approximate

percentage
Number of in our total
Name Capacity/Nature of interest H Shares™ share capital
hIRA< 4R
"L B EBME HERRDEED WA E D
Mr. Zheng Beneficial owner 33,273,040 (L) 7.15%
Bk AE EmfEEA
Interest held jointly with another person®? 137,578,025 (L) 29.55%
HE—AATHEERER
Interest of spouse® 8,625,000 (L) 1.85%
RET S
Mr. Li Beneficial owner 33,249,145 (L) 7.14%
FRE EmBEEA
Interest held jointly with another person®? 146,226,920 (L) 31.41%
HE—AATHEEEER
LIU Zhen Beneficial owner 12,020,475 (L) 2.58%
2IZ EmEAA
Interest in controlled corporation® 60,000,000 (L) 12.89%

REE B0
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Approximate

percentage

Number of in our total

Name Capacity/Nature of interest H Shares™ share capital

ERAAE

"L 56, ERE HERRDEED WA E D

WANG Yalong Interest in controlled corporation?” 38,857,460 (L) 8.35%
T REEE RS

m

60

"

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares and the letter “S
denotes the person’s short position in the Shares.

(i) Mr. Huang, our founder, chairman and executive Director; (i) Xiamen Suntama,
an entity controlled by Mr. Huang; (iii) Mr. Zheng, our vice chairman and executive
Director; and (iv) Mr. Li, our general manager and executive Director, are acting in
concert (Mr. Huang, Mr. Zheng, Mr. Li and Xiamen Suntama, together the “Concert
Parties”). See “History, Development and Corporate Structure — Concert Party
Arrangement” in the Prospectus for more information. The equity interest held
by Jinyan Tengfei LP (the employee incentive share platform controlled by Mr.
Huang, who is the general partner of such limited partnership) and by Ms. Xue (the
spouse of Mr. Zheng), are also deemed to be controlled by the Concert Parties
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Xiamen Suntama is controlled by Mr. Huang as of December 31, 2024. Mr. Huang
is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Xiamen Suntama under
the SFO.

As of the December 31, 2024, Mr. Huang was the sole general partner of Jinyan
Tengfei LP. Mr. Huang is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Jinyan
Tengfei LP is interested in.

Ms. Xue is the spouse of Mr. Zheng. Accordingly, Mr. Zheng is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares of Ms. Xue is interested in for the
purpose of the SFO.
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Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Investment Co., Ltd. is the sole general partner of
Guangyao Tianxiang and is therefore deemed to be interest in the Shares held
by Guangyao Tianxiang LP under the SFO. LIU Zhen held approximately 80% of
the limited partnership interests of Guangyao Tianxiang LP and controls Xiamen
Guangyao Tianxiang Investment. Co., Ltd. as of the Latest Practicable Date. LIU
Zhen is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Guangyao
Tianxiang LP under the SFO.

WANG Yalong held approximately 45% of Beijing Yanshi Investment Management
Center Limited Partnership (At RIGAILEEE R L(BRAEE)) as of December
31, 2024, which is the general partner of Hongyan Investment LP. WANG Yalong is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Hongyan Investment LP
under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of the Directors,

Supervisors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have

any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures

of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of

Part XV of the SFO) which would be required to be notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO

(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to

have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or which would be required to

be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section

352 of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to

be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of December 31, 2024, to the best of knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons, other than Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FRRRRIRAD K AR R4+ g

mRIRR

HE-_T-_NWEF+=_RA=+—H BEHM
M- BARBES BESHHZRITHRAEN
THATRRMDSEERO P HEERBEES R
HE GBI EXVERE 2R3N EBAMARBIFEL
BRERARRIREE S REEGIF 336158
BENEEMARNESRIAR

Approximate

percentage
Number of in our total
Name Capacity/Nature of interest H Shares!" share capital
HIRA<
HE B EBUE HERRDEED MR B DL
Xiamen Suntama Beneficial interest 91,785,560 (L) 19.72%
EFIERS EnfEn
Interest held jointly with 87,690,505 (L) 18.84%
another person®
05 —8 AL A
AR
Ms. Xue Beneficial owner 8,625,000 (L) 1.85%
gt EmfEA A
Interest of spouse® 170,851,065 (L) 36.70%
flBHER
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Approximate

percentage
Number of in our total
Name Capacity/Nature of interest H Shares' share capital
hIRA< 4R
HE B ERUE HER R EED WA E D
Guangyao Tianxiang LP Beneficial interest 60,000,000 (L) 12.89%
HRRERRER HatkEm
Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Investment Co,, Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation® 60,000,000 (L) 12.89%
EFIKRBREREFRAA REFEBE R
Xiamen Jinyanlai LP Beneficial interest 41,666,670 (L) 8.95%
EFSHRBERER Bamtkn
WANG Junjie Interest in a controlled corporation® 41,666,670 (L) 8.95%
T REEEE RS
Hongyan Investment LP Beneficial interest 38,857,460 (L) 8.35%
AR EBRER BamEn
Beijing Yanshi Investment Management Center LLP Interest in a controlled corporation® 38,857,460 (L) 8.35%
TFBARREEETL (ARAE) REEEEN RO
YANG Lei Interest in a controlled corporation® 38,857,460 (L) 8.35%

%%

REE B0
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Approximate

percentage

Number of in our total

Name Capacity/Nature of interest H Shares' share capital

EIR A4 5E

HE B ERUE HER R EED WA E D

Shannan Yanshi Venture Investment Co., Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation® 38,857,460 (L) 8.35%
E A EIRIREBR AR MNEEEE SR

WANG Jinghui Interest in a controlled corporation® 38,857,460 (L) 8.35%
RE REPEBE RO

HU Qiaohong Beneficial owner 32,978,655 (L) 7.08%

HAT94L BHEAA
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(1)-(2) See “Report of the Directors — Interests and Short Positions of the Directors,

Supervisors and the Chief Executive of Our Company in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of Our Company and Its Associated Corporations”in this
annual report for more information.

Ms. Xue is the spouse of Mr. Zheng. Accordingly, they are deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares of each other for the purpose of the
SFO.

Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Investment Co., Ltd. is the sole general partner of
Guangyao Tianxiang LP and is therefore deemed to be interest in the Shares
held by Guangyao Tianxiang under the SFO.

The general partner of Xiamen Jinyanlai LP is Wang Junjie, who is therefore
deemed to be interest in the Shares held by Xiamen Jinyanlai LP under the SFO.

Beijing Yanshi Investment Management Center LLP is the sole general partner
of Hongyan Investment. The general partner of Beijing Yanshi Investment
Management Center LLP is YANG Lei and the limited partner of Beijing Yanshi
Investment Management Center LLP holds more than one-third of its limited
partnership interest is Shannan Yanshi Venture Investment Co., Ltd. (a company
owned as to 51% by WANG Jinghui and 45% by WANG Yalong). As such, each of
Beijing Yanshi Investment Management Center LLP, YANG Lei, Shannan Yanshi
Venture Investment Co., Ltd.,, WANG Jinghui and WANG Yalong is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Hongyan Investment under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this annual report, the Directors,

Supervisors and the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any

other person (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the

Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying

Shares which would be required to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the

SFO or which would be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by

the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

(-2
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report during and at the end of the year
ended December 31, 2024, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
was a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors or any of
their respective spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Pursuant to the rules of the H Share Incentive Scheme adopted by
the Company on March 25, 2024, the trustee of the H Share Incentive
Scheme purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 9,294,400 H shares
at a total consideration of HK$103,028,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB94,073,000) during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiary had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities (including
the sale of Treasury Shares (as defined under the Listing Rules), if any) during
the Reporting Period. As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold

any Treasury Shares.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial

statements.

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Employee Incentive Scheme was adopted by the Company on December
26, 2020. The terms of the Employee Incentive Scheme are not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Summary of major terms of the

Employee Incentive Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes

The purpose of the Employee Incentive Scheme is to attract and retain
talents for our Group. The Employee Incentive Scheme fosters shared
interests between shareholders of our Company and our management
team, thereby furthering our Company’s focus on long-term

development.

66 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

ESWERONESHNER

BRAFEREFRENARI BHE-FT @
FTA=t—"RLFEHRHEIRFE  A27
FEEMFRAPRSETAFETHEERS
M BB SR 18 BAR M F XL B BB AL
B SAE AT EL At )R A B B8 WO AR £ X & 55 SR E ER A
AV ©

BE - HEIWEAQF LHES

BEARRRZZE_MNF=A=+HBEMHHH
MBS HIREBEA EIREARBE=S =
WE+ZA=+—RLFE AR 103,028,000
7570 (FRE R K AREE94,073,0007T ) B FTHE
B4 $£9,294,400 R HAR °

B EXFIETREIN MEHAN - AREISHEE
MFARBEES - HERBERARAEM L
TMEH(PELHEEFRS (EXE LWL
(E)) BEZZ-MNF+-A=+—H K
REWEFEEFRD -

REHAAN - ARBRAEBHBERFRGEAUH
WRMIE26

EERE
RKRABR—_E-_ZEF+ A+ BEMEE
HEETE - EERBEMNERTZBRRA LT
BAE+LEERTE - EEREENEEBER
BT -

il
oy
(ot

(i) BEY

BEHBAENENER/ETEERS Nk
BAT - BEHBE G ETEAR R RIR A
ERERZEONRLE  KWE— P
PARBHERRERNEDT -



(ii) Eligible participants

Eligible participants must be formal employee of the Company and
shall be core management personnel and technical backbones who
work in key positions of the Company or its subsidiaries with a direct
or relatively material impact on the company’s operating performance
and sustainable development. Eligible participants need to meet the
following criteria (1) senior management; (2) department managers with
one year working experience; or (3) department deputy managers with

10 years working experience.

(iii) Scheme administration

A management committee has been authorized to act as the scheme
administrator to manage the scheme and the related shareholding
platform, including but not limited to, formulating and amending
detailed implementation documents for the scheme, managing the
daily operation of the scheme and related shares, approving the exit
and share transfer, determining and explaining terms of the scheme
and related matters thereunder and other work as otherwise authorized
by the Company. The management committee shall consist of eight
members including one team leader who is the chairman of the
Company, three deputy team leaders who are the Company's vice
chairman, general manager, and chairman of the board of Supervisors,
and four team members who are the Company’s chief financial officer,
board secretary, human resources director and manager of the legal

department.

(iv) Maximum number of Shares

A total number of 8,208,320 Shares underlying the Employee Incentive
Scheme were issued to Jinyan Tengfei LP for the purpose of the
Employee Incentive Scheme, representing approximately 1.76% of the
total issued share capital of the Company. As of December 31, 2024, all
Shares subject to the Employee Incentive Scheme have been granted to

and subscribed by 43 Participants.
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(v) Rights and Restrictions Attached to the Restricted Shares

68

The Company shall establish a limited partnership entity as an
employee shareholding platform to hold and manage the Shares under
the scheme. The general partner of such entity shall be the person
representing and responsible for the management of such entity,
including exercising the voting rights attached to the Shares held by
Jinyan Tengfei LP, and the limited partners shall not participate in the
management. Accordingly, the Company established Jinyan Tengfei LP
as the employee shareholding platform, the general partner of which
is Mr. Huang and the limited partners of which are grantees under the

scheme.

All the grantees shall be entitled to all the economic interests relating
to their respective limited partnership interests in Jinyan Tengfei LP
that were subscribed for, except that the limited partnership interests
in Jinyan Tengfei LP that were subscribed for shall be subject to certain
transfer and disposal restrictions, including: (i) the completion of a
qualified listing; (ii) the expiry of the lock-up period as required by the
CSRC (where applicable); and (iii) 36 months commencing from the
date of implementation of the scheme. In addition, each grantee who is
Director, Supervisor or senior management of the Company shall retain
at least 10% of the total Shares subscribed by him/her under the scheme
during his/her term of employment, to avoid short selling and control
the risk.

In the event that the relevant grantees conduct material malfeasance,
violate the lock-up requirements, take action materially adversely affect
the Group or conduct competitive business without the approval of
the Company, such limited partnership interests in Jinyan Tengfei LP
that were subscribed for shall be unconditionally sold to other limited
partners or third parties designated by the scheme administrator at the
price calculated based on the following calculation methods, whichever
is lower and deducting the taxes and administrative expenses accrued
per share: (a) the actual subscription price paid by such grantee; or (b)

the most recent and valid fair value assessed.

In the other events, the sales price shall be determined with reference
to the principal above and such shall not be higher than the price
calculated based on the following calculation methods, whichever is
higher and deducting the taxes and administrative expenses accrued
per share: (a) the actual subscription price paid by such grantee plus
interests of commercial banks in the same period; or (b) the most recent

and valid fair value assessed or the market trading price.
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(vi) Details of the Awards granted

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(vi)

Below is the list of the grantees under the Employee Incentive Scheme

that are entitled to the limited partnership interests in Jinyan Tengfei LP

that were subscribed for as of December 31, 2024:

EEWE

RHERBFHRE

BHE_Z_WNF+_A=+—H ZEHM
RENTHERERABNERAEER
ERHEE B EE T EBEREEN
T

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding as

Number of December 31,
Name Role Date of grant of Shares 2024
BE-Z2-NF
+=—A=+—H
HE RASEBRENRA BFHH ROBEY REMIBDEL
Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Other Connected Persons
EF EE BREEEREMBEZEAL
Weng Huizhen Deputy general manager December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
HEH Blgaicre —E-FF+ZA=+"H
Chen Zhigao Chief financial officer December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
BRES HREVBE e S S s VA=
Huang Danyan Executive Director and December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
deputy general manager
Epan i BITEEREIAKE —EoBFE+HZ+RH
Li Liangjie Deputy general manager December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
FRA Bliasgie —ZT-EF+-HAZ+RA
Fan Qunyan Deputy general manager December 26, 2020 425,191 0.09%
Pexicd i BliaigiE —E_TFE+ZAZ+RH
Wei Wei Supervisor December 26, 2020 299,604 0.06%
B B= e S S ks (VA &
Zhang Ning Supervisor December 26, 2020 174,837 0.04%
RE = —E-EF+ZHZ+RE
Xiong Ting Board secretary and joint December 26, 2020 174,837 0.04%
company secretary
RRIZ EESUWERBFELARIWE —E-TEFE+ZAZ+KH
Mr. Huang Executive Director and chairman  December 26, 2020 3,283 0.001%
of the Board of Directors
|mEE HITEFEREER —E-TFE+ZAZ+RH
Subtotal 2,778,516 0.60%
Nt
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I
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding as

Number of December 31,

Name Role Date of grant of Shares™ 2024
BE-2-NF
+=ZA=+—H

HE RAEEBRENRA BFHH ROBED REMIBDEL

Other grantees

B89 IESES

34 grantees Employees December 26, 2020 5,429,804 1.17%
UEHBER  (EE —ETFE+ZAZ+RH
Notes: Hist

(1) For illustrating the indirect interests of grantees in our Company, the number of
Shares are presented and calculated by multiplying their respective percentage
of limited partnership interests in Jinyan Tengfei LP (in two decimal places) by the
total number of Shares held by Jinyan Tengfei LP.

All the limited partnership interests in Jinyan Tengfei LP granted under the
Employee Incentive Scheme are subject to certain transfer and disposal
restrictions set out above. No grant of limited partnership interests in Jinyan
Tengfei LP under the Employee Incentive Scheme has caused any dilution of

the shareholding of our Shareholders after the Listing.

H SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The H Share Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted by the Company
on March 25, 2024. The terms of the H Share Incentive Scheme are subject to
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Summary of major terms of

the H Share Incentive Scheme are as follows:
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(i)

(ii)

Purposes of H Share Incentive Scheme

The purposes of the H Share Incentive Scheme include (a) promoting the
achievement of long-term sustainable development and performance
goals of the Company, (b) closely aligning the interests of the grantees
with those of the Shareholders, investors and the Company to enhance
the cohesion of the Company and to facilitate the maximization of
the value of the Company, and (c) improving the Company’s incentive
mechanism to attract, motivate and retain Directors, supervisors, senior
management, core employees and service providers who have made
outstanding contributions to the sustainable operation, development

and long-term growth of the Company.

Participants of H Share Incentive Scheme

Eligible participants who may participate in the H Share Incentive
Scheme include: (a) any Director (excluding independent non-executive
Director), Supervisor, senior management or employee of the Group;

and (b) any service provider as the Board deem:s fit.

A person shall not be considered as an eligible participant if, at the Grant
Date, he/she: (a) is an independent non-executive Director; (b) has been
publicly censured or declared as an ineligible candidate by securities
regulatory institutions in the last 12 months; (c) has been imposed
with administrative penalties by securities regulatory institutions in the
last 12 months due to material non-compliance of laws or regulations;
(d) is prohibited from acting as a Director, Supervisor or a member
of the senior management of the Company as required by the PRC
Company Law or the Listing Rules; (e) is prohibited from participating
in the H Share Incentive Scheme as required by laws and regulations;
(f) has committed other material violation of relevant requirements of
the Group or caused material damage to the interest of the Group as
determined by the Board; or (g) any other circumstances prescribed by
the Board for the purpose of safeguarding the Group's interests and
ensuring the Group's compliance with applicable laws and regulations

relating to the operation of the H Share Incentive Scheme.

(iii) Scheme Limit

In any event, the maximum number of Target Shares corresponding
to the Trust Units which may be granted under the H Share Incentive
Scheme shall not exceed 5% of the Company’s total Shares in issue as
at the adoption of the H Share Incentive Scheme (the “Scheme Limit"),
which was 23,275,000 H Shares.

(i)
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(iv) Limit for each participant

(v)

None of the grantees shall be granted with an aggregate of more than
1% of the Company’s total Shares in issue in any 12-month period up to

and including the Grant Date.

Grant of Trust Units

Subject to the terms and conditions of the H Share Incentive Scheme,
the Board and/or the Delegatee(s) may at their absolute discretion and
on such terms and conditions as the Board and/or the Delegatee(s)
thinks fit, grant the Trust Units to any eligible participant at the Grant
Price, which shall be determined by the Board and/or the Delegatee(s).
The consideration shall be paid by the relevant grantee when the Trust

Units are vested.

After the Board and/or the Delegatee(s) has decided to make a grant
of Trust Units to any grantee, the Company shall issue an Award Letter
to such grantee, which should set out details of the grant, including
but not limited to the name of the grantee, the Trust Units granted,
the vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting date, Grant Price and
other terms and conditions to be determined by the Board and/or
the Delegatee(s) that are not inconsistent with the H Share Incentive
Scheme. The grantee shall confirm in writing his acceptance of such

grant.

(vi) Vesting of the Trust Units

72

Subject to all applicable laws, rules or regulations, the Board and/or
the Delegatee(s) will determine the vesting criteria and conditions and
the vesting periods for the Trust Units to be granted to each grantee
pursuant to the H Share Incentive Scheme. The details of the vesting
conditions and terms shall be determined by the Board and/or the
Delegatee(s) from time to time with reference to, among others, the
business performance and financial position of the Company and the

prevailing market conditions and shall be set out in the Award Letter.

Within a reasonable time after the vesting conditions and schedule
have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived and before the date of
vesting, the Board or its Delegatee(s) shall send the vesting notice to
each of the relevant grantees. The vesting notice will confirm, among
others, the extent to which the vesting conditions and schedule have
been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the number of Trust

Units and Target Shares to be vested for that relevant vesting period.
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If a grantee satisfies the vesting conditions applicable to the grant of
such Trust Units and accepts the vesting of relevant Trust Units, such
grantee shall confirm in writing for his acceptance and fully pay the
relevant Grant Price either in cash or by deduction of such number of

Shares equivalent to the Grant Price, to vest the relevant Trust Units.

After the relevant Trust Units are duly vested in accordance with the
aforementioned procedures, subject to compliance with the relevant
laws, regulations, rules and regulatory documents of the places
where the Company is established and listed, as well as the articles
of association of the Company, the Trustee shall allocate and dispose
the Target Shares which corresponds to the Trust Units vested in the
grantees in accordance with the instruction of the grantees pursuant to

the H Share Incentive Scheme.

(vii) Grant Price

The grant price of each Target Share underlying the Trust Unit shall be
determined by the Board and/or the Delegatee(s).

(ix) Remaining life of the H Share Incentive Scheme and

outstanding Trust Units

The H Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of

ten years commencing on March 25, 2024.

For further information of the H Share Incentive Scheme and related
information, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated

January 12, 2024 and the circular of the Company dated March 7, 2024.

In December 2024, 70 Eligible Participants were granted with Trust Units
representing a total of 6,284,500 underlying H Shares at the grant price
of HK$4.85 per H Share under the H Share Incentive Scheme, excluding
the Trust Units representing a total of 273,000 underlying H Shares
which were granted to but not accepted by three Eligible Participants.
For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
December 4, 2024.

Movements of the unvested H Shares underlying the Trust Units granted
under the H Share Incentive Scheme during the Reporting Period are set

out below:
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Number of Number of
unvested unvested  Weighted
H Shares H Shares average
underlying underlying closing
the Trust Granted Vested Lapsed the Trust price of
Unitsasof  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  Unitsasof  the H Shares
Category/ Purchase January1,  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting December 31, before
Name of Grantee Date of Grant Price Vesting Period 2024 Period Period Period 2024 vesting
Bz
BE k1 2
“E-ME 2B
-A-H =+-8
ABEN BN HR
FRXER ERXER BEA
hERE  g5Hn REEA BEBh OBRE NhETY
REARH /1% RFAE BEE BER HR#E R¥ BB XM HREE G
Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and Other Connected Persons N/A
FE EF SUEREERENEE L NER
Mr. Huang December 2024 HKS4.85  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in = 332500 = = 332,500 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.
Bt ZECMETZR 48BN BRRGEREAAZHER ARR-EIAE TaR
YR B AELARCEC\ELARE
40% ~ 30%530%
Mr. Zheng December 2024 HKS485  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in = 332500 = = 332,500 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.
ik CROMESTCR AR GRERGRNEANZHEE  ARR-ZIRE TER
TR ZECAEARCEC\ELREE
40% 30%530% ©
LI Youquan December 2024 HKS4.85  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in - 997,500 - - 997,500 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.
FER TRoMETCA 4sET RRXEENEANCHBE AAR-EISE ER
TR B ELARCEC\ELRER
40% * 30%K30% ©
HUANG Danyan December 2024 HK$485  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40%in = 166,250 = = 166,250 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.
Bl TRORETCA 4gET BRXGENBENCHBE AAR-ZAE AR

th ZEtELARCECN\ELAEE
40% 300 Fe30% ©
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Number of Number of
unvested unvested  Weighted
H Shares H Shares average
underlying underlying closing
the Trust Granted Vested Lapsed the Trust price of
Unitsasof  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  Unitsas of  the H Shares
Category/ Purchase January1,  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting December 31, before
Name of Grantee Date of Grant Price Vesting Period 2024 Period Period Period 2024 vesting
BE
BE kL2
nt Sl 1:3 t=A
-A-8 =t-8
AGRH ABRH HR
FRZER ERXER BRAE
hERE  g5Hn REEA BEBh OERE NhETY
REABH /1% SiL BEE BER HR#E B¥ BB XM HhEE G
LIU Zhen December 2024 HK3485  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in - 166,250 - - 166,250 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.
Iz ZRIMETIR 4ssER E%ﬁ*ﬁf@@”iﬁﬁ”'“WWiﬁfiﬁ NER

tA ZECtELARCEC\FLARE
w%~m%&m%o

IWANG Yalong December 2024 HKS485  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in - 166,250 - - 166,250 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.

ITE TECMETCR 4B ﬁ*ﬁ*ffﬁﬁ “HEE DRR-ECAF R

StELARZECN\ELAGE
w%\w%&m%o

ZHENG Feng December 2024 HK$485  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in = 166,250 = = 166,250 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.

L TECMETCR 4B E%&é%ﬁ@ﬁ%iﬂﬁ%'“%%:?’ﬁi TER

A ZRtELARZEC\EtAER
40% * 30%5%30%

HUANG Junhao" December 2024 HKS4.85  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in - 133,000 - - 133,000 N/A
July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.

B el CRIMETIR 48R GRRGEGEAANHER ANR-ZIRE NER
R B EARCEC\ELARE

40% ~ 30%830% ©
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Number of Number of
unvested unvested  Weighted
H Shares H Shares average
underlying underlying closing
the Trust Granted Vested Lapsed the Trust price of
Unitsasof  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  Unitsas of  the H Shares
Category/ Purchase January1,  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting December 31, before
Name of Grantee Date of Grant Price Vesting Period 2024 Period Period Period 2024 vesting
BE
BE kL2
“E-ME 2B
-A-8 =t-8
AGRH ABRH HR
FRZER ERXER BRAE
hERE  g5Hn REEA BEBh OERE NhETY
REABH /1% SiL BEE BRA HR#E BT BB XM HhEE G
Employees
£S5
62 Employees in December 2024 HKS4.85  The Trust Units shall vest in three tranches of 40% in - 3,824,000 - - 3,824,000 N/A
aggregate” July 2026, 30% in July 2027 and 30% in July 2028,
respectively.
a6 4EE" ZECMETIA BT RRXGENEANCHEE AAR-EISE NER
A ZEtFARCECNELRGE
40% ~ 30%530%
Notes: MfaT -

(1) HUANG Junhao is the son of Mr. Huang.

(2) None of the grantees is a Director, a chief executive, or a substantial

shareholder of the Company, or an associate of any of them.

Save as disclosed above, no Trust Unit has been granted under the H

Share Incentive Scheme during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

We did not have any material acquisitions and disposals and significant

investments during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

The H shares of the Company were listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange on December 12, 2023. The net proceeds received from the Global
Offering (after deducting the estimated underwriting commissions and other
fees and expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Global

Offering) was approximately HK$256.46 million.

The net proceeds from the Global Offering (adjusted on a pro rata basis
based on the actual net proceeds) have been and will be utilized in that
same manner, proportion and the expected timeframe as set out in the

Prospectus under the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”.

The table below sets out the planned and actual applications of the net

proceeds up to December 31, 2024.

Net proceeds

from the Global Equivalent
Offering to RMB
ERBEF FaARM
FrEHE BETRL

(HKD in millions) ~ (RMB in millions)
(BR&%T) (ARBBEEL)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

EXRBREHETAT

HE-_ZT - MF+_A=+—"HIEFE - #M
WEREFMEBRRBIHEAREXRIRE -

ERVEMERERE

RZBZ=F+-A+=H  "RARHRHE
RFAERET o 2IREEWB|HFAE TR (K
HBEARARERBERNOABFTRHEASR
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EIREEFMEFA (RBEBFREHRRL
IR DR B ERREBIREIZE [ RKTE
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TR EE-_ZE-_NE+_A=+—BHF
T8 Ea 8 R ERERBR

from January 1,

Utilization

Unutilized

2024to  proceedsas of  Expected timeline
December 31,  December 31, for fully utilizing the
2024 2024  unutilized amount™”
—E-ME
—A—-HZ BE-Z-MmE
~®-mF t+=A=t-A
+=A=t+-H HAEAN BEEAKRER
HERRER FERE  SENEERERD

(RMB in millions)  (RMB in millions)
(AR¥BERT) (AR%KBE&ET)

Research and development activities to expand our 256 2332
product portfolio and enrich our product features

BABMOENE A REERMANER
e RRREES)

Expand and consolidate our sales network 64.1 583

BARZERMOHERR

Strengthen our brand building and 385 3498
marketing promotion efforts

MERMNEERR R ZRERNE

14.91 8.41  Before December 31, 2028
ZECN\ETZA
=+—H#

52.48 5.82  Before December 31,2028
T \F+ZA
=+—HAl

34.98 — NA
TEA
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Utilization

from January 1,

Unutilized

Net proceeds 2024to  proceedsas of  Expected timeline
from the Global Equivalent  December31,  December 31, for fully utilizing the
Offering to RMB 2024 2024  unutilized amount™
ZBIRE
—A—-HZ BE-Z-MmE
ZE-mE +ZA=t-H
ERBEF FeAR® +ZA=+-H HAERK BEREAKER
FrERE BETRL HERRER FEHE  SENEERERD
(HKD in millions)  (RMBin millions) ~ (RMB in millions) ~ (RMB in millions)
(B8En) (AR®BEER) (AR¥EER) (ARKEBET)
Strengthen our supply chain management capabilities 898 81.63 76.79 4.84  Before December 31,2028
e F Mt rEEE R “EIN\ETZA
=t+—B7
Strengthen our digital infrastructure 128 11.66 8.39 3.27  Before December 31,2028
MR BB F AR “ZZ\F+ZA
=+—R#
Working capital and other general corporate purposes 256 2332 23.32 — N/A
BEBE RHEM—ROAAR TER
Total 25646 23321 210.87 2234
@t
To the extent that the net proceeds have not been immediately utilized, MERESHRERAEREHA  AEHTASHE
the balance has been deposited into short-term demand deposits with TR ER - ESeE BT e RE LR
banks. The Board currently do not expect to change the intended use of BEREREPAEENFINEREBTRS: I

net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus, and expects full

utilization of the net proceeds raised from the Global Offering by December

31, 2028, subject to changes in light of the Company's evolving business

needs and changing market conditions.
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LITIGATION AND COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not commit any material
non-compliance of the laws and regulations, and did not experience any
noncompliance incident, which taken as a whole, in the opinion of the
Directors, is likely to have a material and adverse effect on our business,

financial condition or results of operations.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on Friday, May 9, 2025. A notice convening the AGM
will be published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the website of the Company (www.yanzhiwu.com), and will be
despatched to the shareholders of the Company in accordance with the

requirement of the Listing Rules in due course.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of RMB2.15 per ten Shares for the year ended December 31, 2024 to the
Shareholders whose names appeared on the register of members of the
Company on Wednesday, May 21, 2025, subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the AGM. Once the relevant resolution is passed at the AGM,
the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on Thursday, June 5, 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
In relation to the AGM

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
May 6, 2025 to Friday, May 9, 2025, both days inclusive, during which period

no transfer of Shares will be registered.

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all H Share transfer
documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch H Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on
Friday, May 2, 2025.
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In relation to the final dividend

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to receive the final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, May 16,
2025 to Wednesday, May 21, 2025, both days inclusive, during which period

no transfer of Shares will be registered.

To qualify for the final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the corresponding share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch H Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration

not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Thursday, May 15, 2025.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's listed securities.
If any of the Shareholders is unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in

relation to the Shares, he or she is advised to consult an expert.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance policies for its
Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is

given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, as of the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained to comply with the minimum public float
percentage requirement under Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing Rules at any time

during the Reporting Period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As of the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. XIAO Wei, Mr. CHEN Aihua
and Mr. LAM Yiu Por, and Mr. CHEN Aihua serves as the chairman of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 and has recommended for the

Board's approval thereof.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2024. The Audit Committee considered that the annual results of the
Group are in compliance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and

regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as the auditor during the Reporting Period. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2024 have been audited by KPMG.

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditor of the Company

will be proposed at the AGM.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group made charitable
donations in an amount of RMB538,000.
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COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENTS

On November 20, 2023, Mr. Huang, Mr. Zheng, Xiamen Suntama and Mr.
Li (collectively, the “Covenantors”) entered into letter of non-competition
undertakings in favor of the Company (collectively, “Non-Competition
Agreements’), respectively, pursuant to which, each of them has undertaken
that, among others, (i) as of the date of the Non-competition Agreements,
each of the Covenantors or any of their respective immediate family members
and their controlled or invested entities (other than members of our Group)
has not engaged in or participated in, through any form, any business which,
directly or indirectly, competes or is likely to compete with our principal
business of developing, producing and/or selling EBN, EBN+ and/or +EBN
products (except for Union Yutai) (the “Restricted Business”) and (ii) each of
the Covenantors will not, at any time during the period he/it is a controlling
shareholder or controlled person of our Group, engage in or participate
in, by way of investment, cooperation, technology transfer or through any
other form, any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or is likely
to compete with the Restricted Business. For details of the Non-Competition
Agreements, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Our

Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Agreements”in the Prospectus.

The Covenantors have undertaken that they complied with the
Non-competition Agreements during the Reporting Period. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the Non-competition Agreements
and assessed whether the Covenantors and their close associates have
complied with the terms of the Non-competition Agreements, and were
satisfied that the Covenantors have complied with their undertakings under

the Non-competition Agreements during the year ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company had applied all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code. The
corporate governance report of the Company prepared in accordance with
the CG Code is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”

of this annual report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated January
10, 2025, the address of the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the
Company has been changed to Room 1928, 19/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan

Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

On January 3, 2025, Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Structured Deposit Product
Agreement | with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit Product | of
RMB45 million from China Everbright Bank. The subscription of the Structured
Deposit Product | was fully redeemed on March 3, 2025. On January 6, 2025,
Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology entered into the Structured Deposit Product
Agreement Il with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit Product II of
RMB50 million from China Everbright Bank. The subscription of the Structured
Deposit Product Il was fully redeemed on February 17, 2025. On February 17,
2025, Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology entered into the Structured Deposit
Product Agreement Il with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan
Palace Silon Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit
Product Ill of RMB50 million from China Everbright Bank. On March 5, 2025,
Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology entered into the Structured Deposit Product
Agreement IV with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan Palace
Silon Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit Product
IV of RMB30 million from China Everbright Bank. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated March 14, 2025.

After the end of the Reporting Period, the Directors proposed a final dividend.
For details, please refer to “-FINAL DIVIDEND" in this section and Note 26 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of the date of this annual report, save as above, there has been no
significant event since the end of the Reporting Period that is required to be

disclosed by the Company.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to
customers and business partners for their trust in our Company, our staff and
management team for their diligence, dedication, loyalty and integrity, and

our Shareholders for their continuous support.
By order of the Board of Directors
Xiamen Yan Palace Bird’s Nest Industry Co., Ltd.

HUANG Jian

Chairman

Hong Kong
March 14, 2025
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In 2024, all members of the Board of Supervisors, in strict compliance with

the Company Law and other relevant laws, the Listing Rules and the Articles

of Association and other relevant regulations, abided by the principle of good

faith, conscientiously performed their supervisory duties in an attitude of

responsibility to all shareholders, actively carried out their work, attended the

meetings of the Board of Supervisors, the Board meetings and the general

meetings, conducted effective supervision over the Company’s operation in

accordance with the law, its financial position and the performance of duties

by the Directors and the management, and promoted the standardised

operation of the Company.

BASIC COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors shall consist of three Supervisors. The
appointment and removal of the chairman of the Board of Supervisors
shall be approved by more than two-thirds of the members of the Board
of Supervisors. Each Supervisor has a term of three years and may be

re-elected.

The members of the Board of Supervisors are composed of shareholder
Shareholder

representatives shall be elected and dismissed by the general meeting,

representatives and employee representatives.
and employee representatives shall be democratically elected and
dismissed by the Company’s employees. The number of Supervisors
served by the employee representatives shall not be less than one-third
of the number of Supervisors. Directors and senior managers of the

Company shall not concurrently serve as Supervisors.

The Board of Supervisors consists of three Supervisors, the details of

which are as follows:

Shareholder Representative Supervisors:

Mr. ZHENG Feng (chairman)
Ms. ZHANG Ning

Employee Representative Supervisor:

Ms. WEI Wei
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OVERALL RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

The Board of Supervisors is the supervisory body of the Company and
performs its duties strictly in accordance with the Company Law, Listing
Rules and Articles of Association. The Board of Supervisors is responsible
for supervising the performance of the Board of Directors and senior
management, the Company's financial operations, internal control and

risk management.

WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors convened 3 meetings and considered
6 resolutions. All Supervisors attended in person and discussed and
considered the relevant resolutions, including the 2023 Work Report of
the Board of Supervisors of the Company, the 2023 Financial Report, the

2024 Interim Financial Report and other resolutions.

The attendance record of the meetings of the members of the Board of

Supervisors is as follows:

o ETERRRE
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HEMER EBEEARQ

?_

“FEFSTERS _?::Eﬁﬁ%#ﬁz
R CMFTHPBRESER

EEFEERBHESRERNAT

Number of

meetings required

Number of

to be attended  Meetings attended

Name ®E EHERE B HERE
ZHENG Feng 2 3 3
WEI Wei B 3 3
ZHANG Ning K& 3 3

During the Reporting Period, the members of the Board of Supervisors
attended the general meetings and the Board meetings of the
Company, put forward relevant opinions and suggestions with a serious
and responsible attitude, conducted supervision on the procedures and
content of the meetings, and effectively supervised the decision-making
procedures, legal operations and financial conditions of the Company's
business, as well as the duty performance of the Directors and
management in the daily operations of the Company, which safeguarded

the legal interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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IV. BASIC EVALUATION OF THE BOARD OF

U]

SUPERVISORS ON THE OPERATION BEHAVIOUR
OF THE BOARD AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the year ended December 31, 2024, through supervising the
Directors and senior management, the Board of Supervisors believed
that the Company's major business decision-making procedures were
legal and effective; when performing their duties, the Directors and
senior management earnestly implemented the laws and regulations of
the PRC, the Articles of Association and the resolutions of the general
meetings and the Board meetings, and there was no behavior that
harmed the interests of the Company and the Shareholders and no
violations committed by the Directors or senior management were

found during operations.

INDEPENDENT OPINION TO THE RELEVANT
MATTERS OF THE COMPANY DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Independent Opinion of the Board of Supervisors on the
Company’s Legal Operation

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors supervised the convening procedures
and resolutions of the general meetings and the Board meetings of
the Company, the implementation of resolutions of the Company’s
general meetings by the Board, and the duty performance of senior
management in accordance with the rights granted under the Company

Law and the Articles of Association.

The Board of Supervisors believed that the Company's decision-making
procedures complied with the relevant provisions of the Company
Law, the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules, and the Board has
standardized operations, legal procedures, reasonable decisions, and
earnestly implemented each resolution of the general meetings. The
Directors and senior management were loyal and diligent when they
performed their duties, and the Board of Supervisors was not aware of
any violation of laws, regulations, the Articles of Association or damage
to the interests of the Company. Each resolution of the general meetings

has been implemented.
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(1) Independent Opinion of the Board of Supervisors on the

\'

88

Company’s financial situation

The Board of Supervisors supervised the Company’s finances and
considered that the Company’s financial system was sound and its
financial operations were in good condition. It also considered that
the Company strictly complied with the requirements of the corporate
accounting system, accounting standards and other relevant financial
regulations. At the same time, the Board of Supervisors carefully
reviewed the financial statements for the year 2023 audited by an
independent auditor with an unqualified opinion to be submitted by the
Board of Directors to the general meetings, and other relevant materials,
and was of the view that the financial report followed the principle
of consistency, and objectively, accurately and truthfully reflected the

financial conditions and operating results of the Company.

WORK PLAN FOR 2025

In 2025, the Board of Supervisors will continue to perform its supervisory
functions well, exercise its supervisory powers independently in
accordance with the law, fulfil its obligations of loyalty and diligence in
strict accordance with the relevant laws such as the Company Law, the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association, effectively safeguard the
interests of the Company and the shareholders at large, and ensure the

standardised and healthy operation of the Company.
1. Carry out daily discussion activities. The Company will convene

meetings of the Board of Supervisors based on the actual situation

of the Company to review various proposals;
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Strengthen the implementation of supervisory functions. The
Company will strengthen the supervision of Directors and senior
management in the performance of their duties, implementation
of resolutions and compliance with regulations, strengthen the
supervision and correction of irregularities, dereliction of duty and
inaction of senior management to promote more standardised and
lawful decision-making and business activities, carry out focused
supervision of the implementation of the Company’s major business
decisions, major asset acquisitions, foreign investments and other
matters, and regularly understand and review the Company’s

financial reports to effectively prevent business risks;

Learn laws and regulations and relevant policies. The Company will
carefully study the laws, regulations and relevant policies updated
from time to time to continuously promote the construction of
the Company's internal control system, to promote the Company’s
long-term mechanism of sound and standardised governance, and
to safeguard the Company's sustainable and healthy development;

and

Be diligent and conscientious. The Company will pay close attention
to the Company’s production, operation, management and major
initiatives on a daily basis, participate in the Board meetings,
general meetings and other important meetings of the Company

and actively put forward opinions or suggestions.
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The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report contained

in the Company’s annual report for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognizes the importance of good corporate governance to
the Company’s healthy growth and has devoted considerable efforts to
formulating and implementing corporate governance practices appropriate
to the Company's needs. The Company has adopted the principles and
code provisions of the CG Code as the basis of the Company's corporate

governance practices.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has complied with all

applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code. Key corporate governance

principles and practices of the Company are summarized below.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board

Direction and control of Company business are vested in the Board. The
Board establishes policies, strategies and plans for the development of
Company business, and provides leadership in the creation of value for
Shareholders. All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith,
have been in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, have taken
decisions objectively and have acted in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times. The Directors shall disclose to the Company details

of other offices held by them.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, risk management and internal control systems, material transactions
(particularly those involving conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational

matters.
The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to

perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is

spending sufficient time performing them.
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The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are led by the Board and senior management of the Company. The
Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the management
for implementing Board decisions, and directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company. The Board reviews the
delegated functions and work tasks regularly. The management has to obtain

Board approval prior to entering into any significant transactions.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a potential conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the relevant Director shall abstain from voting and a Board
meeting attended by independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
close associates, have no material interest in the matter shall be held to

discuss and vote on the same.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against Directors arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual

basis.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board as at the date of this annual report is as
follows:

Executive Directors Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman)
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin

Mr. LI Youquan

Ms. HUANG Danyan

Mr. LIU Zhen
Mr. WANG Yalong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XIAO Wei
Mr. CHEN Aihua
Mr. LAM Yiu Por

Independent Non-

executive Directors

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly

identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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The biographical details of the Directors and the relationships among
the members of the Board are disclosed in the section headed “Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” in this annual report. To the best
knowledge of the Company, save as disclosed in this section, there is no
other financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship among

the members of the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board at all times met the
requirement of the Listing Rules of having a minimum of three independent
non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board) with
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting

or related financial management expertise.

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirement and objectives of the

Group and for the exercise of independent judgement.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with

the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has implementable and effective mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. All Directors have
timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services
of the joint company secretaries and senior management of the Company,
with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Any Director may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expenses, upon
reasonable request made to the Board. During the Reporting Period, the
Board has reviewed the board independence mechanisms and considered

that the implementation of the mechanisms was effective.
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Chairman and General Manager

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. To achieve clear division of responsibilities between the
management of the Board and day-today management of the business and
hence to ensure balance of power and authority, there is separation of duties

for the Chairman and Chief Executive of the Company.

Currently, the positions of Chairman and General Manager are held by
Mr. HUANG lJian and Mr. LI Youquan respectively. The Chairman provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board, whereas the General Manager focuses on the Company's
business development and daily management and operations generally.
The respective responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the
General Manager have been clearly established and set out in writing. The
separation of roles would ensure a balance of power and authority, and

strengthen the governance function and business development of the Group.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years. The Company has also issued a letter
of appointment to each of the independent non-executive Directors for a
term of three years. Under the Articles of Association, Directors (including
non-executive Directors) shall be elected at the general meeting with a
term of three years. A Director may serve consecutive terms if re-elected
upon the expiry of his/her term. A Director shall continue to perform his
duties in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations and Articles
of Association until a duly re-elected director takes office, if re-election is
not conducted in a timely manner upon the expiry of his term of office, or
if the resignation of directors results in the number of directors being less
than the quorum. The Articles of Association also provides that each Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as addition to the Board shall hold
office until the first general meeting after his/her appointment. The retiring

Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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Training and Continuing Professional Development of Directors

The Directors keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company in order to

effectively perform their responsibilities.

Every newly appointed Directors has received a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction is normally

supplemented with meetings with the senior management of the Company.

The Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Continuing briefings and professional development for the Directors are
arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials relating to the
Company'’s business or Directors’ duties and responsibilities, updates on
salient laws, corporate governance, regulations applicable to the Group are
provided to the Directors from time to time for their studying and reference.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the

Company's expenses.

The Directors are required to submit to the Company details of the training
they received in each financial year for the Company’s maintenance of proper
training records of the Directors. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
Mr. HUANG lJian, Mr. ZHENG Wenbin, Mr. LI Youquan, Ms. HUANG Danyan, Mr.
LIU Zhen, Mr. WANG Yalong, Mr. XIAO Wei, Mr. CHEN Aihua and Mr. LAM Yiu
Por attended training sessions on regulatory development, directors’ duties
or other relevant topics. In addition, relevant reading materials have been

provided to the Directors for their studying and reference.

94 Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

EENEINSEEXRE

EEMKTREENERMBIUANKRFH
IR ¥BEPHNER  UBRETHEEE -

BUHFZEINEFTHEREZEREZE2E  E
AREHTENAREY - UBREE T HEAR
KEMNEHREE WADTHREFELDR
AINEEERE THEERER - HBEAR
BB EHARAAFSRERENEE

ESRECHBENEESERE  UBREME
I A M ERE - UEREPEEEEN
BEMRFNEBENER MEFTE BKMSAE
ELHBENRMEERER - 1t TRAE
ERHABALTEBREETRE REEHH
BEME - EEEE CEER  BRARAEE
FUERNETBE  UWHESEERSE - &
BAMEEE2NAREIIERE  BRAEAQH
A o

EXZAMNARARIEESEAMBFEERD
FlHFHAES  UWEAARGEESTNEE
Bk - BE_T_WF+-_A=+—H1t
FE BREL BXBEE  FTHEREL
Bt BIRSAL  ThEXRLE - HER
£ REFLEERMBEREESNTEEH
B EEBENEMARIENEIRIE - 1t
S EREZREEBMENF  HEZSE
2% .



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding the Directors’ and the supervisors' dealings in the securities of the
Company. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors and Supervisors,
all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they have complied with the

provisions of the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company on terms no less exacting than the Model Code.
No incident of non-compliance of the written guidelines by the employees

has been noted by the Company.

In case the Company is aware of any restricted period for dealings in the
Company's securities, the Company will notify its directors and relevant

employees in advance.

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally
made available to the Directors in advance. Notice of a regular Board meeting
is served on all the Directors at least 14 days before the meeting. For other

Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information
are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep Directors apprised of the latest development
and financial position of the Company and to enable them to make decisions.
The Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to

the senior management where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings
and where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to advise on
business development, financial and accounting matters, statutory and
regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Company. The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors
to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at the meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates

have a material interest.
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The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Minutes of Board meetings
and committee meetings record in sufficient detail the matters considered
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or

dissenting views expressed.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to all the Directors for comment within
a reasonable time after each meeting. Final versions of the minutes are sent

to the Directors for their records and are open for their inspection.

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board Committee
meetings of the Company held during the year ended December 31, 2024

are set out in the table below:

eENEABEEHIEESSCH
ENEHER ETEERNE
> 81a) #%mﬁﬁT%%Fm$ﬁﬂkﬁm&

PREFRININFERRENREE

nm«

M
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ERECHE AR YESARTHARNAERME
NADBEMEEFRULMKER - ®FLHENEK

BRIRABEXGEFERTE A HBMAE
B o
EERZEEREHFERLE

REE_FT_NF+_A=t—HILFE
é%ﬁ%$gﬁ§%@&%$@§a@@%
ERIATE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEAH EERAH
Remuneration

Audit and Appraisal Nomination Strategy
Name of Director EEHR Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
BN B2 r’A B R%
EEg EitZEg® ZKZEES Z8% £Z88
Mr. HUANG Jian 'L 5/5 - 2/2 0/0
Mr. ZHENG Wenbin BXBSLELE 5/5 - - 0/0
Mr. LI Youquan THERKE 5/5 2/2 = =
Ms. HUANG Danyan =g+ 5/5 = = =
Mr. LIU Zhen BExE 5/5 - - -
Mr. WANG Yalong FEEEE 5/5 = = =
Mr. XIAO Wei HExE 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 =
Mr. CHEN Aihua PREZESA 5/5 2/2 2/2 2/2 =
Mr. LAM Yiu Por MREEE R 52 4 5/5 2/2 = = 0/0

In addition, Mr. HUANG Jian, the Chairman of the Board, held a meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other

Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Board Committees And Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategy
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs. The
Board committees have sufficient resources to execute their requisite duties.
All the Board committees should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee are
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are

available to Shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. CHEN Aihua (Chairman), Mr. XIAO Wei and Mr. LAM Yiu Por. Each
of Mr. CHEN Aihua and Mr. LAM Yiu Por has the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the

Company's existing external auditors.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and overseeing
the financial reporting procedure, risk management and internal control
system of the Group and have with terms of reference in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D.3 of part 2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee held
2 meetings to review the annual financial results and report for the year
ended December 31, 2023 and the interim financial results and report for
the six months ended June 30, 2024, major audit findings, significant issues
on the financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control
and risk management systems, the effectiveness of the Company's internal
audit function, scope of works and re-appointment of external auditors and

arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The external auditors were invited to attend the Audit Committee meetings
without the presence of executive Directors to discuss with the Audit
Committee issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.
There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee

regarding the re-appointment of external auditors.
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REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee comprised two independent
non-executive Directors and one executive Director, namely, Mr. XIAO Wei
(Chairman), Mr. LI Youquan and Mr. CHEN Aihua.

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee is mainly responsible for
evaluating the remuneration policies for Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Group and making recommendations thereon to the
Board of Directors and have with terms of reference in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and paragraph E.1 of part 2 of the
CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure and the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management of the

Group.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of
the senior management by band for the year ended December 31, 2024 is set

out below:

FWEEREES

FHEREREE e HMEB B IENITESEN—
BRITEEEKR  DHAEEEE(XF) T
BRELENREERSE

FMEEREZERTIZARTHEAEEES
EENSRERASNFMNERELMESF SR
HiEE HBEEENTSTREARERERM
FHRBIMECI B EEERTRE 2RI E
E1ER °

RBEHAR  FHREEZEeFALIR T
AEFEZERSREEABNHFHBERERE
AUy

RIBEEERTRIMTANEXELS BEC
ME+—A=+-RALFERREEABER
BB B EHBNE S T

Remuneration Band g E Number of senior management
BEEABA™

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T 21,500,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T £ 2,000,000 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7L £ 2,500,000 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7L % 3,000,000/8 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 47L& 3,500,000 7T 0
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7L £ 4,000,000/ 7T 0
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 JL £ 4,500,000 7T 1
7

Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial

statements contained in this annual report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised one executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman),
Mr. XIAO Wei and Mr. CHEN Aihua.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for identifying, screening
and recommending to the Board of Directors qualified candidates to serve
as the Directors, Supervisors and senior management and monitoring the
procedures for evaluating the performance of the Board of Directors and
have with terms of reference in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC and paragraph B.3 of part 2 of the CG Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company also recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance its performance and has adopted a Policy of Director
Nomination and Board Diversity aiming to set out the approach to nominate
directors and achieve diversity on the Board. The implementation of the
policy is monitored by the Nomination Committee. All Board members
shall be appointed on the basis of merit, and the benefits of diversity
(including gender diversity) of the Board shall be fully taken into account
in the consideration of candidates on appropriate terms. In designing the
Board’'s composition, board diversity has been considered from a number
of measurable objectives, including but not limited to a balance of skills,
professional experience, educational background, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender. The Nomination Committee shall
report its findings and make recommendation to the Board, if any. Such
policy and objectives will be reviewed from time to time and at least on an
annual basis to ensure their appropriateness in determining the optimum

composition of the Board.
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The Policy of Director Nomination and Board Diversity sets out the factors
in evaluating, selecting and recommending to the Board one or more
candidates for appointment or re-election as a director, including but
not limited to: (a) diversity of views, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
regional and industry experience, ethnicity, knowledge and years of service;
(b) qualifications, including achievements and experience in the relevant
industries in which the Company’s business is carried out and other
professional qualifications; (c) commitment to the responsibilities of the
Board in terms of available time investment; (d) reputation for integrity; (e)
the contribution that the candidate can bring to the Board; and (f) one or
more plans for the orderly implementation of Board succession. In addition,
the Board and the Nomination Committee will assess and recommend one
or more candidates for the post of independent non-executive director of
the Company having due regard to a number of factors, including but not
limited to the independence and appointment requirements of independent
non-executive directors under the regulatory rules of the place where the

Company's shares are listed. The selection procedures are as follow:

(1) The Nomination Committee shall actively communicate with the
relevant departments of the Company, study the Company’s demand for

new directors and senior management, and prepare written materials;

(2) The Nomination Committee may conduct extensive searches for
directors and senior management candidates within the Company, the
subsidiaries or enterprises in which the Company has equity interests

and the talent market;

(3) Collect the occupation, education, title, detailed work experience, all
part-time jobs and other information of the candidates, and form written

materials;

(4) Seek the nominee’s consent to the nomination, otherwise he or she

cannot be selected as a director or senior management;
(5) Convene a meeting of the Nomination Committee to examine the

qualifications of the candidates according to the qualifications of the

directors and senior management;
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(6) One to two months before the election of new directors and the
appointment of new senior management, to present to the Board of
Directors proposals and relevant materials on candidates for director and

new senior management;

(7) Carry out other follow-up work according to decisions and feedback of

the Board of Directors.

The Company is committed to maintaining gender diversity on the Board
and at the working level, including senior management. In particular, the
Company will strive to maintain that the Board and senior management have
at least one member who is not of the same gender as the other members.
As of December 31, 2024, the Board has 1 female Director out of 9 Directors,
representing 11.1% of the Board; and 2 of 5 of the senior management
of the Group (other than Directors) are female, representing 40% of the
senior management. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of
1,380 female staff, representing 73.8% of the employees of the Group. The
Company will continue to pay attention to the cultivation of female talents,
promote gender diversity in the recruitment of middle and senior staff, and
provide more development opportunities for female employees. For further
details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of

this annual report.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board has reviewed the
Policy of Director Nomination and Board Diversity and considered that the

implementation of the policy was effective.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination Committee held
2 meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the Board to
ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to
the requirements for the business of the Group and reviewed the Policy of
Director Nomination and Board Diversity; assessed the independence of the

independent non-executive Directors.

On March 14, 2025, (1) Mr. HUANG Jian ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, (2) Ms. HUANG Danyan was appointed as a member
of the Nomination Committee, and (3) Mr. XIAO Wei was re-designated as
the chairman of the Nomination Committee from an existing member of the
Nomination Committee. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated March 14, 2025.
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Strategy Committee comprised two executive Directors and one
independent non-executive Director, namely, Mr. HUANG Jian (Chairman), Mr.
ZHENG Wenbin and Mr. LAM Yiu Por.

The main duties of the Strategy Committee are to research and recommend

development strategy and capital operation of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no meeting of the Strategy

Committee was held.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance
with the Model Code and the Guidelines for Securities Dealings by relevant
employees, and the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and the

disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory
and regulatory requirements. The management has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The management provides all
members of the Board with monthly updates on the Company's performance,

positions and prospects.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out

in the Independent Auditor's Report of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing
basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and

not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is fully responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take to achieve the Company's strategic
objectives, and for establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard Shareholders’

investments and the Group's assets.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems. The
Company has developed and adopted different risk management procedures
and guidelines. Self-evaluation would be conducted each year to confirm
that the Company has properly complied with the risk management and
internal control policy. The audit department would conduct internal control
assessment to identify risks factors with potential impact on the Group's
business. The management would assess the likelihood of risk occurrence,
monitor the progress of risk management and report to the Board and the

Audit Committee on the findings and effectiveness of the systems.

The Group has developed its disclosure policy to provide a general guide
to the Company's directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information

disclosure and responding to enquiries.
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The Company has recruited experienced personnel for providing the
internal audit function and performing independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems. The internal audit function examined key issues in relation to the
accounting practices and all material controls and provided its findings and

recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee and the management, has
reviewed the report from the management and the internal audit findings,
and reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls for the year ended December 31, 2024. The annual review also
covered areas on the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions as well as those relating
to the Company's environmental, social and governance performance
and reporting. The Board considered that such systems are adequate and
effective and ongoing review of the same nature would be conducted in

subsequent years.
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On January 3, 2025, Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Structured Deposit Product
Agreement | with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit Product | of
RMB45 million from China Everbright Bank. The subscription of the Structured
Deposit Product | was fully redeemed on March 3, 2025. On January 6, 2025,
Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology entered into the Structured Deposit Product
Agreement Il with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit Product Il of
RMB50 million from China Everbright Bank. The subscription of the Structured
Deposit Product Il was fully redeemed on February 17, 2025. On February 17,
2025, Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology entered into the Structured Deposit
Product Agreement Il with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan
Palace Silon Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit
Product Ill of RMB50 million from China Everbright Bank. On March 5, 2025,
Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology entered into the Structured Deposit Product
Agreement IV with China Everbright Bank, pursuant to which, Yan Palace
Silon Biotechnology agreed to subscribe for the Structured Deposit Product
IV of RMB30 million from China Everbright Bank. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated March 14, 2025. As of the date
of this annual report, the subscriptions of Structured Deposit Product Ill and

Structured Deposit Product IV have been fully redeemed.

The Company deeply regrets its non-compliance with the Listing Rules
but the Company would like to stress that the delay in announcing
the subscriptions was inadvertent and unintentional. To prevent the
recurrence of similar incidents in the future, the Company has conducted a
comprehensive review and implemented the following remedial actions with

immediate effect:

() the Company has been improving its reporting system which require the
finance department of the Group to report to the Group’s management
in advance about any proposed subscription, and shall only subscribe
for these products after the finance department has evaluated the
implications of the Listing Rules and the Company has complied with

the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules;
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(i) the Company has been improving the communication, coordination and
reporting arrangements for notifiable transactions among the relevant
departments of the Group, including among its finance team, legal team,

and the office of the Board;

(iii) the Company shall, as and when appropriate and necessary, consult
financial advisers, legal advisers and/or other professional advisers
before entering into possible notifiable transaction or when notifiable
transactions are being contemplated, including any future subscription

or disposal of financial products; and

(iv) the Company will discuss and review its internal control and compliance
system annually to identify any weakness and consider further remedial

actions to address them.

Going forward, the Company will continue to comply with the management
procedures of its subscription for any financial products and make
appropriate disclosure in a timely manner to ensure compliance with the

Listing Rules.

Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption Policy

In order to maintain our reputation and integrity, the Company have
implemented anti-bribery and anticorruption policies which require the
employees and business partners such as distributors and suppliers to
conduct business legally and ethically. The Company requires the employees
and business partners to undertake in writing not to conduct non-
compliances, suspicious transactions, fraud, corruption or bribery by signing
a letter of commitment. The letter of commitment prohibits the employees
and business partners from offering unauthorized payment, such as bribes,
kickbacks or benefit with each other. In addition, the anti-bribery and anti-
corruption policy provides whistle blowing contact details including hotline
and email address for reporting suspicious conducts. Information of the
whistleblowers are strictly confidential. The Company’s anti-bribery and anti-
corruption supervision team, which consists of the general manager, human
resources director, financial director, head of the audit department and head
of the legal department, are responsible for receiving internal reports and

conducting investigation against suspicious conducts.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2024 is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s

Report”in this annual report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the annual
general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the

preparation and content of the auditor’s report and auditor’s independence.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the remuneration paid/payable

to the Company'’s external auditors, KPMG, is set out below:
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./ ENAARIMNERBEME SRS ER
FrEVERB T

Remuneration

i

(RMB'000)

Nature of Services RtE (AR®TT)
Audit services FHaTIRTE 2,300
Non-audit services " ERE PR @ S5
TOTAL: HET 3,215

Note: The non-audit services provided mainly included non-audit services related
to interim review, continuing connected transactions and annual results
announcement.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Ms. XIONG Ting, the board secretary of
the Company, and Ms. LEUNG Kwan Wai, a senior manager of Company
Secretarial services of Tricor Services Limited as the Company’s joint company

secretaries.
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All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries on corporate governance and board practices and matters.
Ms. XIONG Ting has been designated as the primary contact person at the
Company which would work and communicate with Ms. LEUNG Kwan Wai
on the Company's corporate governance and secretarial and administrative

matters.

Ms. XIONG Ting and Ms. LEUNG Kwan Wai have taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training and comply with the requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year ended December 31, 2024.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best

investment decisions.

The Company maintains a website at “http://www.yanzhiwu.com” as a
communication platform with shareholders and investors, where information
and updates on the Group's business operations, developments and financial

information are available for public access.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman of
the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee, Nomination Committee and Strategy Committee and,
in their absence, other members of the respective committees, are available
to answer questions at general meetings. The chairman of a meeting will
provide the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and answer any
questions from the Shareholders on voting by poll. A notice to Shareholders
is sent by the Company at least twenty-one (21) days before the annual
general meeting and at least fifteen (15) days before all other general

meetings.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with
its investors. Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them posted of the Company'’s

developments.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings for each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
Shareholders' consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Shareholders either individually
or collectively holding 10% or more of the shares of the Company may,
through signing one or more written requisition(s) in the same form and
content stating the topics to be discussed at the meeting, require the Board
of Directors to convene an extraordinary general meeting. The Board shall
give a written response as to whether or not it agrees to convene such an
extraordinary general meeting within 10 days upon receipt of the request in
accordance with the requirements of the laws, administrative regulations, the

Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

If the Board agrees to convene the extraordinary general meeting, a notice of
such meeting shall be issued within five days after resolution of the Board is
passed. Where there are other requirements imposed by laws, administrative
regulations, departmental rules and the securities regulatory rules of the

place where the Company's shares are listed, such requirements shall prevail.

If the Board does not agree to convene the extraordinary general meeting,
or fails to make a response within 10 days upon receipt of the request,
the shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or more of the
shares of the Company shall have the right to propose to the Supervisory
Committee to convene the extraordinary general meeting. Such request shall

be made to the Supervisory Committee in writing.

If the Board of Supervisors agrees to convene the extraordinary general
meeting, it shall serve a notice of such meeting within 5 days after receipt
of the said request. Changes in the original proposal in the notice shall be

subject to the approval of relevant shareholders.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholder(s) individually or jointly
holding 3% or more of the Company’s shares shall have the right to make
a proposal to the Company at a shareholders’ general meeting of the

Company.

The shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the
Company'’s shares may make provisional proposals in writing to the convener
of a shareholders’ general meeting 10 days prior to the meeting. The
convener shall issue a supplementary notice of the shareholders’ general
meeting and announce the contents of such provisional proposals within

two days after receipt thereof.

Except as provided by the preceding paragraph, the convener of a
shareholders’ general meeting shall not amend the proposals already
specified in the notice of the shareholders’ general meeting or add new
proposals subsequent to the issuance of the notice of the shareholders’

general meeting.

Proposals which are not specified in the notice of the shareholders’ general
meeting or which do not comply with the Articles of Association shall not be

voted on and resolved at the shareholders’ general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries. For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders
must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice,
statement or enquiry (as the case may be) to the following address and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give

effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by

law.

Address: 22/F, Caizihui No. 188, Qianpu Road, Siming District,
Xiamen City, Fujian Province, the PRC (For the attention
of Company Secretary)

Tel No.: 0592 5063275

E-mail: yanzhiwu@yanzhiwu.cn
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For enquiries about H share shareholdings, Shareholders should direct their
enquiries to the Company's H Share Registrar. Their details are as follows:

Name: Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel No.: (852) 2980 1333

Email: is-enquiries@vistra.com

POLICIES RELATING TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has in place a Shareholders” Communication Policy to ensure
that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. During
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company has reviewed the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and
considered that the policy was effectively implemented with the measures as
disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Communications with Shareholders

and Investors”and “Shareholder Rights”.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends. The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. No
dividend shall be declared or payable except out of the profits and reserves
lawfully available for distribution. According to relevant PRC laws, any future
net profit that the Company makes will have to be first applied to make up
for the historically accumulated losses, after which the Company will be
obliged to allocate 10% of the net profit to the statutory common reserve
fund until such fund has reached more than 50% of the registered capital.
The Company will, therefore, only be able to declare dividends after: (i) all the
historically accumulated losses have been made up for; and (ii) the Company
has allocated sufficient net profit to the statutory common reserve fund as

described above.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, a new amended Articles of Association of the Company were
approved by the Shareholders at the AGM of the Company held on May 21,
2024.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated March 25,
2024, the circular dated April 25, 2024 and the poll results announcement
dated May 21, 2024. An up-to-date version of the Articles of Association is
available on both the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkewnews.hk)

and the Company (www.yanzhiwu.com).
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ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") report (the “Report”)
of Xiamen Yan Palace Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd. (the “Company’, together
with its subsidiaries “the Group’, “Yan Palace” or “we”), highlighting its ESG
performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as

described in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules set out by The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited. The Group has complied with all “comply or explain”

provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide during the reporting period
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Boundary

This Report covers the Group's overall environmental and social performance
in manufacturing, processing, and selling of pure bird’s nest products,
“bird’s nest+" products and “+bird’s nest” products, and other operations in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC" or “Mainland China"), during the

Reporting Period unless otherwise specified.

The scope has covered all sites with major operations during the Reporting
Period, including 2 offices, 9 retail companies and 4 production sites. The

total area accounting was 114,300.47 m?.

Reporting Principles

The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following principles:

Materiality — materiality assessments have been carried out to identify
material environmental and social issues that have major impacts on
investors and other stakeholders, the significant stakeholders, procedures,
and results of the engagement of which are presented in the section

“Stakeholder Engagement”and “"Materiality Assessment”in the Report.

Quantitative - key performance indicators ("KPI(s)") have been established,
and are measurable and applicable to make valid comparisons under
appropriate conditions; information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions, and/or calculation tools used, and sources of conversion factors

used, have been disclosed when applicable.
Balance - performance of the Group was presented in an unbiased and

impartial manner. Reasons for omission have been disclosed if the omission

is inevitable.
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Consistency — consistent statistical methodologies and presentation of KPIs

have been used to allow meaningful comparisons of related data over time.

Reporting Language

The Report is published in both English and Traditional Chinese versions. In

case of discrepancies, the Chinese version shall prevail.

Board Statement

The Board of Directors of the Group (the “Board”) places great importance
on ESG efforts. The Board integrates sustainable development into the
Group's development strategy, constructing and implementing a scientific
and professional ESG governance framework. It refines and enforces the
responsibilities and authorities at all levels within the ESG governance
framework to enhance the Board's supervision and participation in
the Group’s ESG affairs. Based on the external socio-economic macro
environment and the Group’s development strategy, the Group dynamically
assesses the significance of ESG issues, discusses and determines the risks
and opportunities in ESG for the Group, and prioritizes the management
and enhancement of key issues as the focus of the annual sustainable

development work.

The Board is fully responsible for establishing and reviewing the Group's
ESG management policies, strategies, priorities, and objectives. It regularly
reviews the progress of ESG objectives and assesses their relevance to the
Group's business, aiming to achieve the Company's long-term, balanced, and

high-quality sustainable development.

This Report was confirmed by the Environmental, Social, and Governance
Committee (hereinafter referred to as the ESG Committee) and approved by
the Board on March 14, 2025.
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Certifications and Certificates

The Group is committed to the ultimate pursuit of quality, striving to create

and deliver bird’s nest products that align with globally recognized standards.

Through an excellent quality management system and relentless efforts, we

have obtained the following certifications:

1SO 22000: Food safety management system certification
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BRC food safety global certification standard
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IFS International food standard certification
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IMS integrity management system certification
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Bird’s nest product certification
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BIFRAA

Awards and Recognitions

gk AL

AR (FEIReIE

2024 Global Impact Bird’s Nest Brand Annual Brand of the Iconic Brand Ceremony

TARGET TASTE Selection
—ENEEERRFENKRERE
TARGET TASTE B 1Z 2 i

CCTV 2024 National Brand Annual Ceremony
I R % AL £F B fm 2
CCTV2024 K B i i 4F & 2% it

2024E|THRE®RIL10038188
e HLEA
! BIAX 6235600
HIAX 3599159
BEX 2490317

Top 100 Private Manufacturing Enterprises in Fujian Province Top 100 Private Enterprises in Xiamen

Fujian Federation of Industry and Commerce
BEAREXREDLX1008
BEA I

Xiamen Federation of Industry and Commerce
ErfTRE D100
=PI T h
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P eRE
LLE DL

PR

The Sixth “Egret Cup” Cross-Strait Industrial Design
Competition Egret Product Bronze Award
Fujian Provincial Department of Industry and Information
Technology, Xiamen Government, Xiamen Bureau of Industry
and Information Technology, etc.
EREBERFIBRIERFTAEORERAR
BEALRGE EFMTEN  BEFTIERE

2 HERSMEERES
V| BEEARZ —NEZRES R

= F K

PERIHFRRER
2024118

Second Prize in the Scientific and
Technological Progress Award
Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology
PERMES R _ER
TEERABERTEE

RIR - HERER®ME

iE 45
Ao
RBRRERRBARAT

ARG "B RBIN IS K™ AZ20245 INEE T8 RN |
LT |
HREIE.

Mo
feitbiin

The “Smart Online Scene Detection Solution” was selected as a
2024 China Light Industry Digital Transformation Leader Case
China Light Industry Informatization Conference
[EER L ESRABRFREIABR-_Z_IF
PEBIEHFCEIERE RS
PREETRXES(ERS

20245 EHARRT “Ful MHIARRLERSS (IEHASHENRSHT)

'
| ST ‘ F-RRARERE ‘mzn‘ £
4%

ﬁ‘ AR CRH) 4%

The "Development of Intelligent Manufacturing Automation
Equipment for Key Processing Technology of Instant Bird's
Nest" case won the First Prize in Xiamen's Million Workers

"Five Small" Innovation Competition
Xiamen Federation of Trade Unions Office
(MR EEEEN I IEE SR EEBHLRERR]
ROSEBEMATEERIIE N AFAE-S18
EFfMAISHAE
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W BEREDREABLT
ELE

R

%
@ iR R Top10
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Bird’s Nest Peptide Raw Material Won the
“Amazing China Raw Material”
“China Innovative Raw Material Top 10 Award”

Chunlei Agency
HRERERRE 7T TEPEER [ FTRAE
[ ERIF R R Top105E |

s

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social
and governance approach and performance. Please give your suggestions or

share your views with us via email at yanzhiwu@yanzhiwu.cn.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
Governance Structure

The Group has established a three-tier ESG governance system composed of
the Board, the ESG Committee, and the executive departments. The Board, as
the highest decision-making body, is responsible for ESG strategies, reporting,
and assessing and mitigating ESG-related risks. As a permanent institution
directly under the General Office, the ESG Committee (upgraded and
renamed from the former ‘Green Development Strategy Committee’ within
the year) coordinates and oversees the Group's sustainable development
efforts. The executive departments are responsible for implementing specific

ESG initiatives to ensure the strategy is executed.

Among them, the core functions of the ESG Committee include:

Formulating and implementing ESG development strategic planning,
systematically promoting key measures such as energy saving,

consumption reduction, and pollution reduction;

Building an ESG risk identification and response mechanism, establishing

an immediate reporting system for major issues;

Improving the ESG information disclosure system to ensure compliance

and transparency.

The committee operates a cross-departmental coordination mechanism,
composed of management representatives from key departments of the
Company, such as the Legal Department, Production Department, and
Human Resources Department. All members have received professional
training on ESG development and recommended methods, deepening their
understanding of the best ESG practices. The ESG Committee has established
a meeting mechanism combining quarterly meetings and special meetings
to ensure efficient communication with the Board and timely reporting of

major ESG risks.

RIR - HERER®ME

TRAREEE
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AEBORYHAEEE ESGREE - HITTHIP
BRH=RESCE AR R - EFGERTZPRE
W - RRESGREE - & ARG RARARESG
HRARER - (ERBENEBERMEE © ESGEB
2 (HRIBEERBEZBES I EFAARE
%) REHARENATFEZRIIE - BITHM
AR EEEABESGR - HREREM -

HIEL BEIBESCHE REESIRE - RETIEMEED
b BRAE RS E BRI

BIEESGRR BRI HEN MG - BUEAE
AR R HIE

TEESGERRERAR  BRARIMEER

ERERKMER - TERKE AR BERBESGE
BAEZSENZESE  MEATESHRE
ESCEEBM TR - ESGREERUEFESEENE
BERHAEANZEZLS  BREASEFRES
RBB - REFREEKRESGER

ZE PGSR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 119



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE  HERERA®ME

Commitment to Sustainable Development

The Group considers ESG principles to be a vital component of its core
corporate competitiveness. These principles align with national priorities
such as high-quality development, ecological civilization protection, the
development of new productive forces, and the rule of law in business
operations. ESG has become a crucial benchmark for assessing sustainable
and high-quality development. Advancing ESG initiatives is a comprehensive
endeavor that encompasses all facets of corporate operations, from
strategic planning to daily management, and from production processes
to supply chain systems, with each element closely interconnected and

interdependent.

We have deeply integrated ESG principles into the Group's strategic
framework, viewing this integration as a core driver for long-term growth and
value creation through key business areas such as technological innovation,
quality management, supply chain management, and intelligent production.
Through this strategic initiative, we not only lay a solid foundation for the
Group's long-term stable and sustainable development but also set a new

benchmark for green and innovative development in the industry.

Simultaneously, the Group leverages modern corporate management
and investment evaluation systems to thoroughly explore and expand
sustainable business value, providing robust momentum for the high-quality
development of the national economy. Through concrete actions, we
fulfill our corporate social responsibility and promote the harmonious

advancement of the economy, society, and the environment.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The opinions and suggestions of stakeholders are crucial for the Group’s
business decisions and development. We highly value stakeholders and
actively understand and listen to their expectations regarding the Group's
ESG management strategies and practices, using this as an important
consideration for optimizing our management strategies and practices. Based
on the Company's own business characteristics and operational conditions,
and drawing on the experiences and practices of excellent peers, we have
identified key stakeholders, including employees, shareholders, clients,
service providers, regulators, and the media, and established communication

methods suitable for expressing concerns for different stakeholders.

Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels

RIR - HERER®ME
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Employees Employees trainings
Employee activities
Employee communication meetings
Internal online communication platform
Internal training platform Yan Palace Academy
Meetings and discussion sessions
Shareholders Annual Reports
Annual General Meetings
Information disclosure
Investor hotline
Hotlines
Public email
Social media
Clients Meetings and seminars
Customer service hotline
Customer satisfaction survey
Service providers Supplier evaluation
Meetings and seminars
Regulators Meetings and seminars
Consultation discussion
Media Annual Reports
Investor hotline
Public email
Press release
Social media

Industry conference
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Materiality Assessment

EEMME

This year, there have been no significant changes to our stakeholder group,
business, and operating environment. Therefore, the Board and the ESG
Committee confirm that the results of last year's materiality matrix remain
applicable to this year's situation and continue to respond to stakeholder

expectations, so it will be used again this year.
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Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement
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B. Labour Practices 3 T E R

RIR - HERER®ME

C. Operational Practices & E 18l

1 Energy 1 Employment Policies 1 Supply Chain Management
1 88IR 1 EMEBE 1 HERER

2 Water 2 Occupational Health and Safety 2 Intellectual Property

2K pRE SRR RS 2 FIBERE

3 Air Emissions

3 BRI

3 Development and Training
3 R KIE

3 Data Protection

3 BURIRE

4 Waste and Effluent
4 FEY) 105K

4 Labour Standards
4 4T AR

4 Customer Service

4 EF R

5 Other Raw Materials Consumption

5 Hi R EDERE

5 Product/Service Quality
s5ER/ RBEE

6 Environmental Protection Measures
6 BRI

6 Anti-corruption
6 RE)S

7 Climate Change
7 RIRRIE

7 Community Investment

7 HRIRE
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According to the survey results, in conjunction with industry characteristics, BEASHERREGITESE  KRMABHILE
we have identified that labor and operational issues are considered more ITREEFTENAAEREHSE RBALREREIE
important than environmental issues. Five of the most material topics are: HNZEEEREZ - L TRAESEZENZER

1. Employment; 1. R

2. Health and Safety; 2. RBEEEZE

3. Development and Training; 3. BERREI

4. Labour Standards; and 4. BIER: R

5. Customer Service. 5. BPRT -

Materiality Topics EE % The Group’s Responses Z< 5 B #Y 5 f&
Employment « Fairand inclusive hiring processes
=% - AFRBAMNEBERRE

Equal opportunities for career advancement
RBEEREHRATHOKRS
Competitive compensation and benefits

A5 e R Aa T

Health and Safety « Robust health and safety protocols
[EE e - AIERREEZEHE

Preventing accidents, injuries, and occupational hazards
b BEEFR  RIGRBERE
Regular risk assessments and safety training
EH R R 2 E
Compliance with health and safety regulations
BT RERET AR
Proactive reporting and continuous improvement
TR R EE

Development and Training . Comprehensive training programs for employee development through “Yan Palace
Academy”, and other offline courses

Bl - BRIHCZEZRIUREMETRIEAESRRIEH2EEIIGE
Enhancing skills and knowledge aligned with organizational objectives
R EARA B IR — BV R B R A
Opportunities for professional growth and mentorship
RUBERRLHEKE
Fostering a learning culture and adapting to industry trends
BESBIEWEETEBS
Continuous learning and skill enhancement

FESE RBERTT
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The Group’s Responses Z< 5 & #Y 5 f&

Labour Standards
4 T AR

Customer Service

PR

Adherence to labour standards and regulations

&SP 85 THER SOEHR

Fair employment practices and compliance with laws
NFERE R E AR

Respectful and inclusive work environment
EENBENIIERE

Addressing employee feedback and complaints

R (R B R B4R

No discrimination, harassment, or forced labour
WIS - BB asAss T

Exceptional customer service as a priority
SEHEFREESERER

High-quality products, services, and support

BEER  RBERIE

Customer-centric culture and responsiveness with the advanced customer service system
NEP /RO - BEEENT P RERR
Continuous improvement based on customer feedback
RIBEE PO REBEFRHEIUE

Building trust and long-term customer relationships

BEEEELRMNEPEE
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Types of emissions the Group was involved in the Reporting Period were

mainly natural gas, petrol, diesel, and electricity. The business strictly

adheres to the national laws and regulations regarding air, water, and

land pollution, which include but are not limited to:

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC

Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental

Pollution by Solid Waste

Regulations on the Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution in Fujian

Province

1. Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions

The table below shows the breakdown of GHG emissions of the

Group during the Reporting Period:

5

SERREPAS RO RELTER
KRR EBTE S  HMINER
BRETEREEZER - KRIHFTEN
ERER  BRETER

(hEARAMBERZREE)

(hE AR KBRS R8%)

(R EE AR AFIBIKFRERE)
(hEE AR KB E B YS RREN
AR

(lRid DIESABA IR

BEREHER

TREJIAEENREHANAEER
B

2024 Emission

Scope of GHG emissions Emission Sources (in tCOe)
“E_NFHERE
BEREENEER BB AR (=S tmEEs)
Scope 1
&=
Direct Emission Stationary source': Natural gas 1,686.48
BHEVR BEIEHIR - RAR
Mobile source?: Petrol 168.65
FEETESRIR? - U
Mobile source?: Diesel 8.44
FEEIE R - S0
Subtotal 1,863.57
Nt
Scope 2
g2
Indirect Emission Purchased Electricity? 6,542.98
12 BE A fBES
Subtotal 6,542.98
Nt
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2024 Emission

Scope of GHG emissions Emission Sources (in tCOe)
“ECNFHRE
BEREENEER BERORIR (=S tmEET)
Scope 3
£E3
Other Indirect Emissions Paper waste disposal 683.74
H A HE REALER TR
Electricity used for freshwater
processing 7411
BRIEKKFTAE N
Electricity used for wastewater
processing* 3247
BRIBS/KFTAE
Business air travel 158.00
A zE Z ik
Subtotal 948.32
INEE
Total 9,354.87
e
Intensity (tCO,e/m?) 0.08
BE(M_StRER FHXK)
Intensity (tCO,e/RMB Million of Revenue) 4.56

BE(M_SLthEE  AR¥ERTKVA)
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Note 1: The emission factor for natural gas consumption was referred to
Stationary Combustion Tool 4.1 by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

Note 2: The emission factor for petrol consumption was referred to
Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules and their referred documentation
as set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Note 3: The emission factor for electricity consumption was referred to the
National Emission Factors for Mainland China for 2022, outlined by
the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC in 2024.

Note 4: Wastewater statistics have included all production sites, except one
from Shanghai that was unable to provide related data, as their
wastewater was collected and handled by the industrial park.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations resulted in
the emission of 9,354.87 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
GHG. Scope 1 emissions were primarily due to natural gas usage
in the cafeteria and emissions from Group vehicles, Scope 2
emissions were related to carbon emissions from electricity used in
operations, and Scope 3 emissions included carbon emissions from

waste paper, freshwater and wastewater treatment, and air travel.

To demonstrate our commitment to low-carbon operations, the
Group has established GHG emission reduction targets. The Group
aims to reduce the intensity of GHG emissions by 5% to 8% within
ten years compared to the levels in 2023. This year, due to business
growth and an increase in the area of operational sites, our GHG
emissions have increased compared to last year. We will continue
to implement strict policies and monitoring mechanisms to ensure

the achievement of this target.
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2. Emission Sources 2. BERURIR
(i) Direct Emission (i) EEHH

During the Reporting Period, the Group added 6 cars,
consuming a total of 63,404.92 liters of petrol and 3,189 liters of
diesel throughout the year. Additionally, the Group's canteen
used natural gas, consuming a total of 779,200 cubic meters of
natural gas during the year. The table below summarizes the

annual emissions related to this fuel consumption:

Air emissions Annual total (kg)
Sulphur oxides 0.98
Nitrogen oxides 356.44
Particulate matter (PM) 27.63

The Group has implemented a series of measures to minimize
the generation of air pollutants as much as possible. Since
2020, the Group has switched the boiler fuel from diesel to
natural gas, effectively reducing emissions. The gas boilers
use low-nitrogen burners to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions.
Additionally, the Group prioritizes the procurement of electric
and hybrid vehicles to control emissions from mobile sources.
For laboratory exhaust, we employ water spraying and
activated carbon adsorption techniques to minimize emissions
to the greatest extent possible. These measures aim to reduce
and minimize the release of harmful pollutants into the

environment.

RBERA - REEFIEHE A
B FERNEEF63,404.92 70
3189 F 5 « AN EEARE
RARRE  FRAHBERAR
77928 5K o TR T HEZ
ELEE 2 BN FERE RN

BESR B EEAYHE (TR)

=R g 0.98
RELY 356.44
BRI (PM) 27.63

REERR— RIHEHE - 3R] e
DPERARYMNEL - AEE_—F
ZTFERIEMNE B SOh AR R
R BRFHERERBEN - MARAE
RAERANEE WD RAEY
BVBERR o SN - REEFTEREEITE
BEBETY  RBHEH  =HB
BRNERIINE - BNERERE
R HAAIEE EETKEM A
RILHIBETE - SRR D BER,
IR - R E RO NEER
PEEISRYBEREREED o
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3. Waste Management

(i)

(ii)

Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of
4.51 tonnes of hazardous waste. The waste generation intensity

was 0.04 kg/m? or 2.20 kg/RMB million of revenue.

The hazardous waste mainly comprised items such as
laboratory waste, printing ink, and cleaning detergent
originating from the Group’s production sites. To ensure
proper management, these materials were segregated from
general waste and responsibly transferred to recognized
recyclers or property management companies. These entities
were entrusted with the appropriate handling, treatment,
recycling, or disposal of the hazardous waste, in accordance

with applicable regulations and best practices.

The Group has established emission reduction targets for
hazardous waste. The Group aims to reduce the intensity of
hazardous waste generation by 5% to 8% within ten years

compared to the levels in 2023.

Non-Hazardous Waste

Non-hazardous waste primarily consisted of packaging material
disposal. Recyclable waste was collected and processed by
qualified waste treatment companies, while non-recyclable
waste was managed by property management or cleaning

companies for disposal or landfilling.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total
of 295.64 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, with a waste
generation intensity of 2.59 kg/m? and 144.21 kg/RMB million

of revenue.

The Group has established emission reduction targets for
non-hazardous waste. The Group aims to reduce the intensity
of waste generation by 5% to 8% within ten years compared to
the levels in 2023.
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(iii) Wastewater

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of
154,635 m* of wastewater. This year, due to relocation to a
new plant and expanded production capacity, the volume of
wastewater increased. All wastewater generated by the Group
was treated in compliance with relevant regulations. The
wastewater underwent centralized treatment at the production
sites’ sewage treatment station to ensure that the discharged
water met the standards. The discharge complied with the
"Comprehensive Wastewater Discharge Standard” GB8978-1996
by the PRC, which is a third-level discharge standard. This
standard ensures that the wastewater discharged by the Group

meets the required environmental quality criteria.

4. Use of Resources and Efficiency Initiatives

(i)

(ii)

Energy Consumption and Efficiency

During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption
was 12,193,402.09 kWh, with an energy intensity of 106.68
kWh/m?and 5,948 kWh/RMB million revenue.

To promote energy conservation, the Group has implemented
several measures. In non-production areas, the air conditioning
temperature is set to a minimum of 26°C to save electricity.
A real-time monitoring system has been set up to track
water usage and electricity consumption. This system allows
for the detection of any abnormalities and enables prompt

investigation and resolution.

Water Consumption and Efficiency

During the Reporting Period, the water consumption by the
Group was 241,870.91 m?, with water intensity of 2.12 m?*/m?

and 117.99 m3*/RMB million of revenue.
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The Group has implemented measures to enhance water
efficiency within its operations. One of the key initiatives
involves the installation of water-saving valves in daily faucets,
which help conserve water during regular usage. Furthermore,
effective water consumption control measures have been
implemented in production workshops to minimize water
usage. For sterilization cooling water, we recycle as much as

possible and reuse purified water and concentrated water.

Aligning with the commitment, the Group has established a
water usage target to reduce water consumption by 5% to 8%
compared to the level in 2023 over the next ten years. This
target reflects the Group's dedication to sustainable water
management and resource conservation. This year, due to
business growth and an expansion in operational site areas,
our water usage has increased compared to last year. Moving
forward, we will continue to promote water conservation and

enhance water usage efficiency.

We have not encountered any issues in procuring water

sources that meet the required standards and purposes.

(iii) Packaging Materials

The Group used 619.06 tonnes of packaging materials during
the Reporting Period. The packaging materials are mainly glass
bottles, cartons and plastics. The cartons used can be broken
down and recycled. See chart below for the breakdown of

packaging materials used:

Packaging Materials

BEMR
Plastics
SR}
5%

Glass bottles
e
74%

m Cartons m Glass bottles
= A4 = I
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Additionally, Yan Palace is committed to incorporating
eco-friendly materials in the packaging of certain products.
By using recyclable materials and introducing sustainable
alternatives, the Group aims to minimize packaging waste and
contribute to reducing the environmental footprint throughout
the entire product lifecycle. Yan Palace consistently follows
the path of sustainable development, responding to the
national call for energy conservation and emission reduction,
continuously upgrading the craftsmanship and packaging
of bird’s nest products, and embedding green concepts into
the products. Yan Palace’s 115T Fresh Stewed Bird's Nest
(Eco-friendly Edition) uses highly moldable and recyclable
sugarcane residue eco-friendly materials for the inner tray
of the gift box. The inner tray material is plastic-free and can
naturally degrade in three months, becoming nourishment
for nature without releasing any toxic or harmful substances
during the degradation process, making it green, healthy, and
eco-friendly. Furthermore, the product volume in the gift box
packaging is significantly reduced, saving packaging materials
and reducing energy consumption during transportation. This
year, we commissioned a third-party certification by CTI to
analyze and measure the carbon reduction of the Fresh Stewed
Bird's Nest packaging before and after the upgrade. According
to the measurement results, the Group has reduced 3,853.42
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent, which is equivalent to the
carbon sequestration of planting 255,193 trees for one year.
The Group will continue to respond to the national call for
green development and contribute as much as possible to the

protection of the Earth’s ecological environment.
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5. The Environment and Natural Resources 5. BIERBARER
(i) FEHREHEAE

(i) Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

We are committed to protecting the environment and
reducing our carbon footprint, striving to conserve natural
resources, reduce energy consumption, minimize waste, and
promote recycling. We prioritize maintaining the quality of
our products and services while implementing management

measures to achieve these goals.

The Group's products are made from bird’s nests, which are
naturally abandoned by edible-nest swiftlets after they mature
and leave the nest. The Group collaborates with the Indonesian
National Research and Innovation Agency to conduct scientific
research on the natural ecology of edible-nest swiftlets and the
scientific management system of swiftlet houses, promoting
the sustainable development of the bird’s nest industry.
Based on research into the natural ecological environment
of edible-nest swiftlets, a multi-dimensional production area
assessment system has been established, resulting in the
publication of the “Yan Palace Indonesia Bird's Nest Production
Area Grading Report V2.0" To ensure responsible sourcing, the
Group maintains close cooperation with suppliers in Southeast
Asia, selecting only abandoned edible-nest swiftlet nests for
production. Suppliers install artificial birdhouses to provide
a protected habitat for the swiftlets, safequarding them
from predators and creating a safe breeding environment.
This approach supports the healthy growth of the swiftlet
population and enables the Group to continue producing
bird's nest products with minimal environmental impact.
Therefore, the method of raw material collection by the Group
has a negligible impact on the environment and natural

resources.
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Image: Collaborating with Indonesia to conduct scientific research on the natural ecology of the

Edible-nest Swiftlet and the scientific management system of swiftlet houses.
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We have developed and implemented a reliable Quality and
Environmental Management Manual (YZW-QM-02), which
outlines the Company’s quality and environmental policies
and objectives, including specific requirements of the
environmental management system. The aim is to achieve
the purpose of ‘environmental protection and pollution
prevention’ through the implementation, maintenance, and
improvement of the environmental management system.
By effectively operating the Company’s environmental
management system, we prevent, eliminate, and reduce
environmental risks that may affect other related parties
during the production process, to achieve or gradually achieve
various environmental requirements and objectives. As part
of the Group's commitment to becoming a sustainable food
company, the Group has taken the following measures and

initiatives:

Greener Office Operation: By implementing management
systems such as SCM (Supply Chain System), WMS (Warehouse
Management System), and MES (Manufacturing Execution
System), the Group promotes paperless office and real-time
management practices to reduce the emission of pollutants
like office waste paper and ink. The Group has integrated with
the traceability system of the China Academy of Inspection and
Quarantine to establish a comprehensive digital management
platform covering raw material procurement, production, and
terminal services, achieving visual control of the supply chain.
Additionally, we encourage employees to conserve electricity,
water, and energy, and to practice resource recycling and

standardized waste disposal.

Research and Development and Upgrades: The Group is
committed to strengthening its investment in research and
development by establishing new research and development
(R&D) laboratories and collaborating with prestigious domestic
and international universities and research institutions. This
will enable the Group to conduct research projects focused
on the unique characteristics of edible bird’s nest products.
Upgrading raw materials, optimizing production processes,
upgrading packaging designs, and recruiting R&D talents will
be undertaken to expand the product portfolio and enhance
product functionality. The use of environmentally friendly
materials in packaging will also be implemented to reduce

consumption.
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Production Optimization: The Group is developing modern
industrial parks by constructing factories, adopting advanced
equipment, and implementing intelligent management
systems. In May 2024, it was transitioned to a new facility —
the Yan Palace Intelligent Factory. The management platform
of the new factory integrates subsystems such as energy
consumption monitoring, intelligent security, and fire warning,
significantly enhancing management response efficiency. The
Group's independently developed water recycling treatment
system achieves tertiary reuse of production water, effectively

reducing water consumption per unit of product.

The new production line incorporates advanced sterilization
equipment. This shift has led to the implementation of a
recycling, cooling and utilization system, which reduces water
usage compared to the previous direct discharge method. For
gas boilers, low-nitrogen combustion technology has been
adopted, resulting in exhaust emissions that are significantly
below the emission limits. Furthermore, the automation of
the production process has enhanced the efficiency of the
entire production line and reduced energy consumption.
The production building is also equipped with modular air
conditioning units, effectively lowering air conditioning energy
consumption. These measures will help ensure a stable supply
of raw materials, improve supply chain efficiency, reduce
costs, and enhance market competitiveness while minimizing

environmental pollution.

By implementing these measures and initiatives, the Group
aims to fulfill its commitment to sustainable development and

establish itself as a responsible company in the food industry.
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6. Climate Change
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6. Wizt

Risk Type Climate Risks  Time Horizon Trend Potential Financial Impact
R ER RARE K REEE Be BENBBERE

Acute Short term Increase  Extreme weather events with increased severity during cyclones,
hurricanes, storm surges, and floods can cause supply chain
interruption by bringing damage to local infrastructure, may lower
the supply of bird’s nest, thus affecting business continuity, and pose
challenges to the protection of employees’ health and safety.

=t 2 HA £ RERGEE0ERE - RES - BEHOEXNEEREEM 7

Physical RS ESER R - BB AR  BERBNHE Y

Risks BEBHENL  THREEENRERZZHEKKE -

EERR Chronic Long term Increase  Longer-term shifts in climate patterns can increase capital costs,
operating costs, costs of human resources, and increased insurance
premiums. Potential rise in energy consumption, resulting in higher
utility bills and operating expenses.

=4k = 2N SEEANRDBELCAIREMERRE BERE - ANERK
- WEMRRER - RERNEERASHAREXRENE
LRI -

Policy and Legal Short to Increase  Implementation of tightened environmental laws, stringent

medium term requirements on climate disclosures, and a carbon pricing system
increases operating costs.

B AER R B2 BREERBORREER HRRERENRERERLNREEBRSE
IEERA

Reputation Medium term Increase  Stakeholders’ concerns on climate-related issues of the Group might
dampen the investment sentiment of investors, impacting the stock
price and market capitalization of the Group, and hence increasing
the liquidity risk.

BE A 2 MEEREHAEERRIEERRENEIT IR EENRE
Bt FEAEENRENDE  TEZ RS LR

. Market Short to Increase  Under policy and market guidance, and as customers are increasingly

e medium term aware of lower-carbon alternatives and the importance of

o environmental protection, they will opt for greener products, such

BERR . . .
as certified low-carbon products, which may have an impact on the
Group's products.
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Technology Medium term Increase  Investments in new technologies may increase due to innovations in
production technology in response to environmental requirements
and product R&D findings, or Front-end costs may rise to adopt/
deploy new operations and processes.
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Risks and Challenges

The Group relies on suppliers from Southeast Asia, particularly
Indonesia, for the supply of raw bird's nest materials. Hence, it is
crucial to acknowledge that potential supply issues may arise if
natural disasters or climate change impact the source of these
materials. In such circumstances, the Group may encounter
difficulties in procuring an adequate number of raw materials from
its Southeast Asian suppliers, which could have a significant impact

on its business, financial condition, and operational performance.

Furthermore, the Group's operations are susceptible to adverse
effects resulting from various factors. Significant natural disasters
such as snowstorms, earthquakes, fires, or floods, along with the
outbreak of large-scale public health epidemics or other events like
environmental incidents and power shortages, can have detrimental
consequences for the Company's business and operations. These
events, irrespective of whether they occur in China or elsewhere,
including the escalation of epidemics due to climate change,
have the potential to disrupt the Group's operations and present

significant challenges.

The Group recognizes the importance of acknowledging the
potential risks posed by natural disasters or catastrophic events that
could impact its supply chain management, production processes,
or product demand. The Group understands that such events
can lead to substantial adverse consequences for its business
and remains committed to assessing and addressing these risks
accordingly, and proactive discussion will be brought out between

the Green Development Committee and the Board.
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Opportunities

The Group acknowledges the necessity to address climate change
and has taken proactive measures to mitigate its impact. The
Group has prioritized integrating advanced technologies into its
manufacturing processes to enhance energy efficiency. Recognizing
the growing demand for low-carbon products, the Group has also
devoted resources to research and optimize its upstream supply
chain while adopting environmentally friendly packaging solutions.
These efforts demonstrate the Group’s commitment to sustainable
practices and its dedication to minimizing its carbon footprint in

response to market demands and the global climate crisis.

B. SOCIAL

The Group deeply recognizes the critical importance of its social
performance to stakeholders. By conducting stakeholder engagement
surveys, social issues have been identified as extremely important, with

their significance reflected at all levels.

To ensure responsible social performance, the Group will strictly adhere
to laws and regulations and prioritize the development of relevant
policies. In the pursuit of customer satisfaction, the Group actively
promotes the establishment of an employee rights protection system,
dedicated to creating broader development opportunities and platforms
for employees. Additionally, the Group enthusiastically engages in social

welfare activities, fully supporting the development of charitable causes.

The Group consistently places social responsibility at the core of its
strategic development, remaining steadfastly committed to becoming
an industry benchmark and leader in the field of social responsibility.
The Group's responsibility commitments broadly cover areas such
as labor welfare protection, equality, health, and quality products. It
continuously increases resource investment and work efforts to actively
fulfill corporate social responsibility and contribute to the sustainable

development of society.
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1. Employment and Labour Practices

(i) Employment

The Group strictly complies with the respective employment

laws and regulations of the PRC as follows:

a)

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

Labour Law of the PRC
Labour Contract Law of the PRC

Social Insurance Law of the PRC

Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees

Law of the PRC on Protection of Minors

Provisions on the Prohibition of Child Labor

Law on the Protection of Women's Rights and Interests

Special Rules on the Labour Protection of Female

Employees

Employment Figures

The Group had a total number of 1,869 employees as of
31 December 2024, of whom all employees are from the

PRC, and all of them are full-time employees. The figures

below show the distribution of different categories:

By Gender
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By Employee Category
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b)  Turnover Figures
During the Reporting Period, a total of 931 formal
employees left the Group, all from the PRC. The overall
turnover rate was 49.81%. The below figure shows the

distribution of different categories:

Turnover Rate
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¢) Equal Opportunity
The Group upholds a strong commitment to equal
opportunities and fair treatment for all employees.
We ensure that the recruitment process, training and
development programs, job advancement opportunities,
and compensation and benefits are provided without any
form of discrimination. Employees are not disadvantaged
based on factors such as gender, ethnic background,
religion, racial background, age, marital status, family
status, retirement, disability, pregnancy, or any other

characteristic protected by law.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

26-35

59%

31%

26-355%

36-45
36-455%

b)

RN E

WEBA - NEE£F31H
FEREERR - 9REHRE -
BERAEER4981% - A TE
RN RBTRERNE S MR

BRABR

29%

46-55

By Age Group
REEEREIS

c

46-555%

_

o
>

56 or above
565R %A

FEHE
REBEBAR - X FORE
miE - BEBIRRAERE
RHEFEREMATEE - B
PIRIEE R R R B HRE
EERMEA - BRAE B
FNERBERAZIR - B
BER FE B Fik-
IEIRAOR ~ KEAMR - BIK
BRI BPREERFRENT
MEMERERRNTE - [
B RPIRER R BRI R 3
Rt - THEEFHE AR
P 242 ) 05 IR & B B (A
A BT -



a)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HBRERRE

To support working mothers, the Group offers a nursery
room, recognizing the importance of work-life balance
and providing a supportive environment for parents.
Moreover, the Group promotes a culture of continuous
learning and growth by offering diverse training
courses that are accessible to every employee, fostering
professional development opportunities for all members

of the organization.

Competitive Compensation and Benefits Package

The Group has established a comprehensive and
competitive compensation and benefit system, and is
committed to providing employees with dignified job
security and sustainable career development. Employees
are entitled to a basic salary with various allowances as
per their job positions, age, and extra work hours, and
a year-end bonus based on performance. Basic social
insurance includes pension, medical, work-related injury,
unemployment compensation, and maternity. The Group
also provides various types of leave, including annual
leave, sick leave, work-related injury leave, marriage leave,

maternity leave, and compassionate leave.

To maintain competitive pay, we have implemented a
dynamic salary adjustment system. The Group regularly
reviews employees’ salaries based on business growth and
market price, maintaining a pay that is generally above
the market average. In the area of career development,
the Group provides employees with two promotion
opportunities per year, ensuring fair chances for

advancement.

ad)
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e) Employee Communication
Within the Group, there is a strong emphasis on employee
communication. The Group organizes various activities
during traditional festivals like the Lantern Festival,
International Women's Day, Children’s Day, Mid-Autumn
Festival, and Spring Festival. Additionally, the Group holds
regular employee communication meetings to foster open
dialogue and exchange of ideas. Moreover, the Group
encourages employee engagement through activities
such as book clubs and yoga classes, creating an inclusive

and interactive work environment.

(ii) Employee Health and Safety

As one of the five most material topics, improving the
occupational health and safety of employees is a key focus
for the Group. The Group complies with occupational
health-related laws and regulations of the PRC to avoid any
health risks from being imposed on its employees. These laws

and regulations are listed below:

Law of the PRC on Work Safety

Hygienic Standards for Design of Industrial Enterprises
Technical Specifications for Occupational Health
Monitoring

Occupational Exposure Limits to Hazardous Factors in the
Workplace

Specifications for the Selection of Personal Protective
Equipment

Sampling Specifications for Monitoring Hazardous
Substances

Determination of Point Substances in the Workplace

Work-Related Injury Identification Measures
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For employees exposed to chemicals in laboratories and those
exposed to noise in production areas, regular health checkups
are arranged to assess occupational disease risks. Relevant
employees are required to wear protective masks and earplugs,
and their compliance is ensured by team leaders before they
resume their duties. Annual fire emergency evacuation drills

are conducted for all employees.

To reduce the risk of gathering, we encourage employees
to stagger their meal times and strictly enforce the visitor
registration system to ensure a safe and controllable office
environment. At the same time, we maintain a sufficient supply
of health protective materials in the office, including masks,
disinfectants, and common medications, to provide immediate

protective support for employees.

To further improve the quality of the office environment, the
Group regularly carries out carpet cleaning and comprehensive
disinfection of the office to ensure the hygiene and safety of
the work areas. In addition, we provide each employee with
ergonomically designed office chairs and arrange adequate
lunchtime to promote their physical and mental health and
work efficiency. During the Reporting Period, the Group
provided a total of 1,089 hours of occupational health and
safety training for employees, averaging 0.58 hours of related

training per employee.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group experienced one
fatal work-related injury accident, where an employee died
after a sudden illness in the office during rescue attempts.
Moving forward, the Group will continue to advocate for
healthy living among employees and encourage physical
exercise. Additionally, there were two other work-related
injury incidents, with a cumulative loss of 143 days. After
reporting each case of work-related death and injury accidents,
the Group will take timely corrective measures and conduct
reviews. The table below provides data on occupational health

during the Reporting Period:

BERAR - AERERXBELIETE
RUEH Z—RBBTHERAER
BRRBRIRILT - AEESRE
EEMREEETRESE M
SR REIBAR - RANEA2ETHBE
B AHBRRBRI4BR - RE
FOITC  ITHEEHE  A&EE
e K B REVAL E 48 i A 1T 4R
A o TREIIMEHARNOBZE R
K&

2024 2023 2022
Category Rl —E-MEF == =z
Work-related fatality (person) THEIRTAS(A) 1 0 0
Rate of work-related fatalities (%) AT THAILE = (%) 0.05 0 0
Work injury cases >3 days (case) >3RI TEER () 2 1 2
Work injury cases <3 days (case) SR IEGEZR () 2 6 0
Total lost days due to work injury (days) L{5i8KAERE (XK) 143 381 85

(iii) /& L2155

(iii) Development and Training

The Group provides employees with compulsory induction
training and various internal training programs. These
programs cover areas such as work safety, transportation
safety, food safety, occupational health, job orientation,
anti-corruption and company culture. The objective of
these trainings is to enhance employees’ knowledge, skills,
productivity, and effectiveness in their respective roles, as well
as their understanding of relevant laws, regulations, policies,
procedures, and emergency response protocols, including

hazardous waste, fire and leakage.
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To further support employee development, the Group has
introduced the “Yan Palace Academy’, an online learning
platform accessible to all employees. This platform offers a
wide range of courses that can be completed online without
any time restrictions. Upon completion of each course,
employees are required to take online tests to assess their

understanding.

Furthermore, during the Reporting Period, the Group
conducted a total of 37,669 hours of training courses online
and offline, with an average of 20.15 hours of training received

by each employee.

RIR - HERER®ME

RTE—FTIHEEER XK
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The percentage of The average training hours

Category employees trained (%) (hours per employee)
5l ZIMEEED(%) TFHZIEH(DEA)
By gender Male 32% 19.03
RIERIE it
Female 68% 20.55
pegis
By employee category Senior Management 2% 20.26
RIEBERE D SRERE
Middle Management 5% 35.09
hRERE
Frontline and Other Employees 93% 19.61
Al 4% M B At e B
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(iv) Labour Standards (iv) ZEIZE

Labour standards is an important aspect of the Group given
its business nature. The Group strictly adheres to all labour
standard laws and regulations to protect children and prevent
child labour. The Group followed strictly on the PRC Law on

the Protection of Minors.

During the recruitment process, the Group ensures that
candidates’ age is verified by requesting identification
documents. The Group strictly prohibits the recruitment of
child labour or forced labour, and all employees are hired
through legal channels, meeting the requirements for
legitimate employment. If any such practices are discovered,
the Group takes immediate action to terminate contracts with
subcontractors or employees involved and conducts thorough

investigations to prevent recurrence.

No instances of non-compliance were reported during the

Reporting Period.

The Group recognizes that enhancing production and
management efficiency, ensuring food quality and safety, and
optimizing supplier management are crucial. Therefore, we
have established the Procurement and Supplier Management
Procedures (Y SN-QP-11) to continuously improve the supplier
management system and enhance the comprehensive and
multidimensional management level of the Group's supply
chain. During the Reporting Period, the Group employed 1,884

suppliers, with services and supplies covering:

ENARENEHILE - SRE
RAEEN—EEZSH - A%E
B ET I SBREERER A
REZERHIEET - WARFCH
FEARKMBRKE AREL)

EHREBEES  AEERREBBR
B G ERAX M RZBIREANF
e o ARBEBRERMBETHRES
B BB EIHEBAIERER
B feaeERIER —BE%H
ERLEITA - AEE AR
TTEIRIEEARY BRNBTHNA
R - WHEITRUEFE AN LSBT
REBIREE -

HEREAREREMRRAR -

2. Operating Practices 2. EEEH
(i) Supply Chain Management (i) HREHEETE

REBMRAN  REAREEMER
B BMRRMEENL 2R @ Bt
TiRAEEEEEKFEEEE -
Et - HAAVGIE T REBEMERE
BIEF(YSN-QP-11) » BBHE T
SHEFEERER - THIRALE
EHEENE RS EENGE
FAKF - RIEHM - RNEBHE
FA1,884 R IER - 00 RIS A
HEERE

Production facilities HE R
Welfare-related services & FAE B AR 75
Professional/technological services B RRE
Office supplies and services WA= o kRS
Raw material supplies JRMFHEL FE
Product development services Emif RS
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The geographical regions of the suppliers are shown in the

table below:

Geographical regions Numbers
Mainland China 1,864
Hong Kong 10
Indonesia 7
Singapore 1
Belgium 1
Japan 1
Total 1,884

The Group, in accordance with the “Supplier Management
Procedure’, for any single procurement amount exceeding
RMB100,000, the Procurement Department will arrange the
Legal Department to arrange a separate briefing on the
Anti-Corruption Bribery System and sign the “Supplier Integrity
Agreement’, thereby enhancing the overall transparency and
compliance of the supply chain. Through such measures, the
Group is committed to establishing a fairer, transparent, and
honest procurement environment, further reducing the risk of

commercial bribery and enhancing the trust of all stakeholders.

The Group has always regarded ESG performance as a key
factor in corporate development. This commitment is not
limited to our practices, but we actively integrate this concept
into our supply chain system, positively influencing and
promoting suppliers and partners’ understanding of corporate
responsibility, and driving all parties to enhance their ESG
awareness together. To ensure that all aspects of the supply
chain meet ESG standards, the Group includes clauses related
to employment, child labor elimination, social responsibility,
business ethics, and environmental protection in the contracts
signed with suppliers. Suppliers are required to adhere to
the policies agreed upon at the time of contract signing,
collectively maintaining a fair, just, and sustainable business

environment.
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Selection Process

The Group seeks suppliers that meet the requirements based
on actual needs during procurement. We categorize suppliers
into five types, A-E, according to product categories. When
selecting suppliers, we investigate the basic information of
potential suppliers, including qualifications, company size,
and corporate reputation. Depending on the category of
procurement products, suppliers are required to submit the
corresponding qualification documents. The procurement
department completes the “Supplier Investigation Form” and
submits it to the supplier evaluation team for review and
on-site assessment. For those requiring sample testing and
verification, testing and certification must also be conducted.
Only after passing the above reviews can new suppliers be

introduced.

Raw materials and packaging materials are particularly
important to us. For raw materials, suitable suppliers are
sought through methods such as independent development,
supplier-initiated samples, and referrals. After conducting
qualification audits and sample testing, the Group follows its
internal procedures to onboard new suppliers, including price
comparison and negotiation. These practices are applied to
all raw material suppliers. Supplier monitoring is carried out

through supplier audits and system audits.

For packaging materials, the procurement department
evaluates business requisitions, conducts market research, and
selects suppliers based on their basic information. Supplier
valuations are conducted using various methods such as onsite
audits, video audits, sample confirmations, and document
reviews, depending on the material category. Once a supplier
passes the evaluation by the assessment team, they are
included in the qualified supplier list. Business negotiations and
procurement activities with evaluated suppliers are conducted
based on the principle of obtaining high-quality products at a
reasonable cost. These practices are applied to all packaging

material suppliers.
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Continuous Monitoring

Continuous monitoring is an essential aspect of the Group's
supply chain management. For raw material suppliers,
compliance with relevant laws, regulations, and industry
standards of China and Indonesia is required. Suppliers
must possess the necessary qualifications and certifications
for the export and import of bird’s nests. Additionally,
suppliers must meet national standards and the Group’s
requirements to ensure product safety and quality. The Group
comprehensively manages and monitors all aspects of supplier
factories, including factory environment, capacity, personnel
management, tool usage, production processes, and quality
control. These measures help identify environmental and social
risks at each stage of the supply chain. Suppliers are expected

to comply with the Group's strict supplier management system.

For our existing suppliers, we conduct annual assessments
through supplier surveys and performance evaluations to
comprehensively review their quality, delivery, service, and
compliance performance. Additionally, we conduct regular
on-site audits every three years to deeply evaluate suppliers’
production capabilities, quality management systems, and
social responsibility practices. Furthermore, based on actual
needs, we will monitor suppliers through on-site quality
supervision and systematic document reviews. The Group also
performs regular internal and external audits at a frequency
of 1 to 2 times per month to ensure the effectiveness and

compliance of supply chain management.

For packaging materials, the Group has implemented the

following measures to mitigate risks:

1. Regular risk assessments. We carry out the “Supplier
Risk Assessment” process to evaluate supplier and material
risks annually, identifying factors such as industry risks,
environmental risks, and social risks (including microbial
contamination, allergen contamination, chemical
contamination, radioactive contamination, genetically
modified organisms, physical contamination, and cross-
contamination of varieties or categories). Based on the
final assessment levels, we take corresponding control

measures.
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2. Binding agreements. Fach year, we sign the “Quality,
Environmental, Occupational Health, and Safety
Management Agreement” with suppliers to clearly define
the terms and conditions that regulate their actions,
reducing quality incidents and constraining environmental
pollution (including pollutant emissions and resource
usage) and occupational health and safety events, thereby

promoting sustainable procurement.

3. Regular on-site assessments. We conduct an on-
site assessment of suppliers every three years,
comprehensively monitoring environmental and social
risks across various aspects such as supplier qualifications,
compliance, allergen management, microbial control
during production, traceability, control of non-conforming
products, complaint handling, product control and
packaging, product release procedures, personnel
management, HACCP reviews, product security and food
defense programs, product authenticity plans, good

operating practices, and production site conditions.

(ii) Product Responsibility

For 27 years, Yan Palace has been dedicated to producing
high-quality bird’s nest. To ensure the superior quality of its
products, every production step — from sorting and classifying,
hand-plucking feathers, stewing, to packaging inspection —
is strictly controlled with meticulous attention to detail. The
premium bird’s nest brand “Bow! Yan” undergoes 49 processes
from raw material to consumer, with rigorous checks at each
stage. Regarding raw materials, Yan Palace is committed to
excellence, selecting high-quality Edible-nest Swiftlet Bird's
Nest from its Indonesian production area, certified by customs
inspection and quarantine. In terms of craftsmanship, multiple
sorting experts meticulously hand-pluck feathers multiple

times to ensure the bird's nest is clean and free of impurities.
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Image: Craftsmanship sorting experts meticulously hand-pluck feathers
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and regulations, including but not limited to: pr

The Group places great importance on the legality and

compliance of its operations, strictly adhering to Chinese laws

Advertising Law

Interim Provisions on the Release of Food Advertisements
Trademark Law

Anti-Unfair Competition Law

Cosmetic Supervision and Administration Regulations
Food Safety Law

Food Labelling Management Regulations

Commodity Barcode Management Measures

Consumer Rights and Interests Protection Law

(EEE)

(RMBESEMEITRE)

eV
(RTEEHEFE)

(bt B B B IR IRH)

(RBREZE)

(RAFHREERE)
(RS ERIE)
CHBREESREL)

Civil Code (Ri=H)
Personal Information Protection Law CEAEBREE)
Cybersecurity Law (HEERZ 2%

Regulations for the Administration of Network Data Secutiry

(BRI 2ERED)

Criminal Law CHBEDY
Trademark Law (%)
Patent Law CEREY
Copyright Law CEIEREERD
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The Group has established a quality policy of “People-oriented,
Safety and Health, Rigorous and Persistent, Pursuing
Excellence”, and has developed and implemented a reliable
Quality and Environmental Management Manual (YZW-QM-02).
This manual outlines the Company’s quality and environmental
policies and objectives, setting specific requirements for the
Company’s quality and environmental management systems.
It guides the comprehensive quality control process of bird’s
nest product production and services, ensuring stable service
delivery to customers. Furthermore, the manual clarifies the
responsibilities and authorities of the relevant departments to
ensure the standardization and effectiveness of the Group's

entire production and service process.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to offering products and services with
high standards of safety, quality, and reliability. The Group
strictly adheres to the Product Quality Law of the PRC and

other relevant laws and regulations regarding product quality.

To ensure the health and safety of products and services, the
Group has established a comprehensive risk management
mechanism. When health and safety issues related to
products or services arise, the Group will promptly establish a
professional team or appoint designated personnel to oversee
the entire issue resolution process, ensuring that problems
are addressed in a timely and effective manner. The Group
strictly adheres to national laws and regulations to safeguard
public health and safety, providing legal compensation and
recalling relevant products as required. In the event of a
large-scale health and safety issue, the Group will not only
reinforce existing routine measures but will also promptly
issue necessary public statements to ensure transparency and

maintain public trust.

During the Reporting Period, there were no recorded
significant non-compliance incidents related to health and
safety concerning the products and services provided in

accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
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Advertising and Labelling

In terms of advertising and labeling management, the Group
places a high priority on compliance and accuracy. Upon
discovering any issues related to advertising or labeling, the
Group will swiftly assess the risks and take specific actions,
including recalls or corrective measures. At the same time, the
Group actively addresses any legal consequences that may
arise from such issues to prevent any expanded or adverse

impact on public perception.

During the Reporting Period, there were no recorded
significant non-compliance incidents related to advertising
and labeling concerning the products and services provided in

accordance with relevant laws and regulations.

Zero Product Recall

The Group adheres to the food safety policy of
“people-oriented, safety and health, meticulousness, and
pursuit of excellence,” as well as the quality policy of “natural,
environmentally friendly, high-quality, safe, and guarded by
life.” The Group has established a strict end-to-end quality
management system. Currently, the Group has obtained
certifications for quality management systems such as BRC, IFS,
HACCP, 1SO9001, 1SO14001, 1SO22000, and bird’'s nest product

certification.
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The Group has developed comprehensive procedural
management system documents that include but are
not limited to “documents, records, internal audits,
non-conformities, corrections, and prevention.” Each process is
analyzed for hazards, and HACCP plans and preventive control
measures are established. Additionally, a robust food safety
protection plan (YSN-FH-01) has been put in place, and regular
recall drills are conducted every year to ensure the safety and

health of products.

To ensure complete traceability of product quality, the Group
has established a comprehensive traceability management
system, ensuring that every stage from raw material
procurement to finished product delivery is traceable.
Additionally, the Group has developed detailed product recall
procedures (YSN-QP-23), categorizing food recalls into three
levels based on the severity and urgency of food safety risks.
Specific recall steps and product handling regulations have
been formulated for each level to ensure that recall actions can

be implemented swiftly and effectively when necessary.

This year, the Group did not encounter any incidents requiring
the recall of products sold or delivered due to safety and

health reasons.
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Customer Service

Regarding the quality of customer service and inquiries, the
Group has established a customer service system dedicated
to providing excellent pre-sales and post-sales services.
To enhance service levels, the Group regularly provides
professional training for the customer service team, sharing
best practices, experiences, and knowledge to ensure that
the team can efficiently handle customer inquiries and
needs. At the same time, the Group continuously optimizes
service processes through systematic customer service record

management to improve customer satisfaction.

In terms of handling customer complaints, the Group has

developed a standardized complaint processing procedure:

1. Complaint Acceptance: Accurately understand the
complaint situation and thoroughly record customer
feedback.

2. lIssue Verification: Conduct a comprehensive investigation

and verification of the issues raised in the complaint.

3. Solution Formulation: Develop a reasonable solution

based on the investigation results.

4. Customer Communication: Engage in amicable
discussions with the complainant to seek mutually

satisfactory solutions.

5. Feedback and Improvement: Provide the results of
complaint handling to relevant departments to drive

internal improvements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of 2
complaints regarding product quality concerns and product
delivery. Each complaint was thoroughly investigated, and the
resolution was achieved through effective communication with

the clients and product enhancements.
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Data Protection

The Group has established an information system security
assurance system in accordance with national standards such
as the Basic Requirements for Cybersecurity Level Protection,
Guidelines for the Classification of Cybersecurity Protection,
Technical Requirements for Security Design of Cybersecurity
Level Protection, and the Cybersecurity Risk Assessment
Specification. The Group has formulated various regulations
including the “Computer and Network Management System’,
"Database Security Management Specification”, “Information
System Security Inspection and Audit System”, “Data
Classification and Ranking Management System’, “Data Security

nou

Incident Emergency Response Plan”, “Personal Information
Lifecycle Management Standard”, and “Authorization and

Approval Management System”.

The Group places a high priority on data protection and
information security, having developed a comprehensive data
protection policy that covers the protection of confidential
information and trade secrets, including but not limited to
customer contact details, customer needs, financial data, and
sensitive information related to marketing or business plans.
To ensure data security, all employees are required to sign
an employment contract upon joining, explicitly committing
to not disclose such information, with any violation of
confidentiality provisions potentially leading to termination.
Furthermore, the Group has obtained a “Cybersecurity Level
Protection Level 3" filing certificate issued by public security
authorities through compliance assessment, and conducts
security education and training, establishing a cybersecurity
management organization aimed at achieving a “systematic,
scientific, coherent, and proactive” risk management state to
ensure the safety of data and privacy for the Group's internal

operations, applicants, and clients.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant
violations or lawsuits recorded related to confidentiality and

privacy security.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERAT

HIFRE
AEBKB(EER2RMBRE
EERFREELRENR) (ERZR
ERMBRL2ERRETRE
M) (ERRERMBERE2EMR
RERZDRAMER)  (BHEL
ERMAEKRZERBRIERE) F
BREE  EUTRAEERERLR
E2REEE  HIET(EMRBES
BEEHE) (BREZE2EEMR
) (ERERRE2RENREH
B (BRABOREEFIE)
(BRZ2EMREEER)  (BEA
EREEwBERERRBHE)
(RERERERHE) EHE -

AEEREERHBERELEEL
2 FIE T 2ENBIBRERE
BERETER ERENEORESRD
B BRETEREFPBESR -
BEHER - UBEMAREHAR
XA EEHRER - RERBIER
2 MEREEABRHFEREN
XaR - ARAERETSREZ
FER HAERRERENTR
B RE BB REIE - I - £ E
BEERAT  BEARKERE
MIEERRLZEEMRE=A
BERER - ARRARZ2HE HE
Jl - RUBRL2EREH B
ZIRe - M2 28 x5
R EEGRRE - HEREEAED -
EREMEPHEMEILERZE -

REBEN - RS RRER
BRBLEEHENEARRR
0



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Intellectual Property

Regarding the protection and management of intellectual
property rights, the Group has implemented systematic
measures to strengthen confidentiality, encourage innovation,
and cultivate a culture of intellectual property. For different
types of intellectual property, the Group adopts corresponding
protection strategies, including registration, filing, and other
management practices, to ensure that the legal rights and
interests of intellectual property are fully protected. To
enhance management efficiency, the Group has established
a professional intellectual property management team
responsible for coordinating and promoting related protection

work within the existing intellectual property framework.

In terms of compliance with third-party intellectual property
rights, the Group has established monitoring measures to
identify and avoid infringing legally recognized third-party
intellectual property rights. This includes trademark searches
before trademark registration and usage, patent searches
for patent applications, patent navigation, and patentability
analysis. When utilizing third-party intellectual property, legal
use is emphasized, such as purchasing third-party software
through legitimate channels. In contracts related to intellectual
property, ownership and usage rights are clearly defined
to avoid potential disputes. For employee management,
intellectual property clauses have been included in employee
contracts regarding ownership of intellectual property,
non-compete agreements upon resignation, and intellectual

property training is promoted in daily operations.

The Group holds a significant position in the field of
intellectual property, having led the drafting of two major
industry standards, “Bird’s Nest Quality Grades”and "Bird’s Nest
Products’, which have established a regulatory foundation for
the healthy development of the industry. Furthermore, The
Group currently serves as an executive director unit of the

Fourth Council of the Xiamen Intellectual Property Association.
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Image: Leading the drafting of two major industry standards, "Bird's Nest Quality Grades" and "Bird's Nest Products"
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Image: Release of the “Yan Palace Indonesia Bird’s Nest Production Area Grading Report V2.0.”
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As of the end of the Reporting Period, Yan Palace holds 178 HERSEKR  B2EHEERHAHN
valid authorized patents both domestically and internationally, KEBNEM17818 - HPEHPEH
including 26 invention patents, 68 utility model patents, and M2618 - BRI EF|68IE - Hb
84 design patents. ERSREtEF841A o
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Case: Yan Palace participated in the Second Bird’s Nest Nutrition and Health Academic Symposium.

R mzBE2NE-_EREEEREREMMNE

In December 2024, the Bird's Nest Nutrition and Health Academic Symposium successfully concluded in Xiamen. More than thirty
top experts and scholars from Peking University Health Science Center, Jiangnan University, China Pharmaceutical University,
and others gathered to deeply exchange cutting-edge research results on bird’s nest, jointly explore future research directions,
and promote the high-quality development of the bird’s nest industry. Ma Guansheng, Chairman of the Academic Committee
of the Peking University Health Science Center-Yan Palace Joint Laboratory and Professor at the School of Public Health, Peking
University, along with Li Youquan, Executive Director and President of Yan Palace, attended the meeting and delivered speeches.
ZECNE+ R ABERRRRENANSEEFIERES c REILRABEEL  IMAE FEENKEE=
BUTBRERSERE -2 RARRABISRIFAKR - KRR EERKHATS M - EHHBEESREER - EX
BE - FCEMAEREEMEZESIAZE  IRREAHAFLERUREVE BRI TESRERTERELR
BRWBEREE -

This seminar focuses on four major themes: “The Natural Ecology and Traceability of Bird's Nest Production Areas’, “The Health
Benefits and Dietary Culture of Bird's Nest Based on Evidence”, “Analysis of Functional Components in Bird's Nest and the Use
of Modern Food Processing Technology to Enhance Its Health Value’, and “Research and Development of Bird's Nest Functional
Products Based on Traditional Chinese Medicine”. The aim is to strengthen research and exploration of the nutritional value of
bird’s nest and to promote the integration of industry, academia, and research related to bird’s nest and health.

LR ERENAFE  [KENEREAFLEWR]  [ERNEINESRREREKR ] - [EERINEEKD @
EERRRRMNTREMRAREREEEE]  [EXNTEHERBENKEEERNE ] SEMBEFHNHTEES
BERZE fEXFRRERHENESHREER

Yan Palace will continue to deeply engage in the craftsmanship and scientific research of bird's nest, collaborating with
universities and institutions such as the Peking University Health Science Center to enhance industry-academia-research
cooperation. We are vigorously promoting bird’s nest research, continuously exploring its nutritional value, bringing beauty and
health to consumers, and contributing technological strength to the high-quality development of the bird’s nest industry.
HeBRHERMABREEENMEMR  BFIRAERERESR - BERCESMEIE  KROEERBHR - TEZ
BHEBELEBE RHBEWRKERRELL AXBEXSHERRAMBMENE -

IR 2
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(iii) Anti-corruption

The Group strictly regulates the discipline and professional
conduct of its employees to prevent any potential bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, and gambling. The Group
complied with relevant laws and regulations related to bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering of the PRC, including

but not limited to:

Criminal Law

Anti-Unfair Competition Law

Interim Provisions on the Prohibition of Commercial
Bribery

Anti-Money Laundering Law

Interpretations of the Supreme Court on Several Issues
Concerning the Specific Application of Laws in the Trial of
Anti-Money Laundering and Other Criminal Cases
Financial Institutions” Anti-Money Laundering Regulations
Measures for the Management of Large Amounts and
Suspicious Transactions of Foreign Exchange Funds of

Financial Institutions

In addition, the Group has developed the following policies

and regulations:

Anti-Commercial Bribery Management System
Anti-Fraud and Anti-Money Laundering Management
System

Whistleblower Investigation Management System
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To ensure the effectiveness of the reporting mechanism, the
Group stipulates that, whoever retaliates against those who
have raised concerns under the policies will be subject to
disciplinary actions. When the suspicious case is received,
the Group undergoes investigation procedures with secured
protection of the complainant’s confidentiality. There was no
concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees during the Reporting

Period.

There were no significant legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees during

the Reporting Period.

Anti-corruption Training

The Group places a high emphasis on strengthening the
establishment of an ethical work environment and preventing
corruption. To achieve this goal, the Group has launched
a systematic anti-corruption training program through the
Yan Palace Academy platform, which includes courses such
as "Combating Commercial Bribery and Creating a Clean
Atmosphere” and “Regulating Integrity and Gathering Positive
Energy,” and requires all employees to participate. These
courses aim to convey the Company’s policies and values
to employees and guide them in establishing the correct

professional ethics and codes of conduct.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s anti-corruption
training covered 872 individuals, provide each participant with
1 hour of training. By continuously conducting anti-corruption
trainings, the Group has further strengthened the development
of an integrity culture, offering strong support for employees

to make ethical decisions in their roles.
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Community Investment

The Group actively participates in social welfare activities, such as
initiatives to support the disabled, poverty alleviation programs,
regional public welfare activities, and rural revitalization efforts.

During the Reporting Period, the Group's actions are as follows.

In March 2024, the Group donated RMB38,000 to the Xiamen
Women's and Children’s Support Foundation and was awarded a
donation certificate by the Xiamen Women's and Children’s Support

Foundation.
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In July 2024, the Group, in collaboration with the Guangdong
Province Jeremy Lin and Li Qun Sports Career Public Welfare
Foundation (Haoqun Foundation), donated and constructed a
basketball court at Xihe School in Wujiang District, Shaoguan,
Guangdong Province. The court covers an area of 618 square

meters and has benefited 672 people.
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In November 2024, the Group, in collaboration with the Haoqun
Foundation, donated the construction of two basketball courts and
three badminton courts to Jiabing No. 2 Middle School in Dapu
County, Meizhou, Guangdong Province. These facilities cover a total

area of 1,572.33 square meters and has benefited 1,293 people.

Additionally, the Company’s activities periodically incorporate
elements of charity, environmental protection, and social
responsibility, actively leveraging corporate power to fulfill the
social responsibility of educating the public. For instance, this
year, during the Xiamen Industrial Workers’ Style Presentation and
Employee Singing Conference, Yan Palace employees shared “The
Story of Poverty Alleviation with a Bowl of Good Bird's Nest", which
introduced the story of Yan Palace establishing an employment
factory in Guanghe and launching a series of public welfare

activities.

Yan Palace upholds the principle of sustainable development,
dedicated to leveraging corporate strength to support social
progress. Looking forward, the Group will remain true to its
original mission, continuing to deeply engage in corporate social
responsibility and persistently contribute to social welfare and
development. Through concrete actions, it will demonstrate

corporate responsibility and convey warmth and hope.
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KPMG!

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the shareholders of Xiamen Yan Palace Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xiamen Yan Palace
Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 178 to 295, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code") together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People’'s Republic of
China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
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Key audit matters EEEEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were MRETEESRBERMOEEAE - RAY
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements REGEMBRRNEARAEENEIE - &
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our LETHEERMBABREBLEAMBERRE T A
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ERNETEEN BT gHELEHER
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. BENER -

Revenue recognition

PN+

Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 209.
BRRKEE I BHENT3(0) RE209 B B EEFE °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRBETEE BAWET A REZEE

The Group's revenue is mainly derived from the sales of edible Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition included
bird’s nest products to distributors, e-commerce platforms and the following:

retail customers. BB WA RROETIZ T BB TR
EEBENBAEERBAKLHER  EHTARTEEFHERN

RAMBER - - obtaining an understanding of and assessing the

design, implementation and operating effectiveness of

The Group enters into a framework sale contract with major management'’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
distributors and e-commerce platforms each year and sells its recognition of sales of edible bird's nest products to
products in accordance with terms of sale contracts. distributors, e-commerce platforms and retail customers;
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Revenue recognition

WA

Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 209.

BB S B AN i 3() RFE 209 B B2 1R °
The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRAPWESNAREEZSBE

Contracts with different types of customers have different terms.
Such terms may affect the amount and timing of the recognition
of sales to these customers. Management evaluates the terms of
each contract in order to determine the appropriate amount and
timing of revenue recognition.
BARBREFITYNE OB TRBGR - ZFHRATREZE
ﬁ&%@ﬁ%x%@ﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁ&m/ﬂééﬁ)&ﬁ%ﬁ c BEEGNEENE
RIEVIRER - DA WA FERR A RN -

For sales to distributors, revenue is recognised when the
products are delivered to and accepted by distributors at
specified locations. For sales to e-commerce platforms, revenue
is recognised when the products are accepted by the platforms
upon delivery to their designated premises. For sales to retail
customers, revenue is recognised when the retail customer
takes possession of the products or when customer accepts the
products upon delivery.

HALHEPTEHETM S - REMRIN BT MBI AL HYE
BEWSHERBA - AAEFFAMEHENS » EERINE
EE S ATEWRHERIBA - stAZEXFAEHE M
T ETERPEBEEMIE PR E MR 1& 5 W HER K
Ao
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inspecting contracts with distributors and e-commerce
platforms, on a sample basis, to understand the terms of
the sales transactions including the terms of delivery and
acceptance, applicable sales rebates arrangements and any
sales return arrangements to assess the Group's revenue
recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

FHRMERRACHANEE TR LHNEL - AT #
HER IR - BN IEKIGR - EHHEERH
ZHEREMREZH - M2 RBRTEERIH EKET
HEEE WA RERBER

comparing, on a sample basis, sales transactions recorded
during the year with the underlying goods delivery notes,
monthly confirmations from e-commerce platforms,
invoices, bank-in slips and other relevant supporting
documents, where appropriate, and assessing whether the
related revenue had been recognised in accordance with
the Group's revenue recognition policies;
%Wﬁﬁ'%$iﬁﬁﬁ%%¢“%ﬁmﬁmﬁﬁﬁ
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Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 209.

BRI G EREZN T3) RE200E £ @5 BE ©
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRAPWESNAREEZSBE

The Group also offers sales rebates to distributors and
e-commerce platforms in the normal course of business. These
rebates are sales performance-based depending on the relevant
requirements specified in the contracts. The sales rebates are
accounted for as a deduction from revenue.

EEEMREFEBBIETRLHMRER T ARMHEER
Moo ZFRNTDRAHEFERELE VISP IEENIERA
LRMIE = HERFARTIER A B HIR -

o

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group
and therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the
amount and timing of revenue recognised by management to
meet specific targets or expectations. In addition, different types
of customers with different contract terms give rise to complexity
in the amount and timing of revenue recognition.
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comparing, on a sample basis, specific sales transactions
recorded around the financial year end with relevant
underlying documents, which included goods delivery
notes, monthly confirmations from e-commerce platforms
and other relevant supporting documents, where
appropriate, to assess whether the related revenue had
been recognised in the appropriate financial year;

BIEA - BV EREERCTHENTEHER S EIBMX
FUIBETER  EEEE  ERHTAAEHEKRE
NMHEMARRFERAX M (AER) - AeHEEERARSE
R BT RFERER

obtaining external confirmations of, on a sample basis,
sales transaction amounts for the year and debtor balances
as at the financial year end directly from distributors and
e-commerce platforms;

ERMEER - BEREECHEHELER LG FEH
B R SR B B [E 2R 1w 2R W [B] ) 4 58 7 7 E R R
K

ZZ ZPUFFIR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 169



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN AZBENR S

Revenue recognition
WA

Refer to note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 209.

ERY

/-7/‘%"/

ik & 1B #R &M i 3(a) R B 209 R IR &T UK °

The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRAPWESNAREEZSBE
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inspecting the sales ledger subsequent to the financial
reporting period and making enquiries of management to
identify significant credit notes issued and sales returns and
inspecting relevant underlying documents to assess if the
related revenue had been accounted for in the appropriate
financial period in accordance with the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards; and

R B B S B R #0855 BR AR K (A B 3R 2 1 AR R DA
B 5l B A $H 6 B 0 K 85 5 AR [ 30 iR & A B S ME X
8 MM A RS ERBRITEAERNNRE
REE NI BERAR : &

assessing, on a sample basis, whether sales rebates had
been appropriately recognised by re-calculating the sales
rebates based on the terms as set out in the distribution
or e-commerce platform contracts, and comparing re-
calculated amount to the sales rebates recognised
during the financial year, and also to confirmations from
distributors or e-commerce platforms and other relevant
underlying documents.

BN - BB RBEHBNER T AT A ER
EENTERRBOHE RN - REERAEN S EEY K
FREABRRNHEERNSERRELHBHEEHTAH
AR K Je EAth AR A ST 45 I SE 5 RIMETTEL B - e AT
HERMNEEEZRMER -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A BE R &

Valuation of inventories
FEME

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 204.
BRMG A EIREN 17 RE204 BB E5HEFE
The Key Audit Matter

BEBER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

Inventories of the Group mainly comprised raw materials, work in Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories

progress and finished goods. The carrying amount of the Group's included the following:

BMSFHEEERENETEFER A TERF

inventories at 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB353.8 million

which represented 24% of the Group's total assets, and write-
down of inventories of RMBO0.6 million was recorded.
EEENFREIEARERY  ERakKm ZF-MOF+Z
R=+—B E5ENGFEREERARK338EET 15
EEBEBEEEN24%  FEMHAARKEST °

The Group's inventories are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The net realisable value is determined by
management taking into account of the estimated selling prices
of the Group's products, the estimated costs of completion of
work in progress at the reporting date and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sales.
SEBENFRRAARERSIRHEZ BREETHE - IR
FERERERERESEEMNMGTEE  PNiREHHTK
R mEENBFT AR HE IR AR RRERE °

assessing the Group's inventory provisioning policy with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
2RATEFTEINERFHEEENTFERBEEK

evaluating the reasonableness of the percentages and
other parameters adopted in the Group's policy on the net
realisable value calculation by comparing the net realisable
value with selling price (less selling and distribution costs)
achieved subsequent to the end of reporting period on a
sample basis;

BEEAR R 2R EEREHREERNEE OR
EHERDHAAR) ETHE - MG ESEZE
FENGTERRFPAEANAE L RAMBHNEE
M
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B B S

Valuation of inventories

HFHELEE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 204.

BRI S BREN L 17 RE204 BB E5HEE °
The Key Audit Matter
BERETTER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit matter
because of its significance to the Group's total assets, and
because determining the net realisable value involves significant
management judgement and estimation, which can be inherently
subjective, and increase the risk of error or potential management
bias.

BB FERERERMARETEE SN EEEER
EEM=Z2WEE  WHAAERFENETSIREBENER
FIET R A - ZE A R AT ANE T FETEIML - BT HER
B EEEIRERR o
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assessing whether the inventory write-down at the end of
the financial period was calculated on a basis consistent
with the Group’s inventory provisioning policy by re-
calculating the write-down based on the percentages and
other parameters in the Group's inventory provisioning
policy;
BESEEFTEREERRTHNE SR EM2BENT
FHORSHE - WM EHBEARNFERRNAE TR
RREBEENTERELR -

assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report, if applicable, were classified within
the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with the underlying goods receipt
notes;

IR - BirEERKRETH@EGIER HEEHEAEE
ETHE - EMAEERNER Tt RSHHNEE RS
WHOBREENERER ;



Valuation of inventories

HFHELEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN ZBENRE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 204.

BRI S BREN L 17 RE204 BB E5HEE °
The Key Audit Matter
BERETTER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BHWETNAEEZEE

assessing, on a sample basis, whether inventories were
sold at prices above their carrying values subsequent to
the year-end by comparing the cost of each individual
item selected with actual selling prices (less selling and
distribution costs) achieved after the financial year end;
and

FEUERZR - 532 T RO {E 5128 B & A AR B2 B B AR 2 R
BRERNEREE OREHE RS HAAR) EITLER -
Mt FEFREESRANEAREENERLE &

assessing the historical accuracy of management'’s process
for calculating the provision for inventories by examining
the utilisation or release of the provision recorded at the
end of the previous financial year during the current year
and whether there is any indication of management bias.

A 7N EF 2 N 38 1 B IR 6F 5 OR R B 9 485 1 O (o0 AR S [l
BR - Wt EREEtEF ERFHRIENE L EE
M UEGFHERESFEEANRKRAETEEFERR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B B S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability

to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

BN ZBENRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B B S

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

176

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Liu Hin Pan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

14 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
,.m =Fan %

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —ZF - NFE+_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AA R#EZ))

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=HF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt EE AR¥T T ARBT T
Revenue WA 3 2,050,000 1,964,237
Cost of sales THEMAR (1,037,238) (969,321)
Gross profit EF 1,012,762 994,916
Other net income H A 4 39,462 30,502
Selling and distribution expenses SHE A SHR 2 (670,774) (563,283)
Administrative expenses TR (139,343) (159,506)
Research and development expenses > (28,544) (26,384)
Profit from operations F e 213,563 276,245
Finance costs B & A 5(a) (6,950) (2,919)
Profit before taxation R A0 5 206,613 273,326
Income tax PSR 6(a) (46,183) (61,738)
Profit for the year FRFE 160,430 211,588
Attributable to: P
Equity shareholders of the Company PNy S 156,295 201,218
Non-controlling interests JEFERE A = 4,135 10,370
Profit for the year FRFE 160,430 211,588
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted (RMB) EAR#E (AR 10 0.34 0.46
The notes on pages 186 to 295 form part of these financial statements. Details F186F295 B MM sE A % E ISRz A — 3P
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to 5 FRNENARAERBRRERENFFEHR
the profit for the year are set out in note 26(b). Bt EE26(b)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reBm R HEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 %ﬁﬁf?fﬂli‘f‘fﬂ =+—HLFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN R#EZ) )

2024 2023
—E-E —E2-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 AR¥T T AR®ETT
Profit for the year FRFE 160,430 211,588
Other comprehensive income FREMEERE (NKRBER
for the year (after tax and ENERER)
reclassification adjustments)
Iterns that will not be reclassified eENHEEEEMNIER ¢
to profit or loss:
Equity investments at fair value BRARBEF AELMEEKEL
through other comprehensive IRrERE — AR EERE
income (“FVOCI") - net movement (NEJEE ) 2 8))5 58
in fair value reserves (non-recycling) 9 13,933 -
Itemns that are or may be reclassified HigegngEEnosBEiEan
subsequently to profit or loss: HE :
Exchange differences on translation A AR B A0 DA SN TS A
of financial statements of operations WISz MEE N 258
outside Chinese Mainland 9 (13) -
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKE
for the year 13,920 -
Total comprehensive income FREERREEE
for the year 174,350 211,588
Attributable to: L
Equity shareholders of the Company ZAYNGIE Ed S 170,221 201,218
Non-controlling interests IR 4,129 10,370
Total comprehensive income FRAEERZEEHE
for the year 174,350 211,588
The notes on pages 186 to 295 form part of these financial statements. 186295 B MM T K ZF I gk #) —&F

5 e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R

At 31 December 2024 R —_ZE—_F+_HA=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AA R#EZ))

2024 2023
—E_mE —E2-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 ARBT T AR®ETT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E Y e S 11 282,421 189,972
Intangible assets mEAE 12 1,982 1,280
Goodwill 7 = 13 77,165 75,165
Equity securities designated at FVOCI RAREEFAELMEEKE
B 45 T P B RE 5 15 35,948 -
Financial assets measured at fair value RAnRBEFAEBENESREE
through profit or loss (“FVPL") 991 -
Deferred tax assets B IEEE 25(b) 51,227 34,371
Other non-current assets HinEmEh & E 16 23,365 14,698
473,099 315,486
Current assets REVEE
Inventories EE 17 353,198 360,362
Trade and other receivables B 5 I Epth fE W R IE 18(a) 163,656 120,297
Prepayments AN B R 18(b) 75,996 118,168
Prepaid taxes TR BIIE 25(a) 157 10,513
Restricted bank deposits ZRRHRITER = 8,074
Cash and cash equivalents R MRS EEY 19(a) 420,508 537,093
1,013,515 1,154,507
Current liabilities i A=K
Trade and other payables B 5 I HAth FE T 508 20 271,050 260,107
Contract liabilities aRBE 21 254,075 225,303
Other current liabilities HEiREaE 21 32,348 28,381
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 25,267 26,391
Current taxation BNEATR IR 25(a) 28,732 19,938
611,472 560,120
Net current assets REBFEE 402,043 594,387
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
nﬂ?mljﬁ%ﬂﬁ/\ﬂl%‘%

At 31 December 2024 R—_ZE_ W&+ _HA=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN R#EZ))

2024 2023
—E-WE —EC=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt EE AR¥T T ARBT T
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBEE 875,142 909,873
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 105,048 111,287
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIBEE 25(b) 1,850 1,659
106,898 112,946
NET ASSETS BEE 768,244 796,927
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRDNES
Share capital RN 26(c) 93,100 93,100
Reserves N 652,642 676,571
Total equity attributable to equity ARQ TSR RELEER
shareholders of the Company 745,742 769,671
Non-controlling interests FEE IR 22,502 27,256
TOTAL EQUITY R 768,244 796,927

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 14 March RZTERAF=ATHREEES I ERER

2025. =EK o
Huang Jian Zheng Wenbin
=g 1591
Chairman and Executive Director Vice Chairman and Executive Director
EERFNTESE BIEERFNTESE
The notes on pages 186 to 295 form part of these financial statements. £186 2295 B MM H B X E M 15 Hmx A — 36
2 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o A JE 3¢ 4

AN == * ﬁﬁﬁ@]%‘%
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —ZF - NFE+_A=+—HILtFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN BEEZIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RATEERRER

Shares
held for Share-
employee based Non-
Share Share incentive payment Statutory Retained controlling Total
aapial premium scheme fesenve fesenve profs Total interests equity
HER
HEHE RGN
RE RhEE  #EORD NE&  ERDEE  REAE moHRER g
Note RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
W& ARETT  ARETT  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR ARETR  ARMTR
(Note 26(c)  (Note 26(d)(i) (Note 26(a)(i) ~ (Note 261d)(ii)
(Hiz26l0)  (Hsz26(e)) (ko) (Wiaeidin)
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZ-=E-A-RNER 86,700 156430 (164 10944 65247 I 4543% g4 400
Changes in equity for 2023: TBCCERRRY:
Profit and total comprehensive ERfIERRENREE
income for the year - - - - - 201218 201218 10370 211,588
Issurance of ordinary shares by BRARREERETERRA
initial public offering 6400 262841 = = = = 26941 - 269,41
Equity settled share-based WEEEEARANZRS
transactions - 14118 1642 (10944) - - 4816 - 4816
Appropriation to statutory ROEELES
Teserve 261d)(ii) - - - - 10622 (10622) - - -
Dividends approved and paid B ETRA FRENEE
tothe shareholders i respect H-EREENRS
of the previous year 26(b) - - - - - (160,000 (160,000 - (160,000
Dividends to non-controling RIEERER RS
interests - - - - - - - (728) (7128)
Balance at 31 December 2023 HZBZZE1ZR
=t-Aiks %100 433389 - - 75869 16733 769671 056 1%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAREEHE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WNF+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN R#EZ) )

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KOTRERRER

Shares

held for Fair value

employee reserve Non-
Share Share incentive Statutory (non- Exchange  Retained controlling Total
capital premium scheme reserve recycling) reserve  profits Totl  interests equity

G|

e DAEERE
i RHER  HEORR DR (FEmE) HERR REAE A% FERER 4%

Note RMB000 RB'000 RMB/000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMBO00  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMBY000

e ARMTR  ARMFR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ABRTR
(Note2ld) ~ (Note26(d)l) ~ (Note26(dv) ~ (Note2s(il)  Note2s(ev)  (Note26(d)vi)
(Wabael) (ko) (BEaeiiw) (koo — (Waeldh)  (HisEas(avi)

Balance at 1 January 2024 HZB-mE-A-AkEH 93,100 133,389 - 75,869 - - 61313 6T 286 196977
Changes n equity for 2024; “R-MERRRS:

Proftforthe year ERilE - - - - - - 156295 156,295 4135 160430
Other comprehensive income e - - - - 13933 ] - 13926 6 1390

Total comprehensive income - - - - 13933 (1 156295 170,21 4129 174350
Capitalinection from non-

controlling interests - - - - - - - - 485 485
Purchase of own shares under REEZNEEEE

employee incentive scheme b NG U - - (94073) - - - - (40m) - (n)
Aopropriaton o satutory FNEEMRS

Tesene 26(d)(ii) - - - 6,598 - - (6,598) - -
Dividends approved and paid BRETRATHRNEE

tothe shareholders HRERNRE

respect of the previous year 2(b) - - - - - - (100077)  (100,077) - (100077)
Dividends to non-controling REARERRARE

nterests - - - - - - - - (9,368) 9,368)

Balanceat31 December204  W=F=BELZR

ST-ANER 93,100 433389 (94073) 82,467 13,933 M 2693 74574 0500 768244
The notes on pages 186 to 295 form part of these financial statements. F1862295 B MM B ZF M HmTRH — &
&
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

:.VT/\IEQUILE%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 £ & —

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AA R#EZ))

ToME+ A=+ —HILER

2024 2023
—E-MME —E2-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 AR¥T T AR®ETT
Operating activities SRR
Cash generated from operations BEFMBRS 19(b) 305,725 212,272
Income tax paid BRI FEH (48,342) (88,921)
Net cash generated from operating RETHRBERS
activities 257,383 123,351
Investing activities REEE
Payment for purchase of property, plant BB « HE RKZENUKL
and equipment and intangible assets EREEMNNR (114,191) (24,351)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - BEREBESRIE
plant and equipment 22 -
Payment for acquisition of financial WHgtR A R BEFAEEN
assets measured at FVPL TREENNK (695,190) (748,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERARBEGTAERZN
assets measured at FVPL ERIEEMSRIE 697,009 754,933
Payment for acquisition of equity KR A R EBER AR M2
securities designated at FVOCI Y16 TE AR B 5 BT K (17,371) -
Net cash outflow arising from E¥BAHEENFIRSRY
business combination 19(e) (4,000) -
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFAFRS (133,721) (17,418)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
anA}Eﬁ/}ILE%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —WNF+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN R#EZ) )

2024 2023
—E-E —E2-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 ARBT T AR®ETT
Financing activities AR
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENESHERELS 19(c) (29,312) (17,082)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B HEEF SIS 19(c) (6,950) (2,919)
Proceeds from new bank loans FIRITE RS HRIE - 18
Repayment of bank loans BEEBITER = (18)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid 248 & Hib g & - =
Gross proceeds from issuance of shares E/ﬂ’&ﬁ?ﬁ‘%ﬁvﬁ‘ﬁﬁx v
by initial public offering HRFT1SRIE - 283,029
Payment of listing expenses T EmRX (725) (13,101)
Payment of shares purchased for SR BB EIFTE B AR D
employee incentive scheme 24 (94,073) -
Dividends paid to the shareholders MRS IR E 26(b) (100,077) (160,000)
Dividends to non-controlling interests MF R RISEERE SRR E
of subsidiaries 19(c) (9,368) (7,928)
Capital injection from non-controlling SEIERR iR T &
interests 485 =
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEEE (FTA) FEFRe
financing activities (240,020) 81,999
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBLEEY (RL),
cash equivalents B hNE AR (116,358) 187,932
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January B’\ A—BWBEekREEEY 537,093 350,818
Effect of foreign exchange rate KRB 2
changes (227) (1,657)
Cash and cash equivalents at RtTt=-—A=+—HHRE
31 December RESEEY 19(a) 420,508 537,093
*  This amount represents amount less than RMB500. *  AHEELRARES0TT -
The notes on pages 186 to 295 form part of these financial statements. F1862295 B BN ZE M HETA — 5
A

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B ImRRME
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)
1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1

186

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable IFRS Accounting Standards, which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed

below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected in

these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 comprise Xiamen Yan Palace Bird’s Nest Industry
Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as the "Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for certain financial

assets measured at their fair value (see note 1(f)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), rounded to the nearest thousand. Most of the companies
comprising the Group are operating in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC") and their functional currency is RMB, hence, RMB is

used as the presentation currency of the Group.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS
Accounting Standards that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are

discussed in note 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

zrﬁ

ITVAAN

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (r X &5 B A5

1

188

BB HRRMEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective for the current accounting period
of the Group. Of these, the following developments are relevant to

the Group's financial statements:

Amendments to |IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
— Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current liabilities with covenants

(2022 amendments”)

Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a sale and

leaseback

Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS
7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — Supplier finance

arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group's results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the

current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 BEASHBEE)
(d) FARRIEEBRER

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control commences until the

date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income
and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains
or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or at the NCl's
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NClI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between NCI and the

equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in

a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)),
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group

classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 BEASHBEE)

190

(e) Goodwill

(f)

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses and is tested annually for

impairment (see note 1(j)(ii)).

Other investments in securities

The Group's policies for investment in securities, other than

investments in subsidiaries, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised on the
date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at
FVPL for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair
value of financial instruments, see note 27(f). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their

classification.

(e) BHE

(f)

E¥BWBELENHBIRAAREZFAR
BEEEE  SFARETHERE
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FRAREEMBEZEGERZKET
fr - ERAABEAABENRER
S ZERENR R ABEENER
BR - -ARAASEETERTIARR
EBENDENBL - F2HEME27( °
ZERBEERBRIBESBIZAT IR
AR

() Non-equity investments (i) FRERE
Non-equity investments are classified into one of the following IERERE DA THAP — &G
measurement categories: S

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 1(s)(ii)(a)), foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on

derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X &5 & AT 55

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

(i) Non-equity investments (continued)

FVOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale. Expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as if the financial asset was measured at
amortised cost. The difference between the fair value and
the amortised cost is recognised in other comprehensive
income (“OCI"). When the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in OCl is recycled from equity to

profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R IR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Other investments in securities (continued)
(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL, unless
the investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition the Group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in OCl. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer's perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings and not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are

recognised in profit or loss as other income.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (see note 1(j)

(in):

- interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is

the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(i));

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property

interest; and
- items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets

arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see
note 1(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items

(major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and

equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment less their estimated residual values, if any,
using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives, and

is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods

are as follows:

- The Group's interests in buildings situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease
and the buildings' estimated useful lives, being no more than

50 years after the date of completion.

- Motor vehicles 4 -5 years
- Machinery 510 years
— Office and other equipment 3 - 5years

— Leasehold improvements The shorter of the
lease terms or the
estimated useful

life of the assets

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed

annually and adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nVT

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X £ 5 B A5 5)

1

194

BB HRRMEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Research and development costs comprise all costs that are directly
attributable to research and development activities or that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the
nature of the Group's research and development activities, the
criteria for the recognition of such costs as an asset are generally
not met until late in the development stage of the project when the
remaining development costs are immaterial. Hence both research
costs and development costs are generally recognised as expenses

in the period in which they are incurred.

Other intangible assets, including patents, that are acquired by
the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses

(see note 1(j)(ii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets
less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised

in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods
are as follows:
- Patent rights 6.8 to 18.4 years

— Software 2to 10 years

The useful life of patent rights was assessed based on the

protection terms of patent rights.
The useful life of software was assessed based on the expected
service life during which relevant software performs its desired

functionality.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed

annually and adjusted if appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component for

all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that have a
short lease term of 12 months or less. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value item, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised,
the associated leases payment are recognised in profit or loss on a

systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is recognised using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to profit

or loss as incurred.
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BB HRRMEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently

stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

(see notes 1(g) and 1(j)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in non-equity securities carried at
amortised cost (see notes 1(f)(i), 1(s)(ii)@@) and 1(j)(i). Any excess
of the nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits is

accounted for as additional lease payments made and is included in

the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there
is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes
its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of

the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying

amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(4)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract, if such modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured based
on the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised

discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within

twelve months after the reporting period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL"s) on financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and

other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Generally, credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the contractual and expected

amounts.
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1

198

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(@)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the

following discount rates if the effect is material:

fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or

an approximation thereof;

variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed

to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result
from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months);

and

lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the

items to which the ECL model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& X Z& 5 B AT -

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(@)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at
12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low

credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments for which credit risk (i.e. the
risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased significantly since

initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that

includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has

increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X £ 5 B A5 5)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions

such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(@)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have

occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the

following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- abreach of contract, such as a default or being more than

90 days past due;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on

terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security

because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Werite-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off to
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group otherwise determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts

subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss

in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories
and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested

annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill
arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies

of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of
its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in
use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and

the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an

asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts

of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been

recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of
the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see note 1(j)

().

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end

of the financial year to which the interim period relates.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Inventories and other contract costs

(@)

(ii)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Costs is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present

location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the

sale.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are the costs to fulfil a contract with a
customer which are not capitalised as inventory (see note 1(k)

().

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a
contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, are expensed

as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of capitalised
contract costs is recognised in profit or loss when the revenue

to which the asset relates is recognised (see note 1(s)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X &5 & AT 55

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 1(s)(i)). A contract liability is also
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding receivable is

also recognised (see note 1(m)).

(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration and only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note

10)(0).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are

assessed for ECL (see note 1()(i)).
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206

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Trade and other payables (other than refund liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are

stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

(p) Employee benefits

0]

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be

estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is

provided.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments granted to employees is measured using binomial
lattice model. The amount is generally recognised as an
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which
the related service condition and non-market performance
conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount
ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards
that meet the related service condition and non-market
performance conditions at the vesting date. The equity amount
is recognised in the share-based payment reserve until either
the option is exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share premium account) or the option expires

(when it is released directly to retained profits).

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERATE

1

EXRETBER (8)

(o)

(p)

E5 RHEMEMNRE CRRABR
)

B 5 REMENFIRVREAREE
R - MITERE - B MEMEN
IR D BR - BRIERRIRAVE
BITEXR AUBATZRERS
B -

BEREF

() FEHESERR O EBHERR ARG
B

R B RN A BRI S
RS o fWEBEE TRHRGEM
AEBEAERALRETRMEE
B WEREESEEANEGE
ZIERAT  AEEFREFFTEX
NHESRBIER ERER -

ERHFURKE BIMERE AR
AR AR 23K -

(i) BRBER

BT B B AR s A5 E A B AD (5 3R
R B RRBEREA ZBAS
EEEEAGE - ZeB —RNE
FEUEER RS - A#mA
PN - FERRFAX N ERBER
B URRBRE RS R RIEM S
R G TE S = R RO 2R B R
B EHARERANSHEITENFE
B BiE A AR R AR (R 1 SR FE B R
BRIGHHEBIHE - S BN
DN DREHER - EEBREE
1718 (& HFt AR B 4 B R R
MRk XEREER(EREE
BBARBNEE) B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
OCl.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable
on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments
to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of
the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax

also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are

met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries to
the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that

they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition

of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation

and Development.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

208

(q) Income tax (continued)

(r)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability

of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are

met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

liability.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow

of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of edible bird's nest products in the ordinary course of the

Group's business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products
The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent,
it considers whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group's ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the

products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of

third parties such as value added tax or other sales taxes.

Sales of the Group's edible bird's nest products are

recognised as follows:

(i) Direct sales to customers
In direct sales, the Group sells edible bird's nest
products to retail customers through self-operated

online and offline stores.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(@)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products (continued)

AN EBST)

1

(1)

Direct sales to customers (continued)
For retail customers that purchase from
the Group's offline stores, sales revenue is
recognised when customers take possession of

the products and make payment.

For retail customers that purchase from the
Group's online stores, payment is collected
when customers place purchase orders and sales
revenue is recognised when customers accept

the products upon delivery.

The Group typically offers retail customers a right
of return for a period of 7 days upon customer
acceptance. The Group estimates the constrained
transaction price with all reasonably available
information and updates the variable consideration at

each reporting date.

The Group operates membership programs and
members can earn loyalty points on their purchases
from stores operated by the Group as well as the
Group's distributors. Points are redeemable against
any future purchases of the Group’s products or
other offerings provided by the Group. The Group
allocates a portion of the consideration received from
direct sales and sales to distributors (see (i) below)
as appropriate to loyalty points based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices. The amount allocated to
the membership programs is deferred and recognised
as revenue when loyalty points are redeemed or
expire. Unused loyalty points generally expire in 12 to

15 months after they are granted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EXRSTEER (8)
(s) Revenue and other income (continued) (s) WMARHMY = (&)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) (i) REEFEBEHBRA (H)
(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products (continued) (a) HEHBERD (H#)
(i) Sales to distributors (i) A E

The Group sells edible bird’s nest products to

distributors through offline and online channels.

Offline channel distributors make payments for
their purchase orders before product shipment.
Sales revenue is recognised when the products are
delivered to and accepted by distributors at the

locations specified in the purchase orders.

The Group generally does not accept return of
products from offline channel distributors, except
for quality defects or transportation damages in rare

cases.

The Group provides sales rebates to distributors
who satisfy relevant requirements specified in the
distribution agreements and the Group's distributor

incentivising policies.

The above sales rebates and the rights of return
(where applicable) to distributors give rise to variable
consideration. The Group uses the most likely amount
approach to estimate variable consideration based
on the Group's current and future performance
expectations and all information that is reasonably
available. This estimated amount is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is highly probable
that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved.
At the time of sale of products to distributors, the
Group recognises revenue after taking into account
adjustment to transaction price arising from sales
rebates and returns which are estimated and updated

at each reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(@)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sales of edible bird’s nest products (continued)

(i) Sales to e-commerce platform

AN EBST)

1

The Group sells edible bird’s nest products to

e-commerce platforms. Sales of products sold to

e-commerce platforms are recognised when the

products are accepted by the platforms upon delivery

to their designated premises.

Certain e-commerce platform can return unsold

products to the Group. The Group also provides a

profit protection to certain e-commence platform

such that the monthly overall gross margin generated

by the e-commerce platform from selling the

products is not less than a floor.

The above rights of return and profit protection give

rise to variable consideration. The Group uses the

most likely amount approach to estimate variable

consideration based on the Group’s current and

future performance expectations and all information

that is reasonably available. This estimated amount

is included in the transaction price to the extent

it is highly probable that a significant reversal of

cumulative revenue recognised will not occur

when the uncertainty associated with the variable

consideration is resolved. At the time of sale of

products to e-commerce platforms, the Group

recognises revenue after taking into account

adjustment to transaction price arising from returns

and profit protection which are estimated and

updated at each reporting date.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERATE

EXRETBER (8)
(s) WARHAbUs (4)

(@)

REEFESRBA (B)

(a) HEHBESD (&)
(i) FMEEFEHE

AREE R E&Pﬁflz“ié
EEme MERTR
EmEHE RN E
EHETESMEREF A

REHER -

EFEETATHAE Y
ERRBTAREE - A%
B RRETRET ARH

FHERE - F5

EEMELNHAEERE

MEMERTR ©

LR BRI REE
o REEEA

au%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?i*ﬂ%zﬁ
SE B A R ARRNKRERRE
HH&FﬁﬁAEET’E%“%#

A EHE

flEr A2 HE -

ﬁ1ﬁ@%7%ml%%
fin B R R 251U
TSR A B A
BRI AR
5B - KRBT AH
EEGKR  AEEKER
RE RS B BmET REH
HiRE &ﬂﬂ%h@i

TREF
AR AT RE
B - ZEErE

MR 5 ERFHE
A e

/rr



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

(b)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. The “effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not
credit-impaired). However, for financial assets that have
become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If
the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation

of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group

will comply with the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are

incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are initially recognised as deferred income and
subsequently recognised in profit or loss on a systematic

basis over the useful life of the asset.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

214

(t)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective
functional currencies of group companies at the exchange rates at

the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate
at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency

differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency difference arising from the translation of
an investment in equity securities designated at FVOCI is recognised
in OCI.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and
expenses of foreign operations are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency
differences are recognised in OCl and accumulated in the exchange
reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is
allocated to NCI.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow

subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a

group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Related parties (continued)

AN EBST)

1

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the

Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (& X Z& 5 B AT -

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Notes 13, 24 and 27(f) contain information about the assumptions

and their risk factors relating to goodwill impairment, fair value of

share granted and financial instruments. Other significant sources of

estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

()

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration included in the
transaction price arising from the sales of edible bird’s nest products
where volume rebates are offered. The Group uses judgement in
estimating the amount of volume rebates based on the customer’s
historical rebate rates, accumulated purchases to date, as well as
estimates of future purchases. Changes in these estimates could
have a significant impact on the amount of revenue recognised in

future periods.

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

The credit losses for trade receivables are based on assumptions
about the expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, which are based on the Group's past collection history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions
and inputs used, see note 27(a). Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment and
the Group may be necessary to make additional loss allowances in

future periods.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of businesses, less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
These estimates are based on the current market conditions and
the historical experience of selling products with similar nature.
It could change significantly as a result of changes in customer
preferences and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each

reporting period.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 3
(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the development,
production and sale of edible bird's nest products. Further details

regarding the Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 3(b).

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by sales

channel is as follows:

WA D TR
(@) WA

REBNTEXEIHE  EEME
EHRBEM FRAEETIZEBHN
E—THBRME30)RE -

RHEREHDNRAES A FAMNK
AT :

2024 2023
—EMMEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers BRI R ERE 15 REER
within the scope of IFRS 15 REEFEFERBKA

Offline channels HIEE

— Sales to offline distributors — MR TEEEHEE 486,074 509,035

- Direct sales to offline customers —BEERNGTEFPHE 321,796 351,170

Online channels HERE

- Direct sales to online customers —BEERNGERPHE 911,729 824,397

— Direct sales to E-commerce platforms —EERERTAHEE 294,612 262,886

— Sales to online distributors — MR SR HE 35,789 16,749
2,050,000 1,964,237
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (X %77 BATEIN -

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (continued)

The revenue of the Group is mainly generated from sales of edible

bird’s nest products, which is recognised at a point in time.

The Group's customer base is diversified and includes one customer
with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group's
revenues. In 2024 revenues from sales of edible bird’s nest products
to the customer, including sales to entities which are known to the
Group to be under common control with the customer, amounted
to approximately RMB243,241,000 (2023: RMB212,051,000). Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from this customer are set

out in note 27(a).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a)
of IFRS 15 to its sales contracts for edible bird’s nest products that
had an original expected duration of one year or less and does
not disclose the information related to the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance

obligations.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by sales channel categories. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group's most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented the following five reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following

reportable segments.

—  Direct sales to online customers: this segment engaged in
sales of edible bird’s nest products to retail customers through

online platform.

- Direct sales to offline customers: this segment engaged in sales
of edible bird's nest products to retail customers in brick-and-

mortar stores.

3 WANDEERE

(a)

(b)
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3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

220

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

@i

Sales to offline distributors: this segment engaged in sales of

edible bird's nest products to offline distributors.

Direct sales to E-commerce platforms: this segment engaged

in sales of edible bird’s nest products to online platforms.

Sales to online distributors: this segment engaged in sales of

edible bird's nest products to online distributors.

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group's most
senior executive management monitors the results attributable

to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and direct expenses incurred by those segments respectively.
The measure used for reporting segment result is gross profit
which is calculated based on revenue less cost of sales for
the relevant segment. No inter-segment sales have occurred
during the year. Assistance provided by one segment to
another, including sharing of assets and technical know-how, is

not measured.

The Group’s other operating income and expenses, such
as other net income, selling and distribution expenses,
administrative expenses, research and development expenses,
finance costs, and assets and liabilities are not measured
under individual segments. Accordingly, neither information
on segment assets and liabilities nor information concerning
capital expenditure, other operating income and expenses is

presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

3 AR EHRE (8)

(b) P EERE (&)
DEDEE (H)
HE-_T-_NWFER-T-=F+=
A=+—BLtFE REREER
FEDHREmMAAEERSIT
ERASBRENEEASETZ2R
DEPRIERIF TR o

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) Segment results (continued) (i)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the Group's most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2024

and 2023 is set out below.

2024
—E-mE

Direct sales Direct sales Salesto  Direct sales to Sales to

to online to offline offline E-commerce online
customers customers distributors platforms distributors Total

EER&AL EERMET EERN E#M@ &L
EFHE EFHE  LHEHE ERTAHE | SHEHE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARETR  ARETr  AR®Tr < ARETr  ARET:n
Revenue WA 911,729 321,796 486,074 294,612 35,789 2,050,000
Gross profit EF 409,911 213,980 235,955 139,819 13,097 1,012,762

2023
—EC=E

Direct sales Direct sales Salesto  Direct sales to Sales to

to online to offline offline E-commerce online
customers customers distributors platforms distributors Total

ERREE  BERKT Mg EER &L
EPHE RPHE  HEEEEE  ERTaHE e st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBETT ARETT ARBTT
Revenue WA 824,397 351,170 509,035 262,886 16,749 1,964,237
Gross profit 7 370,891 234,178 250434 132386 7,027 994916
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3

222

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 3 WA EBERE (
H

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss

AN EBST)

?ﬁaﬁ

)
(b) P EERE (&)
(i) T2/ BPEXHER

2024 2023
—F-_mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Total reportable segment gross profit A 2MmH EHRER 1,012,762 994,916
Other net income H A FWA 39,462 30,502
Selling and distribution expenses SHE A SHR S (670,774) (563,283)
Administrative expenses THRREX (139,343) (159,506)
Research and development expenses R (28,544) (26,384)
Finance costs W% E R (6,950) (2,919)
Consolidated profit before taxation RE BT AT A E 206,613 273,326
(iii) Geographic information (iii) HbiHE R

The Group generated all of its revenue in Chinese Mainland
and its non-current assets are all located in Chinese Mainland,
and accordingly, no analysis of geographic information is

presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

4 OTHER NET INCOME 4 HABFWA

2024 2023
it 3 —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT

Net fair value changes on financial assets BAREBEIFAESNSREE
measured at FVPL ARBEEZEFE 2,810 1,937
Interest income FIEUA 4,601 3,390
Government grants (note (i) BT ED (HEEE()) 32,518 27,243

Net gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BE&&

plant and equipment B ES SRR 314 186
Foreign exchange loss SNEE 518 (214) (1,668)
Others Hity (567) (586)
39,462 30,502

0]

Government grants were received or receivable from several local

government authorities as a recognition of the Group's contribution

towards the local economic development.

() BRFF B B % T3 75 BT # BE U B Bk
FEUCER - AR TE AN LR B $ 8 1h 45 75 3%
RIELEVER

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 BRBLATRE
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BREGAIADE TSR A T B IRIEES
2024 2023
el 11 -3 ZE=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
(a) Finance costs (a) I HE A
Interest on bank loans (note 19(c)) RITERFIE (E19(0) - —*
Interest on lease liabilities (note 19(c)) HESERNE (HFFE190) 6,950 2,919
6,950 2,919

*

This amount represents amount less than RMB500.

* ZEREERARKESITHERE
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e TSR R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

5 BRBURIAE (&)

2024 2023
—EMME —Eo=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

(b)Staff costs* (b) E TR A*
Salaries, wages and other benefits ¢ ITEAREMER 277,596 274,965
Contributions to defined contribution retirement FTE MR TR
plan 15,219 13,754
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses AR AEE R RO TR X - 4,816
292,815 293,535
(c) Other items (c) EftEH
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) | EERE (MsE12) 546 653
Depreciation charge (note 11(a)) HEER (MiE11)
- owned property, plant and equipment — BBEYE - BERRE 24,888 18,770
— right-of-use assets —ERAREEE 30,982 21,394
Impairment loss of trade receivables B 5 W GRIE R EEE 1,026 625
Impairment loss of other receivables H B GRIE R EEE 2,038 1,361
Auditors’ remuneration ZERTE &
— Audit services — Fi IR
KPMG 2SRt = 2,300 2,150
Other auditors H fth A% BAD 27 622
— Other services — H AR
KPMG 2SRt =R 915 5,050
Listing expenses EmRAX - 37,323
Cost of inventories* (note 17(a)) FERA (7E17() 937,133 887,341

o Cost of inventories includes RMB107,563,000 (2023: RMB101,778,000)
relating to staff costs and depreciation, which amount is also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above or note 5(b) for each of
these types of expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6 S8R FXRPTHAEH

OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:

(a) HFEBFBRPHOBIAE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Current tax BIHABE R
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") and income P RIS ([DEMBR])
taxes of other tax jurisdictions REMREREEE RGN 66,602 60,307
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years NEFERENE (BERE) 890 (52)
67,492 60,255
Deferred tax B IE
Origination and reversal of temporary =R ES kD
differences (note 25(b)) (Bt &E25(b)) (21,309) 1,483
46,183 61,738
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6

226

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents: (continued)

(i)

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations of CIT in
Chinese Mainland, a subsidiary of the Group, Guanghe Yan
Palace Biotechnology Development Co., Ltd., is subject to PRC
CIT at a preferential tax rate of
December 2024 and 2023.

15% for the years ended 31

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
implementation regulations, certain subsidiaries of the Group
were qualified as “Small Low-profit Enterprise” and enjoyed
a reduced corporate income tax rate of 20%. All of the other
Chinese Mainland subsidiaries of the Group and the Company
are subject to CIT at a statutory rate of 25% for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

According to the relevant tax rules in Chinese Mainland,
qualified research and development expenses are allowed
for bonus deduction for income tax purpose, as a result, an
additional 100% of the qualified research and development
expenses could be deemed as deductible expenses for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERATE

6

P U REST)

mEBERPHMES (&)

(a) HFEBFBRPHOBIANE

(/&)

IRAR A B A 1 S FT IS B A0 AE B AR
BERER - AEERTFRRETE
ReBEEVBEERAERATNE
E-FTMERZT_=F+=A
=+—HIEFEAEAISBHEER
EE MR BB ERMEH -

BE(PEAREFMBESEMSH
) REEMES - AEEETTF
ANEVERER[NEHMFMBE] -
WEBREMSHRBEETH20% °
REBEFNARBNAAEMTRER
HWFRENEE_T_NMFER =T
Z=FTA=t+—HLFEAR
25%H)EE B R BN EPTEH -
REHRBEAMARTERE - 518
T2 2 /] RYERTS B A9 R hnEt
B Bt BEZTZNFR=

To=FF+A=1+—HILFE "
& T B A 2 M9 RE SN 100% AT AR 1E
AENAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

6 INCOMETAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents: (continued)

(if)

According to the two-tiered profits tax rate regime introduced
under the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 3) Ordinance
2018 (the “Ordinance”), the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits earned by a company will be taxed at 8.25% whilst the
remaining assessable profits will continue to be taxed at 16.5%.
There is an anti-fragmentation measure where each group will
have to nominate only one company in the group to benefit
from the progressive rates. The Ordinance was first effective

from the year of assessment 2018/2019.

Accordingly, the provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for Yan
Palace Bio Health (International) Co., Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is calculated in accordance with the
two-tiered profits tax rate regime, under which Profits Tax for
the first HKS2 million of assessable profits is calculated at 8.25%

while the remaining is calculated at 16.5%.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 takes
into account a reduction granted by the Hong Kong SAR
Government of 100% of the tax payable for the year of
assessment 2023/24 subject to a maximum reduction of
HKS$3,000 for each business.

6 SEBBRTNAER (F)

(a) HFEBHBRPHOBIEE  (H)

(if)

RIBE(CZZE—N\ERH (55]) (83
552 ) A1) (T& MBI 1) 3| AR FI13HE
MEH - AR E2BEEAT
JE RT3 R 532 8. 25% B0 B0 - M4
R ROE FD AR 16.5% 8 o
RIFSEHERTE - FRKEEER
ZEBAN—BERAREZRERM
Kol =E—N/"ZZT— N
FREERENER o

Atk Yan Palace Bio Health
(International) Co., Limited& = — &
ZHFEF+Z A=+ —HILEFENR
RS B TR RS T M AR I 5t
Bt B2E8BTERTR
MiE8.25% =t ERFHE - mek Al
R16.5%F & °

—E_MERBNSREED
RBEBFINTHERRA®S ==
=/ ZRBMFEEE T 100%H fE
MRS - BEEBEEBRRS L
PR 43,000 7T ©
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6

OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

mEBERPHMES (&)

(b) BAMXERREABRITENS

profit at applicable tax rates: sTREERAT ¢

2024 2023

—ECIMF —T=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBEFT

Profit before taxation R A A 206,613 273,326

Notional tax on profit before taxation, R AINEREARAEER

calculated at the applicable rates in BAMEFTENBERIE

the jurisdictions concerned 51,036 68,332

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRIHB R 2 B2 2,822 4,274

Tax effect of non-taxable income FEFER AR TS 72 2 (419) =
Tax effect of additional deduction for qualified & & 2 R 2 B BB SN R O

research and development expenses MR 2 (5,300) (4,584)

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses &) 5E B R FERR TR JE &5 18 (9) (159)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RERARBHNTIBEEN

MR & 2,172 79

Statutory tax concession EEBWER (5,009) (6,152)

Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years NEFERERR (BEREE) 890 (52)

Actual tax expense ERHIERY 46,183 61,738
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EEREEMHE

Directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments during the years ended 31 HE-_Z-_NER-_ZFZ-_=F+="A=+
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: —BUEFENESRESMEOT
2024
e -3
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances Retirement share-based
Directors'  and benefits Discretionary scheme payments
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (note) Total
NRREE
e EE i | R
Ezhe REVNE W BRERA % Nt (M) @zt

RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR ARETR ARMTR ARETx

Chairman and executive ESRRUMES

director

Mr. Huang Jian BREE - 1,489 1,003 41 2,533 - 2,533
Executive directors HOEE

Mr. Zheng Wenbin BELE - 923 112 51 1,086 - 1,086
Mr. Li Youguan ZHEFAE - 2,356 1,003 51 3,410 - 3,410
Ms. Huang Danyan BRAUNT - 468 443 - 911 - 911
Non-executive directors FUTES

Mr. Liu Zhen ABkkE - 270 - - 270 - 270
Mr. Wang Yalong ToRiE - 270 - - 270 - 270

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors

Mr. Xiao Wei HERE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Chen Aihua REEEE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Lam Yiu Por MERFE 234 - - - 234 - 234
Supervisors ES

Mr. Zheng Feng Bt s - 180 - - 180 - 180
Ms. Wei Wei Y L - 364 347 41 752 - 752
Ms. Zhang Ning RELL - 192 211 16 419 - 419

474 6,512 3,119 200 10,305 - 10,305
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ITVAAN

7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS

230

7 EERESEME (F)

(continued)
2023
—E-=F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme share-based
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total  payments (note) Total
NEREH
=i RIRGHE BRANHR
BXe  REMNE  BERA #3R it (E) @zt
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Chairman and executive ESRRUMES
director
Mr. Huang Jian BREE = 1,634 1,269 39 2942 2 2944
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Zheng Wenbin BELE = 737 72 39 1,048 - 1,048
Mr. Li Youguan THERGAE - 2,589 1,269 39 3897 - 3897
Ms. Huang Danyan =pos L - 293 983 - 1276 249 1,525
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Zhen HERE - 300 - - 300 - 300
Mr. Wang Yalong ToeiE - 300 - - 300 - 300
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Xiao Wei HERE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Chen Aihua REEELE 120 - - - 120 - 120
Mr. Zeng Hongliang (resigned ~ ZAIREE(R=T=-=%
on 25 May 2023) AAZTRARE) 48 - - - 48 - 48
Mr. Lam Yiu Por (appointed on ~~ MEBR L (R=T==%F
20 November 2023) +-A-1+BEZA) 2% - - - 2% - 2%
Supervisors 3
Mr. Zheng Feng BEfE - 200 - - 200 - 200
Ms. Wei Wei st - 184 499 39 1Y) 176 898
Ms. Zhang Ning REXT - 230 236 16 482 103 585
314 6,467 4528 172 11,481 530 12011
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

Note:

These represent the estimated value of restricted shares granted to the directors
and supervisors under the Group's share award scheme. The value of these share
awards is measured according to the Group's accounting policies for share-based
payment transactions as set out in note 1(p)(ii) and, in accordance with that
policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where
grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of
shares granted, are disclosed under the paragraph “Employee incentive scheme”
in the directors’ report and note 24.

During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group to the directors
or supervisors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement under which a director
or supervisor waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023: two) are
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of
the emoluments in respect of the other three (2023: three) individuals

are as follows:

7

EENEEME (&)

Hret -

EIRBEAREARD E@BE - HARTESER
EENZRHRMEE - ZFEROZBHOEER
PR EE 1 () (i) PRV AR SR B B A0 1 R By & 5T
BEAE  ARBAMERR  ZLEREARE
MECER L EETAMNEBEFEEENREDS
P o

ZEBEYAENFB(BECEEROOEE(K
HEHB)RESHREEEREE ] — B RH
FE24FE o

RER  AEBRECSIHENESREEK
B EAEBREMARKESERMAREE
FrH SR BRAR(E - NFR - BEELESHE
R SR A B R S R B A H B R 2 5k -

ReEMEAL

TEREHMEALTMB(CE_=F "%
F)ANLTREER  EMMERME7HKE - 5
=R (ZBZ=F: =8) AWM &
BT ¢

2024 2023

—E-mF ZE=fF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREBFT

Salaries and other emoluments e REMmME 1,540 1,712
Discretionary bonuses EVISIEAL 3,121 4,678
Equity-settled share-based payments LARE = S E MR D IR - 747
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIH R 123 114
4,784 7,251
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8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8 EaM& AL (&)
(continued)

The emoluments of the three (2023: three) individuals with the highest MesaW=8(ZF_=F: =%) AT
emoluments are within the following bands: RSN AT EE -

2024 2023
—E-MEF —T-=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 A#
HK$1,000,001 - HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T — 1,500,000 7T 1 =
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 7T — 2,000,000 7T 1 =
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 77T — 2,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 77T — 3,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T — 3,500,000/ 7T - 1

9 HttxmEWE
(a) BAEM2ERERBSOBRL

9 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(@) Tax effects relating to each component of other

%
.. 7
comprehensive income
2024
—EMF
Before tax Tax Net-of-tax
amount expense amount

BRBLAT &2 BERX REESHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®MTR AR¥ETR

Equity investments at FVOC| — net BANREER uf)\ﬁﬁﬂi@”ﬁl i Y

movement in fair value reserves fRiERE — RABERKE

(non-recycling) (‘AT $E[E)) B8 558 18,577 (4,644) 13,933
Exchange differences on translation 32 H Bl (A it A SN2

of financial statements of TS H) B 75 S 3R BO B W =58

operations outside Chinese

Mainland (13) = (13)
Other comprehensive income H 2 mE e 18,564 (4,644) 13,920
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE 10 BIRER

(a) Basic earnings per share (a)

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
following profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue during the year.

(i) Profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the

BREXRF

BREABADET AR %R
25 0 SRR A L R 6F PO AT 0 2

B F I EEHE -

Stz
=
)

(i) TDEEHBEERRREGETE

Company

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR®ETTT

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary RARE@EERRREN
equity shareholders of the Company FRFHE 156,295 201,218

Allocation of profit for the year attributable i S B ET SR A MR R

to unvested shares held for employee I 19 FEAE S A FE 7 B
incentive scheme - (3,733)

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary RAFE@EERRREN
equity shareholders of the Company FAFE 156,295 197,485
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (r X &5 B A5

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(a) Basic earnings per share (continued)

(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares

AN EBST)

10 SREF (8)
(a) BREARZRER ()
(i) ZERMELITH

2024 2023
—EMMF —T—=
‘000 ‘000
Tz FhR
Ordinary shares in issue at 1 January R—A—HEZRTHEBER 465,500 86,700
Effect of shares held for H Share Incentive BLHE B AT 235 A A IR 1D
Scheme (note 24) s (M1sE24) (4,488) =
Effect of unvested shares held for employee BE B BB ERE R
incentive scheme EBEROMNZE - (8,075)
Effect of Share Subdivision RO T E - 346,800
Effect of shares issued by initial public offering B X AR EHITRHOMNTE - 1,753
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ A=+—HrEmR
shares at 31 December N F9 461,012 427,178
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) BREHERF
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the effects of unvested HE-_ZT-_NF+-A=+—HIHF
shares held for H Share Incentive Scheme were not included in the E - BHERSE R EFAERN E%FH&T/J}

calculation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive. The Company did not have other
potential ordinary shares and therefore the amounts of diluted

earnings per share were the same as basic earnings per share for

the year. BANHEFEER -

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there are no dilutive BHE_Z_=F+_HA=+—HILF
potential ordinary shares, and therefore, the amounts of diluted B UEAEHFEBRINTAEAR B
earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share for the It FAERBESEENNSEETGR

year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 ¥ - BERKE

(a) FREEANHER

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

Ownership
interests in Other
leasehold  properties Office
buildings held  leased for and other Leasehold  Construction
for own use ownuse Motor vehicles ~ Machinery  equipment improvement in progress Total
KER it
HEBTH HEEAH BAR BE
fiEkEE BENZ ot BE  AtRE Wx%E  ERIE Eh
RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTT AR ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=£-A-H 16815 52436 5482 43029 9,057 23,051 930 150,800
Additions AE S 136,391 82 6,86 2444 3420 1442 150,065
Transfer fom construction~ EEAERTRE
in progress = = = 930 = = (930) =
Disposals e - (24759) - - - - - (24759
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=F+A=1-A
and 1 January 2024 R=ZE-mE-A-H 16815 164,068 5,564 50,245 11,501 26471 1442 276,106
Additions AE - 28,365 1481 24,344 19325 54941 22,79 151,252
Addition through business ~~ BEBEBAHRE
combination - - - - - 2420 - 2420
Tranfer from construction~ EEEERTRE
in progress - - - - - 21485 (21,485) -
Disposals i = (23.490) 02) = ) = - @)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-RETZA=1-R 16,815 168,943 6,823 74,589 30,773 105,317 2,753 406,013
Accumulated depreciation: ~ E3fHE
At 1 January 2023 S s Rl (3,689) (23841) (4038) (17.956) (4415) (9073) = (63,018)
Charge for the year ERE (799) (21394 (501) (6118) (2550) (8802) - (40,164)
Written back on disposals ~ FAHEREE - 17,048 - - - - - 17,048
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 1M1 Y% BERKE (&)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a) BREENHIER (&)

Ownership

interests in Other
leasehold  properties Office

buildings held  leased for and other Leasehold  Construction

for own use ownuse Motor vehicles ~ Machinery  equipment improvement in progress Total
KRR A

HEETH KEEAD HAR g

FRERE  EENE it BH RtEE MREE ERIE it
RMBOOO VB0 RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARBTL ARBTT  ARETR ARBTR ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTn ARETR

At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=F+-B=1-H

and 1 January 2024 R=Z-_m%¥-HB-H (4488) (28193) (4539 (4074) (6965) (17879) - (86,134)
Charge for the year EREL (799) (30982) (700) (3,664) (6499) (1326) - (55,870)
Addition through business ~~ BBERAHKAFE

combination - - - - - (618) - (618)
Written back on disposals R ERRED - 18771 21 - 48 - - 19030
At 31 December 2024 R-E-MmE+-A=1-H (5287)  (40,404) (5028  (27,738)  (13416) (31,719) - (1359)
Net book value: REFE
At31 December 2024 R-E-ME+-A=1-H 11528 128539 1,795 46,851 17,357 73,598 2753 282421
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=E+-A=1-H 123 135875 1,025 2,171 453 85% 1442 189972
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 1M1 Y% BERKE (&)

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EREEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of REBAEERNDENERAEEEYN
underlying asset is as follows: BEEFESINAT :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Included in “Property, plant and equipment”: (W% BFE k&M B
Ownership interests in leasehold buildings held — #{EE AMWHEEEFHFTA
for own use, carried at depreciated cost in Wrx - AR BRI ER AT
the PRC, with remaining lease term of: FIRFEER A -
— between 20 to 38 years - 205 E38%F 11,528 12,327

Other properties leased for own use, carried at Hih#eg BRHEDE -

depreciated cost BT ER AT R 128,539 135,875
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in REXEANESHEEYIEE 5T
profit or loss is as follows: wm

2024 2023
—ECME —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBT T

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by LB E R o R 4

class of underlying asset: BENEER :
Properties leased for own use FEERmMEEYZE 30,982 21,394
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) HEBEFE (MFE56) 6,950 2,919
Expense relating to short-term leases % EITE EMAERE R 2 12,263 10,006
Variable lease payments not included in the RMAHEEBAEN

measurement of lease liabilities A ER K 595 25
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

11

238

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
RMB28,365,000 (2023: RMB136,391,000). This amount primarily
related to the capitalised lease payments payable under new

tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of

lease liabilities are set out in notes 19(d) and 22 respectively.

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for

own use

The Group holds several commercial buildings as
administrative offices. The Group is the registered owner
of these property interests, including the whole or part of
undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests from
their previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing

payments to be made under the terms of the land lease.

(ii) Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as
its retail stores, manufacturing facilities and administrative
offices through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 1 to 10 years. Lease payments are
usually increased every year to reflect market rentals. None of
properties leased for own used include an option to renew
the lease for an additional period after the end of the contract

term.
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11 Y% -

R B K%t (&)

(b) ERAEEE (&)

RERN MGEREEERARE
28,365,000 L (ZTE=Z=F : AR¥
136,391,0007T,) © & 88+ 2 HARERF
HEBZEENNENMBENRER -

HEARSRHEMAEEBENERS
MEFIB D R E S A EE19(d) K22 ©

(@i

(ii)

FEBRANEEL R REFHHRE
EfER

AEERBEZEBEETIERITR
WAE - AEBERZEMHEEE
BiEAE TRy AR D E
I FRRREMER A o MABEREM
BARBZEMFESR ETRLE
H—RMERFR - BRBLEE G
BB -

ARZaS

HipiF e ANEEYE

AEBEEEBHE HEISERE
R IERETER - LERER
TR AENER - HEW IR E
REBTE/IEI0F - HEMNK K
FESEN - ARBRTHEEE -
EREEANEENERENER
HRERRSEL - REBNE
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R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)
(ii) Other properties leased for own use (continued)

The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain
variable lease payment terms that are based on sales generated
from the retail stores and minimum annual lease payment
terms that are fixed. These payment terms are common in
retail stores in Chinese Mainland where the Group operates.
The amount of fixed and variable lease payments for the years

is summarised below:

11 Y% -

R B K%t (&)

(b) ERAEEE (&)

(i)

HittfsEE ANBE &M (8)

AEBHESHTEE  HhEs
ENTEEELNHERNATEMNE
BN B E &K FEHEE
IR » ZENFEHRAEE L
LENPRBEABTEERPRER - &
FEMEERAIZHEN KRS AR
U (I

2024
TE-NmEF

Fixed Variable Total

payments payments payments

RSN GIE-SNE 7L

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR®TT AR¥T T

Retail stores TEE 12,058 595 12,653
Manufacturing facilities and

administrative offices FEERBRITEBEAR 24,304 = 24,304

36,362 595 36,957
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 1M1 Y% BERKE (&)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) EAEEE (&)
(i) Other properties leased for own use (continued) (i) HftisFa ANHEEYE (&)
2023
T

Fixed Variable Total

payments payments payments

(& TE 5 5K AR B EGEE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREBTT ARBTE

Retail stores ZEE 9,053 25 9,078
Manufacturing facilities and
administrative offices EERBIITERAE 11,896 - 11,896
20,949 25 20,974
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that an increase in sales R-ZE-_MFE+—_A=+—8 &
generated from these retail stores by 5% would have increased ZETEEEANEERELEM
the lease payments by RMB30,000 (2023: RMB1,000). 5% 1% 5 A0 & A 38 10 A R #530,000

TT(ZZE=—=F : AR¥1,0007T) °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS N \B/EEE
Patent rights Software Total
=R B #sct
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFIT AREFT AREFTT
Cost: R
At 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=F—H—H 719 2,274 2,993
Additions RNE = 658 658
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—HRK
—E-F—HF—H 719 2,932 3,651
Additions NE 80 1,168 1,248
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_WMF+=-A=+—H 799 4,100 4,899
Accumulated amortisation: REt#ey -
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H (284) (1,434) (1,718)
Charge for the year FREZ W (32) (621) (653)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-ZE_=F+_-_A=+—HK
—ET-mW&E—HA—H (316) (2,055) (2,371)
Charge for the year FAZH (35) (511) (546)
At 31 December 2024 R-_ZFB-—WMF+=-A=+—H (351) (2,566) (2,917)
Net book value: BRMENFE :
At 31 December 2024 RZZE_WMF+—-_A=+—H 448 1,534 1,982
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=RA=+—H 403 877 1,280

The amortisation charge for the year is included in administrative

expenses and research and development expenses in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

FANBHEERFTAREBERNTHA

X MAERX -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)
13 GOODWILL 13 B&
RMB’000
AR%T T
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 RZZBZ=F—HA—H ZFZ=F
and 1 January 2024 +=ZA=+— El)ifjflﬂli A—H 75,165
Addition through business combination (note 19(e)) BREBEARE (HEE196e)) 2,000
At 31 December 2024 RZBZNF+=A=+—H 77,165
Accumulated impairment losses: PR EEE !
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H"
and 31 December 2024 —E-_=%+=-HA=+—H
M_ZE_NE+—_A=+—H -
Carrying amount: BRTEIME :
At 31 December 2024 RZEZWMF+=—A=1+—8 77,165
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=F+—"H=+—H 75,165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

13 GOODWILL (continued) 13 & (&)
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing BEHENRSEEENMNRERNR
goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units (CGUs) BRIBEZEHMREZE D BIREREER
identified according to city of operation and operating segment as BRReEEEMOEENT
follows:
2024 2023
—B-mE —F-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTTT
Beijing Tianfeiyan Trading Co., Ltd. ERAREEEEREEAF
(“Beijing Tianfeiyan”) - offline retail (THEm AR - B TEE 31,609 31,609
Harbin Jinyanhui Trading Co., Ltd. KREMSREREAREAAT
("Harbin Jinyanhui”) - offline retail ((EREeHKE]) - HTTE 17,301 17,301
Changchun Jinyanhui Trading Co., Ltd. REMeRERERRAEEAT
(“Changchun Jinyanhui”) - offline retail ([EEe®HE]) - HTTE 15,245 15,245
Taiyuan Jixiangyan Trading Co., Ltd. ARTEFHEEEERAR
(“Taiyuan Jixiangyan") - offline retail (TREREER]) - B TEE 11,010 11,010
Nanning Jinyanli Trading Co., Ltd. HESHMNEEBR AT
(“Nanning Jinyanli”) - offline retail ([FAEEF]) - BTEE 2,000 -

77,165 75,165
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Beijing Tianfeiyan - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Beijing Tianfeiyan is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in

estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

13 & (&)

BERHENREELEVNERERNR
(&)
ERRRHK - RTEE

REeEEEM - ERARENAT RO SE
DIRBEREEFEMEE - AEEE X
BB EEGLEMBIGHE - ZEHHERE
REREEEHENRERFHRUBEE
MRS METRR - ARG AT DS
ETERRWT :

2024 2023
—B-mE —F-=
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year AFFER BB AFIERE
forecast period 2% 3%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond WBEAF G INEEERE
the five-year period 2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate T A B 3R K 12.13% 12.97%

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Beijing Tianfeiyan as at 31 December
2024 is RMB413,000 (2023: RMB27,081,000).
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R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Beijing Tianfeiyan - offline retail (continued)

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have
removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2023
and 2024:

13 & (&)

BERHENREELEVNERERNR
(&)
ERRRH - RTE2E (H)

I R L R T B
o TRBIN-F-=FR-T-mF
+- A=+ —ASRTEBERFSHEE
PR E R BRI R R B RS

2024
—E-mE

2023

—E=F

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue

during five-year forecast period

A TR M PO A S48 £ S T

Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond
the five-year period

HRIB T HIRO (S AT 18 R R TR

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AT R X L7t

0.1 percentage
points

0.11EE 2 2

0.2 percentage
points

0.21HEH 7 2

0.1 percentage
points

0 1BEDE

5.2 percentage
points
5218 &8 5

9.5 percentage
points
9.51E B2 E

4.8 percentage
points
4.81EE 5 E
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13

246

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Harbin Jinyanhui - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Harbin Jinyanhui is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in

estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

13 BE (])
BEHENREELEMNRENR
(%)

KERSAYE - R TEE

ReELSU - RRESHENTTRE S
BOURBEREEFEMNEE - AEED
ZRBUYEXMAEMBEFE - ZFHE
ERENEEEHAENRERLFHMYMLEE
BHRSRERER - BRMGE A KE 58
WEZHmRWMD ¢

2024 2023
e s
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year A FFE R EAR U A FIE K &R
forecast period 3% - 4% 4% — 5%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond 838 1 BR Y fh T N
the five-year period TR E 2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate HiATAL IR = 12.13% 12.97%

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Harbin Jinyanhui as at 31 December
2024 is RMB16,956,000 (2023: RMB14,906,000).
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R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Harbin Jinyanhui - offline retail (continued)

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have
removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2023
and 2024:

13 & (&)

BERHENREELEVNERERNR
(&)
RHELRE - KTFE#E)

I R L R T B
o TRBIN-F-=FR-T-mF
+- A=+ —ASRTEBERFSHEE
PR E R BRI R R B RS

2024
—E-mE

2023

—E=F

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue during five-year forecast period
HFEFRAPHRNBAFERETF
Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond
the five-year period
HB A F G IE ISR R R T E

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AT R X L7t

7.3 percentage
points

73EE 2

8.5 percentage
points

8.51HH 7 2

5.0 percentage
points

5.0188 2 2

6.6 percentage
points
6.618 & 72 #h

9.3 percentage
points
93fEE 5B

4.5 percentage
points
451EE 5 E

Changchun Jinyanhui - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Changchun Jinyanhui is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an
independent professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. The key

assumptions used in estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

RESHE -KTEE

ReELEN - RESHENIHOSHE
DIRBEREEFEMNEE - AEREE X
BB EXGHEMBBE - ZFHEE
REREEEHENRERFHUBEE
MIREMETRR - ARMEF AT DS
TERRWT :

2024 2023
—EolNEF —ZF==
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year F TR BRI A 3 R
forecast period 2% - 3% 3% - 4%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond 838 S ER R (h T N
the five-year period TR 2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate HiATAL IR = 12.13% 12.97%
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BB HRRMEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 X £ 5 & Ar#55 -

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Changchun Jinyanhui - offline retail (continued)

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Changchun Jinyanhui as at 31
December 2024 is RMB545,000 (2023: RMB5,772,000).

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have
removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2023
and 2024:

AN EBST)

13 & (&)

BERHENREELEVNERERNR
(&)
RESHRE -8T2EH)

A\—ZE-NE+-—F=+—8  ERAK
CleBEIRECELSEN - RESHREN
BREEMNFEAARES45000L (ZE==
F: AR¥S5,772,0007T) °

ERECHEEOREARETRRES
i o TRBIIR-E-ZER-F-MF
+ZA=T-RSANTEBERABFE
R BB AR R B

2024
—EomE

2023
—Eo=4F

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue during five-year forecast period
RFEFRREAA A FIE R ETE
Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond
the five-year period
BB M0 AT R TR

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AT K L7t

0.4 percentage
points

04BE D

0.4 percentage
points

0.4HE 2 2

0.2 percentage
points

0.21HH 7 2

2.8 percentage
points

281EE S E

3.6 percentage
points

361EE 2 #

1.9 percentage
points

1.91E & 7 F
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R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Taiyuan Jixiangyan - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU - Taiyuan Jixiangyan is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in

estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

13 & (&)

BEHENRSELBUNRENR
(%)

AREHRK -KTEE

ReELEM - AREFHNATKLOSE
DIRBEREEFEMEE - AEEE X
BB EEGLEMBIGHE - ZEHHERE
REREEEHENRERFHRUBEE
MRS METRR - ARG AT DS
ETERRWT :

2024 2023
—B-mE —F-=
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year A FFE R EAR U A FIE K &R
forecast period 1% 2%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond fiasbic a0k s il
the five-year period R RE 2% 2%
Pre-tax discount rate TRATREER & 12.13% 12.97%

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Taiyuan Jixiangyan as at 31 December
2024 is RMB16,138,000 (2023: RMB21,219,000).

RE-ZFBE-_WF+_—_A=+—H ' ERAJK
ElERBNBRBRSELESBMN — ARSTHRD
REENFEAARE16,138000T (==
—=%F : AR¥21,219,0007T) °
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e TSR R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (r X &5 B A5

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing

goodwill (continued)

Taiyuan Jixiangyan - offline retail (continued)

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have

removed the remaining headroom respectively as at 31 December 2023

and 2024:

AN EBST)

13 & (&)

BEHENRSELBUNRENR
(%)

AERE#R#K - R TEE(H)

e TREIIN

ERECHBENRENAETHRES
TR =FR T MEF
TZA=1T—B 2R EBERRARFE
IR R R BT RE IR R RRE

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue during five-year forecast period

RTINS

Decrease in estimated weighted average growth rate beyond
the five-year period

BB A F O TSR E R TR

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AT R & L7t

11.2 percentage

7.6 percentage

MN2EE2 %

7.6 percentage

7.6 percentage
points

7618 E D

32.9 percentage
points

32918 H D2

10.0 percentage
points

10018 B 72 &

Nanning Jinyanli - offline retail

The recoverable amount of the CGU — Nanning Jinyanli is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist with the calculation. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by

management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in

estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

AEEHRF —
REeELBN —

MR &R E TR
EERRWT :

MAES AN ESE
TIRIBEREEFEMEE - AREEXR
BB BXRMEEMBR
REREEEHENRERFHMBEE
o AMME T AT I B & B A

E‘—"ux—rn '@E

2024
—E-MEF
Annual growth rate of revenue during five-year T FE B HA O U A B 8 R SR
forecast period 2%
Estimated weighted average growth rate beyond 38 S BAEY (A ET AN I R 2K
the five-year period 2%
Pre-tax discount rate T RTELIR = 12.13%
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R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

Nanning Jinyanli - offline retail (continued)

The headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts deducting
the carrying amount of the CGU - Nanning Jinyanli as at 31 December
2024 is RMB1,600,000.

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would, in isolation, have

removed the remaining headroom as at 31 December 2024:

13 & (&)

BERHENREELEVNERERNR
(&)
MESEAN - K TEE (@)

R-ZT-_WME+-_A=+—0 ' ERAI
O&BNKRBESELSEN - BESHRIN
BREERFE A AR 1,600,0007T °

ERECHEENRENRETHREDY
Mo TRBIWARZZE-ZWF+=ZA=+—
B 7 28 55 JH Bk T 85 F [E Y3 K R R R AT Bh
IR R AR R &

2024
—EomE

Decrease in annual growth rate of revenue

during five-year forecast period

HEFERHARAFIE R TE

Decrease in estimated weighted average growth
rate beyond the five-year period

BB T MR I T2 R TR

Increase in pre-tax discount rate

AT R X E 7t

2.7 percentage
points

2.718E 22

7.7 percentage
points

7.7 8B 5%

4.6 percentage
points

4.68E 2 =

Management adopted Weighted Average Cost of Capital (“WACC")
model to calculate the discount rate of the CGUs. Since all CGUs are
engaged in sales of the same products in Chinese Mainland, parameters
adopted in WACC model, such as beta extracted from comparable
companies, risk free rate, cost of debt and tax rate, are the same for all
CGUs. Further, given that all CGUs are substantially similar in business
model in Chinese Mainland, operation scale, stage of development,
core competitiveness and financing costs during the year, management
apply consistent CGU-specific risk premium to all CGUs, which results in

the same pre-tax discount rate for all CGUs during the year.

BRI TS EARKA ([ InHEF5
BARA]) BRAGERSEL FMRRER
T ARIAERTELEBMH N B E A
WEHRAERVHE  FHmEFHER
RARBFRAN 28 (N8 TR A RIR
BABERE - ERRAE - EHKRAR
BE) HAARSELEMM AR - 1t
S BRIERESELEBMRNFAESE
M EBIRA - RERR - BRER
BOBFARBERANTEABEAU &
BEMMARSELSEMER —HNAS
EEBUBERBGE KMEBAER
SEABMRFANBAIRAER AR -
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A TSRk EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

13 GOODWILL (continued) 13 B& (&)
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing BEHEBNRSEECBENNREERR
goodwill (continued) (%&)
No impairment loss of goodwill was recognised during the year. RE R EEREE R EEE - AE'JFM—MQ
Any adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation of Bl & BEAMARKNERNTFESDFEHR
recoverable amount would result in impairment losses. BEEE -

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 HFRANKRE
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which THREHEFEFEAREERE  EEN
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class BENFRANFE - BREETHN  #F
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. BRRH BV AR B TR

Proportion of ownership interest

BERRRLL
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation and issued and effective Held by the Held by a
Name of Company business paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
BETR FEEH
NRER aMRURESLYE HRERFE EREE ARRARE  AFLRARE  FEED
Xiamen Yan Palace Seelong Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 100% 100% - Research, development
Biotechnology Co, Ltd. (EFIM# 2 and production of edible
HREMRHEARAF) (notes () and (i) bird's nest products
EFm Az BARENRRBRAR HE A ARK 100% 100% - KBEMOHEREE
(Bit3EG) i) 100,000,0007T
Xiamen Yan Palace Electronic Commerce Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% 100% - Online retail business
Technology Co, Ltd. (EF#ZEE T of edible bird's nest
BB RHAR A ) (notes () and (i) products
EREZEETHHEERAA REI, N 100% 100% - AREERNRL
GRG0 10,000,0007C TEXH
Notes: B
(i)  The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation is for () ZEBHNEAHEBEATRX o EIGEXEMHH
identification purpose only. 7l
(i) These entities are domestic enterprise established in Chinese Mainland and (i) ZEETBBERTPEAMKBIMABRA
registered as a limited liability company. AIHIRATREE ©
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R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

15 EQUITY SECURITIES DESIGNATED AT FVOCI

15 BAABEF AHMEEKES
HY$E TE IR B 25

2024 2023
g it 23 ZEZ=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AR¥EFIT
Investments in listed equity securities-PT. 7 T AR HERE 5PT. ESTA
ESTA INDONESIA (“PT. ESTA") INDONESIA ([PT. ESTA|) KR & 35,948 =

PT. ESTA is incorporated in Republik Indonesia and listed on Indonesia

Stock Exchange, and engaged in edible bird's nests trading and

industrial business. In August 2024, the Group purchased 197,400,000
ordinary shares of PT. ESTA and held 4.8% of equity interest in PT. ESTA
as at 31 December 2024. The Group designated its investment in PT.

ESTA at FVOCI (non-recycling), as the investment is held for strategic

purposes. No dividends were received on this investment during the

year ended 31 December 2024.

16 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other non-current assets mainly represent prepayments for advertising

expenses and purchases of property, plant and equipment.

PT. ESTAZEENJZ JE 78 2n A0 Bl it Ak <7 36 72
EEHARSH LT TEREREE
MT#%% -R-ZT_MFNA A£H
885 197,400,000 % PT. ESTAE @AY - M —
ToMMFE+=A=+—HIFEPT. ESTA 4.8%
fR#E - BRIRETDEBEBEMmMER - &K
EEETERPT. ESTARMRE AR AREE
AR (TAER)  HEZT
—HWE+—B=1+—RLEFE  BEMRZK
FEWER B, ©

16 HitFRBEE

HtFRBEETREBERSRY - B
BYE - BERZEOENFR -

17 INVENTORIES 17 &8
2024 2023
—EBEo@E O —TO=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBETT
Raw materials R # 197,742 206,517
Work in progress R m 40,561 49,354
Finished goods X 6B 79,096 75,479
Goods in transit HEEER 20,639 13,787
Packaging BE 15,540 16,519
Right to recover returned goods U [61:R & Ky #E T 237 9
353,815 361,750
Less: Write-down of inventories W EE MR (617) (1,388)
353,198 360,362
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R IR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

17 INVENTORIES (continued)

(@) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense and included in profit or loss is as follows:

17 78 (&)

(a) BABFAXLFABENFES
HoFWT :

2024 2023
—F_mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEHFERNREE 932,446 876,671

Carrying amount of inventories recognised as BERAMERIHEFEREE
research and development expenses 2,816 8,105
Write-down of inventories FEMOR 1,871 2,565
937,133 887,341

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

(a) Trade and other receivables

18 B 5 RUWIR - HAEWRIR

RN FIE
(a) EZRHEMEWRFE
2024 2023
—EMME —ECo=4&
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance E 5 EYRIE (FREEEE)
— third parties —%=h 92,367 83,298
Deposits Re 4,102 13,735
Amounts due from related parties (note 29(c)) JE Uiz B B 75 k08 (B EE29(c)) 1,900 1,800
VAT recoverable AT R A 36,496 19,603
Government grants receivables JRE ST B IR 4 B 27,026 =
Other receivables o th jE W R IE 1,765 1,861
163,656 120,297

As at 31 December 2024, all of the trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one

year.

254 Xiamen Yan Palace | EFifiz BRBEXRMDERAF

R-B-_WME+-—A=+—08 - BHFE
Z 5 I H th fEUR A A5 1A — F R 4R [B] 3 e
REMAY -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18 EZEWRE - HiuEWRIE

PREPAYMENTS (continued) RFEARIE (&)
(a) Trade and other receivables (continued) (a) EZRHEMEWRRE (&)
Ageing analysis RER D
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade HERSHKR  BHEBGEGTAZ
receivable (which are included in trade and other receivables), R E M EWIKIE) IREE B BHBRE
based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: EREENERE T
2024 2023
—ECE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETE

Current (not past due) BNVER (R ER) 92,070 83,298
Over 3 months past due 60 BRER 3 = {E A 297 =
92,367 83,298
Trade debtors are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing. BoOEWEZRERZ Y BE3I0E90K
Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising RNEH  EHEAEEBZERELRES
from trade debtors are set out in note 27(a). WA FTELAEERBRE—FSHF

BERHE27@) °

(b) Prepayments (b) FEATFRIA
2024 2023
—E-ME —ZEF=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Prepayments for: AT B IEE TR R

— advertising expenses — EERY 58,076 101,554
— purchase of raw materials — BERME 2,455 6,476
— others — Hftp 15,465 10,138

75,996 118,168
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X £ 5 B A5 5)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

256

BB HRRMEE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

P U REST)

Y HRERASEEMREMRES
REER
() RERBRSEB/YESE

2024 2023
—F_mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand (note (i)) HRITRFEBRE (MFEG)) 410,724 531,032
Cash balances with payment platforms (note (i) X & HIIR & 4565 (M sEGi) 9,784 6,061
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFEY 420,508 537,093

(i) As at 31 December 2024, HK$1,205,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,116,000) and RMB984,000 were placed
with the a bank in designated accounts in relation to Share

Scheme Trust under the H Share Incentive Scheme as disclosed

in note 24.

(i) The amount represents cash balances kept with third party

payment platforms, which can be withdrawn on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents situated
in Chinese Mainland amounted to RMB375,257,000 (2023:
RMB277,225,000). Remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland

is subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange

control.
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() RZE_ME+=-_A=+—8 -
1,205,000 L (HEROARK
1,116,0007T) & AR # 984,000 EAFA
RITHE E IR P I AR M FE24 FT R BR A H
RN ET 8118 TR T EIE 5T

(i) ZEBEFRNE=TXNFENA
BREER - ATIRESRIEE o

RZEBE_ME+A=+—8 R
FREAMHNREEREEFEVWAAR
#375,257,000 (ZE-_=F : AR
277,225,0007T) ° #%E & [ H A B A 8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

19 BERBEEEBYREMRE
REEF ()
(b) BRBATFHEREERESRENY

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

generated from operations: R :
2024 2023
—ECIMF —T=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B = ARBTT ARBEFT
Profit before taxation BR B AT AE 206,613 273,326
Adjustments for; BT FIEEL FHEE -
Depreciation e 5(c) 55,870 40,164
Amortisation of intangible assets mR A ERE 5(c) 546 653
Finance costs % E R 5(a) 6,950 2,919
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BB KR ERRE
plant and equipment 4 (314) (186)
Gain on financial assets BARBER ABEL
measured at FVPL TR ERS 4 (2,810) (1,937)
Equity-settled share-based VAR 0 45 55 O IR A7 15 SR B 2
payment expenses = 4,816
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 WG R B RS 5(c) 1,026 625
Impairment loss on other receivables H th Y R IE R (B s 18 5(c) 2,038 1,361
Foreign exchange loss SNE BB 4 214 1,668
Changes in working capital: EEESEE -
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERmL (i) 8,229 (88,567)
Increase in trade receivables, other B SRR - E A EKEIE
receivables and prepayments NI FRIRE AN (22,501) (97,003)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted ZIRHRITEIRD
bank deposits (3Eh0) 8,074 (6,474)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K H Ath FE T FR IR A0 11,288 26,947
Increase in contract liabilities &R & EEmn 26,535 48,853
Increase in other current liabilities Hibmeh & &L 3,967 5,107
Cash generated from operations BB S 305,725 212,272
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 19 BERBEEEYREMES

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) REEF ()
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () MEETHELENEEYHER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from —F?ﬁitﬁ% EREEHEsmas
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. & B AERSRIIEESEH - A
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which EHEAMNABRERS REDAR
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the AKBELREBEAEENSAES
Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from e EhAEAREIHELNES
financing activities. e o
Amount
due to non-
Lease controlling
liabilities interests Total
EFER
HEEE BHHE -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥T R
(Note 22)
(M&22)
At 1 January 2024 R=ZZ-ME-A-H 137,678 - 137,678
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERELD
Capital element of lease rentals paid EHENEASH (29,312) - (29,312)
Interest element of lease rentals paid AR (6,950) = (6,950)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  [A3EERER KRS - (9,368) (9,368)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSRELDER (36,262) (9,368) (45,630)
Other changes: Hitv2 s
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ERFVUFEEEENHEREEM
into new leases during the year 26,844 - 26,844
Early termination of lease liabilities RAKILAESR (4,895) = (4,895)
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) MEFZ (HEse) 6,950 - 6,950
Dividends to non-controlling interests MIEERE SRR E - 9,368 9,368
Total other changes HinEEas 28,899 9,368 38,267
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+=A=1-A 130315 - 130315
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 19 BERBEEEYREMES

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) REER (E)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) MEETHELENEEYR (&)
activities (continued)
Amount
due to non-

Lease controlling

Bank loans liabilities interests Total
IR
FITER RERR =R at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT ARETR ARET:
(Note 22)
(M&22)
At 1 January 2023 R=2==%-A-H - 26921 7,00 34121
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERERE
Proceeds from new bank loans HROERAETE 18 - - 18
Repayment of bank loans ERFTER (18) - - (18)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERESHELRTS - (17,082) - (17,082)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREEMFIETS - (2919 - (2919)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests AR ER KRS - - (7928) (7928)
Total changes from financing cash flows HERETERYLE - (20,001) (7,928) (27.929)
Other changes: Hi#s
Increase in lease liabilties from entering into new leases FRIAHEEENEE
during the year AEEM - 135,486 - 135,486
Early termination of lease liabilities RAKIERERE - (7.647) - (7.647)
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) M BEZ (F3Es6) * 2919 - 2919
Dividends to non-controlling interests IR R RS = = 728 728
Total other changes EthE5aE - 130,758 728 131,486
At 31 December 2023 RZB==§+=A=1-8 - 137,678 - 137,678
*  This amount represents amount less than RMB500. * o EELE(EA A REKSO0TLHY S EE o
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X £ 5 B A5 5)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

260

BB HRRMEE

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise

the following, which are related to lease rentals paid:

P U REST)

REER (H)
(d) HEARSRH

FAAMERSRERNERE

19 BERRESSEYRAEMERE

FEAT

I8 AL RECNHES AR

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBTIT
Within operating cash flows REERSREN 12,858 10,031
Within financing cash flows REEREREN 36,262 20,001
49,120 30,032
(e) Net cash outflow arising from business combination (e) KA HELEFRHEERE

In November 2024 and December 2024, the Group entered into
agreements in relation to acquire the business of Guiyang Yanpinlai
Trading Co., Ltd. (“Guiyang Yanpinlai’) and Nanning Jinyanli
Trading Co., Ltd. (“Nanning Jinyanli") with two offline distributors
of the Group. Guiyang Yanpinlai and Nanning Jinyanli principally
engage in offline sales of bird’s nest products.The following tables
summarise the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities

at the completion date of business combination. The management

(ffﬁ’ﬁ?nt\uuﬁi” ME=E

Z o BEEEmALEE
ERTHE

REEM
KEBEHBHMEEEERBED

R-FB_MOFE+—AR_F_MOF+
—A 'ZJSEIEEZKEIEE%%?TW%
BARBBEEGERKAEARAR

/i*ﬂﬂtﬂ?ﬁf’f“ﬁ‘

nA) ([FEESHA ) WERBFI L

B MM ERER
TR 52

considered the fair value of these assets and liabilities are not AL TEEBRAALBZXEZEENRSE
BEMNARBEEERAETEEAEZR

materially different from the book value:
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

19 BERRESSEYRAEMERE
REER (F)
(e) XBEHELEFRERE (&)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(e) Net cash outflow arising from business combination

(continued)

Total

HRET

RMB'000

ARBTT

Property, plant and equipment (note 11) VI - B R (HIEE11) 1,802

Inventories T8 1,066

Trade and other receivables B 5 I o pE YR IE 1,187

Prepayments TEfTFRIE 582

Contract liabilities aRAaE (2,237)

Total identified net assets acquired WHEE BRI FEERTE 2,400
Consideration HHE

- Cash paid —BNRE 4,000

- To be settled in cash subsequent to year end —BRFREURSEE 400

Total consideration B 4,400

Goodwill arising on business combination (note 13) XBEHEENTE (HFE13) 2,000

T PUSFIR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 261



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 EF R EMENFIE
2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Trade payables E S ENHRIA 66,895 62,525
Receipts in advance T FIE 47,404 31,981
Salary and welfare payables e % & REF| 51,579 60,811
Other payables and accruals Hih N FOA N EE A 42,086 38,182
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost REERATTENSRAE 207,964 193,499
Other tax payables H b e~ 18 9,061 12,834
Refund liabilities: RYEE -
— arising from right of return —HRERES 428 159
— arising from sales rebates — EHERFES 53,597 53,615
271,050 260,107
All trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as EHREB S NEMENFEEHER —FER
income within one year or are repayable on demand. HEBRERBIWMASILRERKERE -
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade HEREHKR  BHENMZE GEAEZS R
payables (which are included in trade and other payables), based on the HMpEf B B ZEHENER DTN
invoice date, is as follows: T:
2024 2023
—BomE T fF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Within 3 months =EAR 65,191 61,183
Over 3 months but within 6 months =EAREBEREARN 790 794
Over 6 months but within 9 months 7<ME A LA EBAE AR 914 106
Over 9 months but within 1 year JEAA EBE—FRA - 244
Over 1 year but within 2 years —FAEERERA - 198

66,895 62,525
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21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21 EEIEE
2024 2023
—E_PUE —Eo=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Receipts in advance TR RIR 252,932 223,953
Unredeemed credits RABRESD 1,143 1,350
254,075 225,303
Contract liabilities mainly represents the advance payments (exclude ARAEBEEENAREHENBRONER
output VAT) from customers, for which the underlying goods are yet to TEMFIE (T EHBEER) - TBFIEF
be provided. The output VAT contained in the advance payments has RSHIEIEER S "B AEMEHAE -

been classified under other current liabilities.

Movement in contract liabilities EREEEH
2024 2023
—ECE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE AR®BTE

Balance at 1 January R—A— B/ 225,303 176,450
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ERFAERRED T A

recognising revenue during the year that ERBENBASER

was included in the contract liabilities at BERD

the beginning of the year (220,049) (172,566)
Addition through business combination (note 19(e)) FHRFEBEIRE (FFE196)) 2,237 -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving FRUWEIFFTERKIE

advances from customers during the year A RAEEN 246,584 221,419
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—BAK&H 254,075 225,303

Most of the contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income TEEZH A RE RN —FAERAIA -

within one year.

T PUSFIR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024 263



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

zrﬁ

ITVAAN

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (r X &5 B A5

22

23

264

BB HRRMEE

LEASE LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

AN EBST)

22 HEAE

RZZE-_WMF+-_A=+—H HE&A®E
H(EZEHAIMT ¢

2024 2023
—FomE  —F--F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Within 1 year —&R 25,267 26,391
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFEAN 23,450 22,259
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBRERFA 49,683 42,713
After 5 years hEE 31,915 46,315
105,048 111,287
130,315 137,678

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Defined contribution retirement plan

As stipulated by the regulations of the Chinese Mainland, the Group
participates in various defined contribution retirement plans organised
by municipal and provincial governments for its employees. The Group
is required to make contributions to the retirement plans at 16%-17%
of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of the employees. A
member of the plan is entitled to a pension equal to a fixed proportion
of the salary prevailing at the member's retirement date. The Group
has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with these plans beyond the annual contributions described

above.
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24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

H Share Incentive Scheme

On 25 March 2024, the H share employee incentive scheme (the “H
Share Incentive Scheme”) was approved by the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company. The purpose of H Share Incentive Scheme is
mainly to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution or potential contribution to continue leading the future

success of the Group.

Following the implementation of the H Share Incentive Scheme, the
Company has appointed a third-party trustee (“Trustee”) to constitute
a trust plan under the trust management agreement (“Share Scheme
Trust”) for repurchasing, holding, and administrating the Company's
shares under H Share Incentive Scheme. The directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to consolidate Share Scheme Trust as
the Company has power to govern the relevant activities of Share
Scheme Trust and can derive benefits from the contributions of the
eligible participants who are awarded with the shares under the H Share

Incentive Scheme.

Eligible participants as approved by the Company would be granted
the trust units (“Trust Units") which give the eligible participants the
right to pay the subscription price when the Trust Units are vested.
After the Trust Units are duly vested, the Trustee shall allocate and
dispose the corresponding H shares of the Company underlying the H
Share Incentive Scheme (“Restricted H Shares”) in accordance with the
instruction of the eligible participants. The eligible participants shall not
have any rights (such as voting rights, allotment rights or right issues,
etc.) attached to any of the Restricted H Shares except for dividend
rights. The directors of the Company consider the H Share Incentive
Scheme providers a longer-term option to subscribe Trust Units at a
specified subscription price and is, in substance, a share option scheme.

Accordingly, the trust units granted are accounted for as share options.

24 IREREE

RN R 5
HER R BT &

RZZEZWF=A=+HAB ' HEEEHE
&I (THAR BN ETE]]) AR AR AR R A
SHUE o HAIRBENET 8 B A T2 BUE) K 426
AERSEENBERNELAER - AHE
BT EAREEEMRKY

HEUA B BB MEE - ARREREE=7
XEA(READRBEEEEEHERL
SR8 ([T EIMERE)) - LABBE - #5
BREBEARBHBRABE R THRD -
BN AR A EEEB D SIS 1ERE
EE - I AT AR SR H AR B E B R A A
REBMSEENARMTED  ARAES
R nEEEERa ARBEE -

RARRIMENABERZEERRRET
SaHENB([ERXEENE]) - 8155

XHENERERN  cEAR2EENZEE
ﬁJd BEMNEN REXXEEOEL
FEL XEAERBEEERSEEN
TE/T\ DL KR E HRBUA B Rt BIARRE R A A B
MREHA ([ ZERHIHAL ) o BRECBIASN - &
BR2BETZTHEMIZREIHBRM SN
TR (R - RERIERS) -
RNRABEERRA - HIHE A BIIR M — TR
EERBERBEAXARNBENR Y
#BE BN EERESE - Bt
REHERX SR NERTIZBREAR -

)dJr )41! ><'l\ E:
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24

BB HRRMEE

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

H Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 9,294,400 H shares were
purchased on The Stock Exchange by the Share Scheme Trust at a
total consideration of approximately HK$103,028,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB94,073,000).

In December 2024, 6 directors, 1 supervisor and 63 employees were
granted 23,036,116 Trust Units (equivalent to 2,161,250 Restricted H
Shares), 1,772,009 Trust Units (equivalent to 166,250 Restricted H Shares)
and 42,176,493 Trust Units (equivalent to 3,957,000 Restricted H Shares)
pursuant to the H Share Incentive Scheme at a subscription price of
HK$0.455 per Trust Units (equivalent to HK$4.85 per Restricted H Shares),
respectively. Subject to meeting the appraised conditions in respect of
the Company's revenue and profits in the financial year prior to a given

vesting date, the Trust Units will be vested in the following manner:

24 IREREE

Vesting dates

AN EBST)

W B RS
()

HER B =T & (4]

HE-ZT_WF+-_A=1+—HILFE -
f& 5 5T E1E 55 A 42 ¥ {8 49103,028,000 8 7T
(FEERH AR 94,073,0007T) FABE R FTEE
59,294,400 JxH I °

RZZE-_ME+_H - 6REF - 18&
ERIZEERBEHRBE B D 5
$%23,036,116MEREX=EMNE (HER
2,161,250 X Z R HIHAZ) ~ 1,772,00917 125
Zas DR (HE 166,250 8% SR HI HA%)
542,176,493 EEX mEMHE (HER
3,957,000 ZRHIHAR) - REBEREHE
XN FE0.4558 T (FHERERZR
HA%4.85%7T) - FFERBARARINIEESRE R
HA BT — BB B 8 0 A R B R & /A
Bz - EEXEENBRIRUL T ARXE
B

Proportion of vesting

SEAH 55 Ll

First vesting date July 2026 40.0%
/Amm%ﬁﬁﬁ —TZRFtA

Second vesting date July 2027 30.0%
IR B A —E-t+F+A

Third vesting date July 2028 30.0%
FEZREEEH —ZEZN\FE+A
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24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS 24 LEREENRONERRR

(continued) (&)
H Share Incentive Scheme (continued) HER B BT 8l (&)
Movements in the number of Trust Units granted to directors and BTESREENEIXEEMEHAEDN
employees are as follows: gEmT
2024
—EomE
Equivalent
of number
Number of of Restricted
Trust Units H Shares
B2 HER
EHEEE ZREHBREE
As at 1 January n—HA—H - -
Granted during the year FRNER 66,984,618 6,284,500
Granted but not yet vested as at RT-—A=+—HEEBLEHKSR
31 December B 66,984,618 6,284,500

25INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 GREMBMRRRPHAEH
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Prepaid taxes/(current taxation) in the consolidated (a) REMBRRRHPHBECHE
= -
statement of financial position represents: (BPEABEIR) 45
2024 2023
—EBE “EC=HF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR®BTE

Current tax assets: BNEARIIEEE :
PRC CIT recoverable A Y B AR B 1 FE TS FR 157 10,513
Current tax liabilities: BEARIEAE !
PRC CIT payable and Hong Kong Profits FERS R B FEMEH R
Tax payable B BFET (28,732) (19,938)
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25INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 &Z&8HBRREXPHWAER

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (&)
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EERDIELEHBEEERERE !
() Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and () EEHREEEREBESHERBIN
liabilities 25
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised RARE BRSO R R R AR
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the B(EE)/ BEEKRSD ARF
movements during the year are as follows: AEBIERAT :
Depreciation
Promotion allowances Equity
Unrealised and Right- inexcessof ~ securities
Creditloss inter-group advertising ~ Accumulated  ofuse Lease therelated  designated

allowance profit  expenses taxlosses assets liabilities  Accruals  depreciation  atFvOCI Total

YD

RE:tA

by 4 BEAR  EfiE

FEEE SER RRR MR @AR RN WENER

fF HE REMX ER BE HERR MMRR  FERE  REER &
RBO0  ANBODD RO RWBODD  RWBOD  RMBOD  RVBOD B0 RWBOD MBI
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTL  ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR

Deferred tax aising from: RATHEELN
EERE:
At 1 January 2013 N2-=E-A-R (13%) (4573) (26553) (1329) 6,526 (6830 (1979 1939 - (34199)
(Creditec)/charged to proft or loss (tA)/MekR (660) Bh 3039 3 2934 (27983) (888) 8 - 1483
131 December 003 i |
and 1 January 2024 =+-Bk
ZE-mE-F-A (2056) (43%9) (B3514) (12090) 34460 (34813) (2867) 1007 - Bm
(Credted)/charged to proft oross (fA)/ERE (436) 9 (Q4) (e 1834 ) 41 - 3w
Charged to other comprehensive neifzEks
income - - - - - - - - 468 4684
At31 December 2024 AZFZRETZA
=1+-H (254)) (3747 (45921 (1290) 32515 (32979) (2229 2,168 4644 (4937)
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25INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 25 &Z&8HBRREXPHWAER

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%&)
(continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: b) ERARELEHEEEREE :
(continued) (#&)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial (i) BEEEHERRRNEER
position
2024 2023
—EE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT

Net deferred tax assets in the consolidated RE TSR R R AR IR

statement of financial position HIEEE (51,227) (34,371)
Net deferred tax liabilities in the consolidated #R& BAT5 A 3% &) FELE
statement of financial position HRIEAE 1,850 1,659
(49,377) (32,712)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () REANELEHBEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(q), BN 1 (TS TR - ARERE
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of MR e ER N EEBNNAR SR
cumulative tax losses of RMB8,665,000 (2023: RMB315,000) as it is BIAK BB ARREREFE &
not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses INEE B gt A R #58,665,0000T (=&
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and — =4 : AR®315000T) B E5HHiE
entity. Cumulative tax losses of RMB8,616,000 expire within 5 years EREARERBEEE - BIBIR1TH
under current tax legislation. & ARBER,616,000 T H) 25T FiIEEE

RRAFAZIE

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26 EX - ARERRE
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) REZAHMEB D RIS
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of RNEB4ZEE s & A 2B B 4] B2 2
each component of the Group's consolidated equity is set out REr 2 B EHESFNE S ERE
in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Details of = o AN A 5 A B AE KRB 9 AR A7) £
the changes in the Company's individual components of equity FERZENEEFFEEHIWOT -

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(@) Movements in components of equity (continued)

270

BB HRRMEE

P U REST)

26 B4 - RREERKRE (F)

(a) AR HNEE (F)

The Company ¥ NN
Share-based
Share Share payment  Statutory Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total
Bt
BE ROEE PEE EELEE  REFE @t
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
MiE ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZBZ=5-A-AMEH 86700 154438 10,944 40751 171,069 464002
Changes in equity for 2023: “ECCFEREE:
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ ERFIE R 2E iz A%
for the year = = = = 135,489 135,489
Issuance of ordinary shares by initial ARRREERETLBRG
public offering 6,400 262,841 - - - 269,241
Equity settled share-based transactions ~ MWERZEEHRAFHR S - 15,760 (10944) = = 4816
Appropriation to statutory reserve REVEEAES 26(d) il = - = 5799 (5799) =
Dividends approved and paid to the BRAETER FRREARE
shareholders 26(b) - - - - (160,000) (160,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R=B==§+=R
=t-BHER 93,100 433,039 - 46550 140859 713548
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 26 EX - NEERRKRE (&)

(a) Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) AR P HEE (B)
The Company (continued) AT (&)
Shares
held for Fair value
employee reserve
Share Share incentive Statutory (non-  Retained
capital ~ premium scheme  reserve  recycling) profits Total
HER ME

BRI R BRE
Bx  ReEE SANRG  ORE (FUEE) RENR 43
Note  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
e ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2024 RZB-mE-F-BMGEH 93,100 433,039 - 46,550 - 140859 713,548
Changes in equity for 2024: “ECMEREED:
Profit for the year ERHE - - - - - 204361 204361
Other comprehensive income A 2ENE - - - - 13933 - 1393
Total comprehensive income PENGER - - - - 13933 204361 218,294
Purchase of own shares under BEEEREHEEEALTRD

employee incentive scheme % - - (94,073) - - - (94,0m3)
Dividends approved and paid to the EREGRNFRRARE

shareholders 26(b) - - - - - (100,077)  (100,077)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RIEZMETZA=T-ANER 93100 433039 (94,073) 46550 13933 245143 737,692
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(b) Dividends

272

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company (i)

attributable to the year

P U REST)

(b) BB

26 B4 - RREERKRE (F)

FRARNARDRERRRKRE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Final dividend proposed after the end of WMEHAREEBRERNRARS
the reporting period of RMB21.5 cents BREBRARE2155
per ordinary share (2023: RMB21.5 cents (ZZ==F : gRTER
per ordinary share) AR 59) 100,083 100,083
Less: dividend for shares held for employee  J& : BLiE B BT EH AN
incentive scheme & &I AR B (1,998) =
98,085 100,083
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting WEHAREEBREHREAREL

period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the

reporting period.

BERREARERRBE

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company (i) FREMERKNMN EL—MBRFERE
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid NEDFEERRBE
during the year
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Final dividend in respect of the previous FREHERIRT G =B
financial year, approved and paid during FEMRAIR S TR E B
the year, of RMB21.5 cents per ordinary ARBNSH(ZE-_=4F:
share (2023: RMB184.5 cents per share A RE184.55 (Bx(D 7 4H
(before Share Subdivision)/equivalent to A,/ HEREBREERARE
RMB36.9 cents per ordinary share (after 36.99 (B 1Az ))
Share Subdivision)) 100,077 160,000
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

R PR AR ML

P BUA S T)

26 B4 - RREERKRE (F)

(c) Share capital () A
2024 2023
—E-F ZT=F
No. of No. of
shares shares
idvip 4= k&R
('000) RMB’000 ('000) RMB'000
(FR) AR®TT (FR) ARETT
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:  E3@A% - BT R :
At 1 January n—HB—H 465,500 93,100 86,700 86,700
Subdivision of ordinary shares (note (i)) A& HF4H (FIzEx)) - - 346,800 =
Shares issued by initial public BRAREEEITRG
offering (note (i) (BRFZE ) - - 32,000 6,400
At 31 December R+=—RA=+—H 465,500 93,100 465,500 93,100
Notes: Bt

0

(ii)

As approved by the shareholders’ general meeting of the Company
on 25 May 2023, immediately upon the initial public offering of the
Company, each of issued ordinary share of RMB1 will subdivide into five
ordinary shares of RMB0.2 each. After the share subdivision, the number
of the issued ordinary shares was 433,500,000.

32,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of RMBO0.2 each were issued at
a price of HK$9.7 per ordinary share upon the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The gross
proceeds raised from the offering was HK$310,400,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB283,029,000). Net proceeds from the offering
were RMB269,241,000 (after offsetting costs directly attributable to
the issuance of shares of approximately RMB13,788,000), of which
RMB6,400,000 was credited to the Company's share capital account and
the remaining RMB262,841,000 was credited to the Company's share
premium account.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 20 December

2024 in relation to the completion of the H share full circulation,

136,580,700 unlisted shares of the Company were converted to H

share and was listed on the Stock Exchange on 23 December 2024.

() BT -_=FRAA-T+HRARTHAEARF
REAGHE  BEARTEALAAES
% SREEAREK I THERITEAEAR
BIFAAAREREEARB2 THNLE
R - RIRDFMHE  BRTLEBEREEBE A
433,500,000% ©

(i) ARAFRBRORBEBBERIMERAA L
ﬁ%*ﬂmmm%i%ﬁﬁAE%mﬁm

BRIREREEIR0.7B THERIET -
%:?Km%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmomwm%ﬁ
(FHER LA R¥E283,029,0007T) ° EEFHT
BRIE A AR 269,241,000 7 (K 38 HIZ 5
BREITIRM KK AL A R¥13,788,0007T
%) » o AR%6,400,000 7T AR AR
ARER - T AR¥262,841,0007T5F AR AR
BEAD (B R o

BIMAAFHRHA-—_ZS-_MWE+=-_F =+
HARBBTERHIRE BN A EMEE
KRR E]136,580,700 A% FE L AR ) B B A H
R BRZZ-MF+= A= +=HRE
RFTET °
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26 B - ARERKRE (K)
(d) AMESWMERE

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

274

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares of the Company and consideration for the

shares issued.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the portion of
difference between the fair value of shares granted and the
consideration paid by the employees of the Group that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity settled share-based payments in note 1(p)
(ii).

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group's Chinese
Mainland companies and relevant statutory regulations,
appropriations to the statutory reserve fund were made at 10%
of profit after tax determined in accordance with accounting
rules and regulations of Chinese Mainland until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. This reserve fund
can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increasing
capital of the Chinese Mainland companies provided that
the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
their registered capital, and is non-distributable other than in

liquidation.

Shares held for employee incentive scheme

The shares held for employee incentive scheme comprises
the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group. At 31
December 2024, the Group held 9,294,400 of the Company's
shares (2023: nil) included 6,284,500 shares granted pursuant

to the H Share Incentive Scheme (see note 24).
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BARE25%BBRIBEINAI AR S
fid

BiES B BFENRED

B BB EET B8R A MR BIEAR
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of equity investments designated
at FVOCI under IFRS 9 that are held at the end of the reporting

period (see note 1(f)).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in

accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1(t).

(e) Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing

access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital

structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of an
adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, adjusted
net debt is defined as lease liabilities and adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity. In order to maintain or
adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce
debt.

26 B - ARERKRE (K)
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(e)
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N
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group's adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2024

and 2023 was as follows:

26 B - ARERKRE (K)
() EXEE (A)

RZE-_NWFR-_E_=ZF+=A=
+—H AEENKCHABRFEKHEE

AR
2024 2023
—EMMEF —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BIsE AR®T ARBETTT
Current liabilities: mEaE:

Lease liabilities HEBE 22 25,267 26,391

Non-current liabilities: ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 105,048 111,287
Adjust net debt KR FES 130,315 137,678
Total equity MR 768,244 796,927
Adjusted capital FCE RSN 768,244 796,927
Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio RS A E AR b ¥ 17% 17%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group's business. The Group is also exposed to

equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are

described below.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions for which the Group considers to have low

credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose

the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management policy under
which individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer's past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 90 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are more than 3 months past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. Normally,

the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

27 cREREEREBMTANA
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

(@) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERRK (&)
Trade receivables (continued) B 5 EE (&)
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in AEBEREFPEEFMEMNITEXBIR
industries or countries in which the customers operate. Significant WEEREFEERR EASHE
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has ERBETERAEBLHENTFEE
significant exposure to individual customers. At the end of the NE B R E A& o E’\Hﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂi B
reporting period, 76.9% (2023: 85.2%), 2.4% (2023: 2.6%) and 79.3% PREWKEFR76.9% (ZF ==
(2023: 87.8%) of the total trade receivables was due from the 85.2%) * 2.4% (ZF =4 : 2. 6%) K
Group's largest customer, the second largest customer and the five 793% (=% __¢ 87. 8%) 5 Bl A FE UL
largest customers respectively. REBEHZAREF  FAREPKAK
BEFEHHIE -
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an AEEUBEERHBEREEBEN
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision R 2B HERE IEE’]EE’J’TE BE
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not ZeREAREBEESTE - ARAE
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different type of .E’\JFEEETJEETE%&%ﬁi?EﬂT\HiEM
customer, the loss allowance based on past due status is not EEMBEAEATEBEEZE - Al
distinguished among the Group's different customer types. WARBBAEETNRAZSEAESE
i BRA RE Y BT R R A o
The following table provides information about the Group’s TERREHETEEAEENEERR KX
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables: B S RERFIETEHREEEENER
2024
—ElEF
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount  Loss allowance
EHEsEE IRE4AE RS
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBT T
Current (not past due) BNER (RE ) 4.5% 96,382 4,312
More than 3 months past due 260 B 3 = 1 A 82.8% 1,725 1,428
98,107 5,740
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

NANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(BEXZESBHTES) » TAAREIT)

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

(@) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERRK (&)
Trade receivables (continued) g 5 EWIE ()
2023
S
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
TEHAE e % R4 ik
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BNER (R ER) 4.0% 86,725 3,427
More than 3 months past due B ERER B = (& A 100.0% 1,318 1,318
88,043 4,745

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the

past 36 months. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences

between economic conditions during the period over which

the historic data has been collected, current conditions and the

Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade

receivables during the year is as follows:

BHEBERXENBEICEANER
BARRTESL - BLEXRE(ER
B URBRAE KRR £ BUR IR MK
BARS ~ E AR S A R R £ 1 i L
KA FHALERRNE L ZH
HZESR e

FRNESRURENBRRERED
BT

2024 2023

g it 3 ZE-=fF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBFT

Balance at 1 January RN—A—HB&ES 4,745 4,120
Amounts written off MsE SR (31) -
Impairment losses recognised (note (5c)) RERE EE (MR (50) 1,026 625
Balance at 31 December Rt+—A=+—HK&E 5,740 4,745
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27

280

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(a) Creditrisk (continued)
Deposits

Deposits mainly represent rental deposits. The expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted
to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The following table provides information
about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for deposits and

other receivables:

AN EBST)

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

(a)

FERRE (&)
7E

ReXrZ2HREESES - HEHEEBR
T2 EAKENEL BREERAE
BEREME - BREXBREERKIKRE
HH 78 B DA S BR 3R B 15 00 % FRORI R R AR
BN - TRERTERBAKENE
ERRkRiRe R EMBKFARTRRE
EEENER

2024
—E-OEF

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
RHEER FREAE RS
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Within 1 year —&FR 5.0% 3,303 166
Over 1 year but within 2 years —F LA FERFR 10.1% 486 49
Over 2 years but within 3 years MFEAEE=FA 50.0% 1,056 528
Over 3 years =FLALE 100.0% 365 365
5,210 1,108
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 £RiEEERSBMITANA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE (&)
(continued)
(@) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERRK (&)
Deposits (continued) B& (&)
2023
—E-=4F
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
TEHAE e % R4 ik
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Within 1 year —FRN 3.0% 9,424 280
Over 1 year but within 2 years —FLA LHERERA 10.0% 3313 332
Over 2 years but within 3 years ~ MFA FE=F R 50.7% 3,265 1,655
Over 3 years =FLAE 100.0% 1,030 1,030
17,032 3,297
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of deposits REEZT_MFR-F_=F+=
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows: A=+—RIEEESHEEBRER

SHERNT -

2024 2023
—ECOE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARETE

Balance at 1 January R—RA— B 3,297 2,326
Amounts written off s SRR (3,808) -
Impairment losses recognised THERA R BB 18 1,619 971
Balance at 31 December RTZA=1T—H8%&H% 1,108 3,297
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) 7% Btk L B
The treasury function is centrally managed by the Group, which MR ARESERER 2R
includes the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising SRGHEHEENR A RmETEEER
of funds to cover expected cash demands. The Group's policy is to CERMEBENES - REBMBE
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with EEMEEFERSE S EKUKEST
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of B ARREAREHNRS
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial PREEURREZTZCRBBENES
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and REMEARE  EMECHRREA
longer term. MEERBESER -
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at TRETTASEcRAEEERSH
the end of the reporting period of the Group's financial liabilities, AOFIAERAZER (ERERAREEE
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including Rene (BREEHAARMEL (0B
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, EFBNAER) BN HRE B RAE BT RE
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the BB ARAEEATREFES
earliest date the Group can be required to pay: NH&EEEHFERFSL) ¢
2024
—g-me
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SRERERASR L
More than  More than
1 year 2 years
Within but less but less Carrying
1 year or than than  More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
—-FR -0t BWEULE W+=A=+—-H
FRER ELAWME ELREFE HENE st HEREE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®TRT AR®TR ARWTRT ARETZR ARBT T

Trade and other B MEMmENTE
payables 271,050 - - - 271,050 271,050
Lease liabilities HEERE 30,012 27,252 57,129 33,333 147,726 130,315

301,062 27,252 57,129 33,333 418,776 401,365
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 £RiEEERSBMITANA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE &)
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REMERERR ()
2023
“T-=F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRARBRRA LML
More than ~ More than
1 year 2 years
Within but less but less Carrying
1 yearor than than ~ More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 December
mt=A
—FR  —FHRE  WENME ==FE

AEER BIRWE BIREF  AFNE & WEREE
RMBOOO ~ RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Trade and other payables B R EMENFY 193,499 = = - 193499 193,499
Lease liabilities HEAR 32,197 27,293 51,839 49563 160,892 137,678
225,696 27,293 51,839 49,563 354,391 331,177
(c) Interest rate risk (c) == ps
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows MEEBREEMTAMNAREBEKE
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in %fﬁ/}}/ﬁil R B eihs &)
market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily c AEEMFEREBREERE X
from restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and lease KE %‘J HITER - RekReFEBMA
liabilities. Interest-bearing financial instruments at variable rates and BEHEAR - LUFEH X EE F =X
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and EJr SHemIAEFEFAEEDRIASIR
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group's interest rate risk EME 7F‘J ZRERRBEAALEBEMNEER
profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) below. B o )T EEEERNAEEF|
T}_U‘ *Ei/ﬁﬂ
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table, as reported to the management of the

Group, details the interest rate risk profile of the Group at the

end of each reporting period:

(c) FIZRmE b (%)

(i) FREREHR

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

TREZAREEEEEERN TN
B A SR BN & s B R A R 2

BB

Notional amount

BREHE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREET T

Fixed rate instruments: BEEREFEIA
Restricted bank deposits R EIERITER - 8,074
Lease liabilities HEAE (130,315) (137,678)
(130,315) (129,604)

Variable rate instruments: FEFRGTEIA :
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHEES 410,724 531,032
Cash balances with payment platforms ST amR SR 9,784 6,061
420,508 537,093
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the
Group's profit after tax and retained profits by approximately
RMB819,000 (2023: RMB1,006,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's profit after tax (and retained profits)
that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk
at the end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of
the reporting period, the impact on the Group's profit after tax
(and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates.

The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2023.

(d) Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Chinese Mainland and most of the
Group's monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB.
The management considers the Group's exposure to currency risk is

insignificant.

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

(c) FIZRmE b (%)

(i) SRBEDF

R-Z-—ME+-—A=+—H 4
AHTEEEMESRETENER
T FR@EEFA TS EE
B AN SR B A R B A T R AR
FEE R4 R#819,000
T (ZZEZ=%F : AR% 1,006,000
JT) °
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HERAABENXRABRNZEER
TR AEEERRENE(RRHE
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AN EBST)

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

(continued)
(e) Equity price risk (e) REEKRE
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity AEBEEBREAABEFAEMEZE
securities designated at FVOCI (see note 15). W iEEREZSMEENREE
REFER (RFE15) -
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease) of R-ZE-_W&E+_-_A=+—8 ' {44
10% in the relevant stock market index (for listed investment), with AREMSER (G LEMREMS) &
all other variables held constant, would have increased/decreased F TR 0% MATEEMES
the Group's other comprehensive income and fair value reserve g fﬁ%‘fﬂiilﬁ'\]ﬁi\@iﬁqﬁbﬁ
(non-recycling) as follows: RARBERKE(CTAIEE) &N~
AT
2024
—E-WEF
Effect on Effect on
other fair value
comprehensive reserve (non-
income recycling)
HAREE
HEMEME s (Al
W e EE) NEe
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBT T ARBT T
Changes in the relevant equity HERREREREE
price risk variable: K E :
Increase EF 10% 2,696 2,696
Decrease TE (10)% (2,696) (2,696)

286

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group's other comprehensive income and fair value reserve
(non-recycling) that would arise assuming that the changes in the
stock market index had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure this financial instrument held
by the Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the
end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair values of
the Group's equity investments would change in accordance with
the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index, and

that all other variables remain constant.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

@i

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance

of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations:  Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2 valuations:  Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for

which market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations:  Fair value measured using significant

unobservable inputs

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

() DREEFE

@i

BRARBEFENERMEERER

RABEER
TREFINBERRIZEEIEELE
AENAEESRIANARE
B REEVHEREERFE 135
RAIEEFERENRABERER
DR=F - RRBEMED LR
HERMATRE AR BREK
ERIREEE  FIBEWT

FRE: ERE-RBARE (]
HRBEXABRE
BEER RIS ARG
HEGE)FEAAEE

“RIEE  REE - RBARE (]
AERAE—ROE
Ty AHE) - ATER
EXTABRGARE
AAERRER TAE
RRABBEREZING
MSEENE AR -

S

F=HE: RAEXTTERHA
HEHELAER
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 ¢RiAMEERSBRIANA

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEE (&)
(continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued) H AAREETE(H)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (i) BAAREBEENESREERERS
(continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) RAAEEER (&)
Fair value at 31 Fair value measurements as at

December 2024 31 December 2024 categorised into

R-E-MNF
+=ZHB=+—H R-EBE-mE+=—A=+—-HK
NAREE DAEBEFESES

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

E-EBR HF-ER EZE&

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥TRT ARETRT AR®TR

Recurring fair value BEMALEENE
measurements

Assets: BE

Trust industry protection fund EAEREES 991 - 991 =

Non-trading listed equity securities ~ 3ER 5 _E kiR F 35,948 35,948 = =
There was no financial instruments measured at fair value as at RZTE_=F+_A=+—8 #
31 December 2023. BERAABEITENEHIA -
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, there REBEE_T_=FR_ZT_NF+
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into ZA=tT—HIEFE F—HKEE
or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers TRz AN AR R - ol A BB
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the F=R c AEENBER AN EAE
reporting period in which they occur. BRREHRERSAAEEER

[ =830
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

@i

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of trust industry protection fund in Level 2 is
determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows
at risky rate, which is the benchmark interest rate plus the risk

premium as at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other

than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised cost were not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and 2024.

28 COMMITMENTS

Commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 not provided for in the

financial statements were as follows:

27 cREREEREBMTANA
REE(FE)

() AREEE(E)

@i

(ii)

28 &IE

BRARBEAENSREERARE
(%)

BEoRAREETEREANEER
MR A B

E_RERERBEENRAEE
BB E R (B & R &
AR o0 B a (B ) B3R b At R 2R

REMEBETE

VHRAABEIRNEMEER
BENAAEE

AEBIZE KA RN SR T A
MREEEEAR T =Fr_F
TOFE+-A=1t—HHNAREE
BEAER -

WEEMEHRRTPFRBEENNR =Y
F+ZA=1+—HRBITAENT :

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBT T

Contracted for acquisition of property, BERTAUM B - W e
machinery and equipment 4,091 31,102
Contracted for new short-term leases ERIAFEEEE 4,210 2,811
8,301 33,913
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ITVAAN

e TSR R MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

290

The Group entered into the following material related party transactions
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Name of related parties

RS £

29 EXBEBARS
AEERBE_ZT_MER_ZT-_=ZF1+
— A=+ BLEFEL NI EREBS
X5 e

Relationship
ZEES

Beijing Zhongshi Hongyun Advertising Co., Ltd.

JERpRBBESERAR) *
I RPRBEEEBRA R
Beijing Guangyao Tianrun Advertising Co., Ltd.
tRARREERESHRLAE) *
IERARREESBRA R
Tianjin Union Yutai Trading Co., Ltd.
(RETEMRERERRAR) *
RETEBHERERRAF*

Entity controlled by a director of the Group

rEEESEHNER
Entity controlled by a director of the Group

rEEESERHNER

Entity significantly influenced by one of the Controlling
Shareholders

—HEBRBRREEATENNER

* The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English translation is for * SEEBNEHRBAD X - BB (E A

identification purpose only.

Rl o

(a)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company'’s directors and supervisors
as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as

disclosed in note 8, is as follows:

(a)

HREEASTH

AEEBREEASHM (BIEME7
FEBEAARREEREETINNE
BEMESHERERE TR MES
XNAWEER) T

2024 2023

it 2 —EC=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBT T

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERAMBER 16,529 20,019
Contributions to defined contribution REMFERANGT MR

retirement plan 405 363

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses LA REENRO S RFES - 1,629

16,934 22,011

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE R ERR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXBEBARS ()
(continued)
(b) Other transactions with related parties (b) HABIE S RS
2024 2023
—E-mNE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Trade in nature: ESME
Advertising services received A B S AR
- Entities controlled by a director of the Group —AEE-—ZEFEHNER 33,662 36,094
Sales of edible bird’s nest products HERBEm
— Entity significantly influenced by one of — —BIERBRREERZE NN
the Controlling Shareholders B 18,274 18,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A TSRk EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXRBEEEARS (&)
(continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (c) EERAEETS M4ERA
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Trade in nature: BEZHE:
Prepayments TR RIR
— Entities controlled by a director of the Group — AEE-—ZESTHINERE 4,458 18,885
Other receivables included in trade and T AE 5 K HE M e YR IB B
other receivables H i FEURIE
— Entities controlled by a director of the Group — AEE—REZTHNES 1,900 1,800
Trade payables included in trade and T AE 5 K& H M FE IR
other payables B S ENRIE
— Entities controlled by a director of the Group —AEE—REFEHINER - 632
Other payables included in trade and STAE S R EAER FRIER
other payables H A pER5RIE
- Entity significantly influenced by one of — — & Hxﬁx%ﬁiji BN
the Controlling Shareholders g8 3,471 4,087
Contract liabilities ERAE
- Entity significantly influenced by one of — —BERRREEAZEZ NN
the Controlling Shareholders T 4,198 5,226
(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected d EEEXZHEBN LTRAUNE
transactions A
The related party transactions in respect of note 29(b) constitute BRAMTEE29(b) WO BAESE T R S K LT
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions RAETEOAZFTATENAER S LR
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures BRAERS © L?ﬁiﬁﬁ‘lkk‘f’lﬂmﬁ?ﬁ
required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section HEMNBBRHRNESRE [FEBE
“Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report. ] —fn e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

30 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

30 QA EE TR R T

2024 2023
—ZE-pE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB k& 9,941 13,168
Intangible assets mEE 1,007 45
Investments in subsidiaries HFRAINKRE 329,179 191,041
Equity securities designated at FVOCI RAREBEFTALMEE
W E5 Y18 TE AR RE 77 35,948 =

Financial assets measured at FVPL RARBEFABENSRHEE 991 =
Deferred tax assets RIEHRIEEE 4,114 2,935
Other non-current assets HibEmEEE 218 218

381,398 207,407
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 8 7,286 9,833
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E e R IA 7,914 6,203
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWF R EIFRIE 714,827 96,406
Prepayments SEENE O] 13,219 166,284
Prepaid taxes A FIE - 10,513
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEBY 128,323 382,592

871,569 671,831
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E Ath e 518 115,856 120,487
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEFREIFRIE 332,276 -
Contract liabilities aR&E 58,086 38,535
Other current liabilities Hb R B E 7,154 4,838
Lease liabilities HERE 802 899
Current taxation BNVEATTE 1,101 -

515,275 164,759
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A TSRk EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Br X &5 B AT55) * HTUN RS T)

30 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

31

32

294

30 R EIEE MM BRI T (&)

POSITION (continued)
2024 2023
113 T o=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREET T
Net current assets REFEE 356,294 507,072
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBER 737,692 714,479
Non-current liability FREEE

Lease liabilities HEEE = 931
= 931
NET ASSETS FEE 737,692 713,548

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERARAES
Share capital A& A 93,100 93,100
Reserves NiE® 644,592 620,448
TOTAL EQUITY RS 737,692 713,548

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a final
dividend. Further details are disclosed in note 26(b).

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate holding party of
the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were Xiamen Suntama
Industrial Development Co., Ltd., Zheng Wenbin and Li Youquan, and
the ultimate controlling party of the Company as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 were Huang Jian, Zheng Wenbin and Li Youquan.

Xiamen Yan Palace | Bz BRBEERHERATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R PR AR ML

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B X E 5 B AT + HIANA RS T)

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued
a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted
in these financial statements. These developments include the following

which may be relevant to the Group.

BPERXMERBE-_ST-HNEL

Z“A=ZT-BHLEFEMKRENR
HMERT A - R 2RI R 2B
BESE

BEEZSUBRATZEEH  ERSHE
A ESE ML IEMT SIS LA -
BERBEZTE-_MF+=-_A=1+—H1
FEHNAEREWBEEZSMBHRERK
Ao BHERBBEATSEALERER
FHRARIER] -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTNBE#HHz#
MM E BREXN

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — Lack of exchangeability

B S ERE N RET AN - EXEGFE — = IRBE

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial instruments and |FRS 7, Financial instruments:

1 January 2025
—ZE-_hF—H—H

1 January 2026

disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments

BRI HREERFN - EMTARBERPBEREENE7S  2HTA -

WE — 2 TASERENELT]

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BRI EHRE S LN FESCE — F 1111

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

BIR P S RELERNFE 1857 - HBEHAAZ5 RIFKE

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures
BURR B s S ERIE 1957 - BMARE(FA)FLRA] - &

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely

to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

—E-R"&—H—H

1 January 2026
—EoRF—H—H

1 January 2027
—T_tF—H—H

1 January 2027
—ZE_tF—H—H

AREBE ARG ELEHRESXERHE
MERNEE BEBA  ARERER®A
BB ARREA T A LG HEE MT
BRRELEATE -
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DEFINITION

AGM”

“Articles of Association” or "Articles”

[REIZERZ AR

“Audit Committee”
[B:EET]

“Award Letter”

[T

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[EFE

“Board Secretary”

[EFEWE]

“CG Code”
[{ZEER<FA]

“China Everbright Bank”

[ B KIRTT

"China,” "Mainland China” or "PRC"

(B TRER] K
[ ARFAME

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on May 9, 2025 or any
adjournment thereof

ARRHR -_ZE-_RAFAANBETHNFERRASHEEAES

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRABARIER (EARFHERT)

the audit committee of the Board
BEEEEITEEY

a letter issued by the Company to each grantee in such form as the Board and/or the
Delegatee may from time to time determine, specifying the name of the grantee, the
number of Trust Units granted, the vesting criteria and conditions, the vesting date and
such other terms and conditions to be determined by the Board and/or the Delegatee that
are not inconsistent with the H Share Incentive Scheme

KRANERZER/ IEEALTRATOEA AS MBS REL A RS - EF5I8H
HEERHEE EE RTOEEIRENEHNE  BRRERGH BBEAUK
B2 SRR T EETE BB HRORE T 8100 M A 60 B A {550 R 6

the board of directors of our Company

ARABERE

secretary to the Board

ExeNE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ETRAIMERC Pk ) R B A ST Al

China Everbright Bank Company Limited, a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability, the H shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
6818) and the A shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601818)

PEFARRITBROHARAF - —KRPEFMRZOBRMDERAR] - EHRD A
(RIS - 6818) £ » AR EBRBHR S (RFERE :601818) £

People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report and for
geographical reference only and except where the context requires otherwise, Hong Kong,
the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

PEARANE  piAFREREM s RMEHMER2ERES - F1EEEE  PEARHK
MEPRPIRRITHEM S & - RIEXESAIE
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“Company,” “our Company,” “Group,”

‘our Group,” “we," “us” or “Yan Palace”

[R&E] - TRRA] - [€£E] -
[AEE] - [RAIHFHZE]

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ 42 RARER

"CSRC
MPEEES]

"

"Delegatee(s)

(AL

"Director(s)”

[E=%]

“Directors’ Report”

[EEHE]

“EBN+ products”

DEFINITION

Xiamen Yan Palace Bird's Nest Industry Co., Ltd. (EFifkZ ERBEERNDBRAF)
(formerly known as Xiamen Yan Palace Bioengineering Co., Ltd. (B P93t 2 & 4 ¥ T2 A% 1D
AR F]), ajoint stock company established in the PRC with limited liability on December
23, 2020, or, where the context requires (as the case may be), its predecessor, Xiamen Yan
Palace Biological Engineering Development Co., Ltd. (BEFIZ EA W TIRERBFR A7),
a company established in the PRC with limited liability on October 31, 2014
EFFRZERBEERNERAR FIBAEMFIKZEENIERNHARRR)  —K
RZBZZEFT_A+T=RAEFEKIOROEBER AR - A& RIERM
F) BEFEZEEMIRERBERAR(ES)  — KR _T—WNF+A=+—H
FEFRBEKZIBERA R

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to Mr. Huang, Mr. Zheng, Mr. Li, Ms. Xue, Xiamen Suntama and Jinyan
Tengfei LP

HBE FTRAMETHRE - MXBESBIEN  BEELE  BEE FEE  BX
T EFERERSHBERERSE

the China Securities Regulatory Commission (R BIEH BB ERE

TREESEEEELZE®

0

)

\

the Board Committee(s) and/or person(s) delegated by the Board
EECREEMN RESSEENAE

the director(s) of our Company

ARRES

the report of the Directors in this annual report

REFHRETNESTRE

ready-to-serve EBN products (with an EBN feed rate of 1% or above and up to 5%)
enhanced with other ingredients and/or nutrients, such as ginseng and gamma-
aminobutyric acid

AMEAMRE R HEBRD (PIAAS Ry RET &) AMERANEERRBER
GEBIRBIL> 1% Hm AT 3E5%)
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DEFINITION

“edible bird’s nests” or “EBN”

t

[RFA#E ]k [EBN ]

“Employee Incentive Scheme”

[E B =Bt &

“Global Offering”
[ EIREE

“Grant Price”

[T (B

"

“Guangyao Tianxiang LP

[EREARER

“H Share(s)"

[HAZ

“H Share Incentive Scheme”

[HACEUB) T 81 )

nests created by swiftlets with their saliva. EBN is highly valued in Chinese culture and
has been a renowned delicacy in Chinese cuisine for over 400 years. It is known for
its nutritional profile, which includes, among others, sialic acid, amino acid, collagen,
glycoprotein, antioxidants, calcium, potassium, iron, magnesium and hormones. Traditional
Chinese medicine attributes various health benefits to EBN, such as promoting overall
wellness, boosting the immune system, enhancing focus and concentration, increasing
energy and metabolism and regulating circulation. Modern scientific studies conducted by
authoritative sources have further validated the perceived health benefits of EBN products
DHBEAERERNE - MBAERBESUCREXESR 1002 FR—EZTEERPH
ERER - EUHEBKSMES  HPaE@milk £k BRES  BEQ -
mafm 85 B BAEE - ERTERAEEAASERERRE - fINRE
BEMER BERRRS  ERTIBNMEFR N - BN AR H LA K FE 1A
R BEBMEETORRKNEMRE - PRI TEABEMNERRE

the employee incentive scheme adopted by the Company on December 26, 2020

ARTR=B-BE+= A =5 B RHE DA

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Company
RABEBNRABELEREE

the grant price of each Target Share underlying the Trust Unit to be determined by the

Board and/or the Delegatee(s)
BHEFSR SEEATEENEAIZREMEMS KEREERONE TBE

Xiamen Guangyao Tianxiang Equity Investment Partnership LP (E P9t RERIEIRES
BHEERERE)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on July 29, 2015 and one
of our substantial shareholders

EFIARBRERERESBCE(ARERE)  —XR_Z—AFtA-THBAES
R BRERLE  ARMOEERR 2 —

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a nominal value of RMBO0.2 each,
which is/are listed on the Stock Exchange and traded in Hong Kong dollars

ARRBBRAREREEARK2TTHE R - RBRM ETMAABETER

the 2024 H Share Incentive Scheme adopted by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting on March 25, 2024, the rules of which are set out in Appendix | to the circular of
the Company dated March 7, 2024
ARBRZZ_NF=A-+HABRNBRRRREARE FRAN -2 ZWFHRBE
T8 HARRENRARRBEA-T - NFE= A+ AR KM EE—
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"HKD' or "HKS”
&)

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“Hongyan Investment LP"

[AFIREBERRER]

“IFRS Accounting Standards”

(BB BRG]

“IPO”

[BRAFEE]

“Jinyan Tengfei LP"

“Listing”
[

“Listing Date”

[EmRH]

DEFINITION

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

B BEEEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEE A RAEMEEBRIITHE

Beijing Hongyan Equity Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (35 54 BEAR IS & 0
(BBRE#)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on October 20, 2014

I FELEBRERER L (ARER) — KR _E—NFE+AZTEEFRBKIZIHAR
aRhE

includes all applicable individual IFRS Accounting Standards, IAS Standards and IFRIC
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
BEEFeTENEES ((BReEAREE ) BAATEERER ERI RS
SR BR ST AR RBERM GRS LERREZEGHRE

initial public offering
BRAREE

Xiamen Jinyan Tengfei Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (B 94 &3
JEHERE A B (BRER)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on December
14, 2020 and an employee incentive platform of our Group and one of our Controlling
Shareholders

EFIeHRBEREBREREGRECE (ARER) RTE_TF+_A+HEBEFBEKZ
WERERLE  ARAEBEETHET A RIERRE 2 —

the listing of the H Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
HAR B 32 P = AR 70

December 12, 2023, being the date on which the H Shares were listed on the Main Board

of the Stock Exchange
ZEC=FA+ZRTZR  HREBRAER T2 AH
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DEFINITION

“Listing Rules”
[ EmRAl
“Model Code”
MEssra]
"Mr. Huang"
(&t
“Mr. Li"
[5x4
“Mr. Zheng"
[ER5E4 |
“Ms. Xue”
[Bez£]

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEE

“Prospectus”

[ R =2

“R&D"
[

“Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee”

[FHEREZEE g )

“Renminbi” or "RMB”"
[ARE]

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
as amended or supplemented from time to time

EAMERHMARARES LR (BTEERTAHE)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in

Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
R RN ERCIFTE ) ETHEITAE T ETE R HHIRLESTR

Mr. HUANG Jian (Z 1), our chairman of the Board of Directors, executive Director and one

of our Controlling Shareholders

mEETA  RANEER PITEFRIERBER 2 —

Mr. LI Youquan (A ), our general manager, executive Director and one of our

Controlling Shareholders

FARELE  BANAKE  WTESRIEBRERZ—

Mr. ZHENG Wenbin (E83J&), our vice chairman of the Board of Directors, executive

Director and one of our Controlling Shareholders

B3RS E  BMMEIEER  TESRIERRER 2 —
Ms. XUE Fengying (BEBLZ), one of our Controlling Shareholders and the spouse of Mr.
Zheng

EE R T - BANIERRR 2 — RE AR

the nomination committee of the Board

EXxgREEEe

the prospectus of the Company dated November 30, 2023
RAARBHA—Z-_=F+—A=THNERER

research and development

T B f

the remuneration and appraisal committee of the Board

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEEEEBARYE
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“Reporting Period”

[#REH)

SEO”

[ &5 NS D]

“Share(s)"
[ A&7 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2R

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 22 P

“Strategy Committee”

[BREES]

“Structured Deposit Product

Agreement |”

[ &R RE R

“Structured Deposit Product

Agreement Il

[ &R Emip

“Structured Deposit Product

Agreement III"

[ &R RE M

“Structured Deposit Product

Agreement IV"

[ BB MR E M e IV ]

DEFINITION

twelve months from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024
B-E-MFE—AF—ARE-_Z-_WF+-_A=t+—BIt+=f@A

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EREDIFE S EREH R AEEE (B IEHERT - WA R AT e

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a par value of RMB0.20 each
RARRAFEREEARE0 2078 EEAX

holder(s) of our Share(s)

BirEBEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBERHAERRAT

the strategy committee of the Board

EFeEmRERS

the agreement entered into between Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology and China Everbright
Bank on January 3, 2025 in relation to the subscription of Structured Deposit Product | of
RMB45 million
ReBRGREMRIEPEEARRITR - Z_AF - A=-ZBRREARBSTETH
BT RE I T AT SZEY e

the agreement entered into between Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology and China Everbright
Bank on January 6, 2025 in relation to the subscription of Structured Deposit Product Il of
RMB50 million
ReBRHREMRIEPEEARRITR - Z_AF - ANEBRREARB0EETH
BV RE mII T AT SLE) ek

the agreement entered into between Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology and China Everbright
Bank on February 17, 2025 in relation to the subscription of Structured Deposit Product |l
of RMB50 million
ReBGREMRIREPEEARRITR - ZE_AF AT EtHRREARKS0OEET
B A5 A7 FREE | T /] SZEY 1 e

the agreement entered into between Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology and China Everbright
Bank on March 5, 2025 in relation to the subscription of Structured Deposit Product IV of
RMB30 million

ReBGREMRIEPEAARRITR _Z_AF=AAERREARBI05ETH
B TERUE IVl R] S A Rk

“EZ - PUEER | ANNUALREPORT 2024 301



DEFINITION

“Structured Deposit Product |

BT REmM ]

“Structured Deposit Product II”

[ BB ERERI

“Structured Deposit Product Il

[EBtEERERI]

“Structured Deposit Product IV*
[ BT REmMIV]
“subsidiary(ies)”

[F2rall

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[EERF]

"

“Supervisor(s)

(B
“Target Share(s)"

[ B Rk

the structured deposit product of RMB45 million subscribed by Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology on January 3, 2025 pursuant to the Structured Deposit Product Agreement |
HRZEHREDRBRBEBUEERERDE R S - AF - A=AREBHARKLS
BB AR FRE®

the structured deposit product of RMB50 million subscribed by Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology on January 6, 2025 pursuant to the Structured Deposit Product Agreement
Il

HZEBHREDRERBEEABEFFERBRIR S _HF—ANERBHARES0
BB AR RE®

the structured deposit product of RMB50 million subscribed by Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology on February 17, 2025 pursuant to the Structured Deposit Product
Agreement IlI

HZBHREYRBEREEBUETRERBAEIN S AF - A+EERBOAR
KSR B LHABILTFREM

the structured deposit product of RMB30 million subscribed by Yan Palace Silon
Biotechnology on March 5, 2025 pursuant to the Structured Deposit Product Agreement IV
B BHREDBEBREABUETRERBEVR -_E-_AF =L ARBHARE
30E S ITH A I 1T E m

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB LW ARRAIRT T HHRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LW ARRAIRTE T HHRE

the supervisor(s) of our Company

RRREE

the H Share(s) of the Company involved in the H Share Incentive Scheme, which are the
underlying Shares of the Trust Units
HRCR BT 818 R AR AIHAR - BMEFER s () SRR AR5
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“Treasury Shares”

[ 7t ]

“Trustee”

[ZFEA

“Trust Unit(s)"

[MErtXamtEmnaR]

"USD" or "USS"

S

“United States”

B0

“Unlisted Share(s)”

[R LR ]

“Xiamen Jinyanlai LP”

[EF2HRAREE]

“Xiamen Suntama”

[EFTERE]

DEFINITION

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmARRIETE TR E

the trustee to be appointed by the Company for the purpose of the trust constituted
under the trust management agreement to be entered into pursuant to the H Share

Incentive Scheme

AR BRRIBHA B A BB R UM ERE R ER I NERMRENZTA

unit(s) of beneficial rights under the Trust as granted to the grantees by the Board and/or
the Delegatee(s) and as divided by the trustee to be appointed by the Company for the
purpose of the H Share Incentive Scheme

EZeR/IBERATETHBERIBAARRBHRREE B OBEEHZTA

M ERXEENER

US dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

EBEDEEERET

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to its
jurisdiction

ENBRERE - HET - BHUARZEEENAHR

unlisted ordinary share(s) with a nominal value of RMB0.20 each, which are subscribed for
and fully paid up in Renminbi
BREEARK20THAR EMERR - MARBZEIL

Xiamen Jinyanlai Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (EFT&#EREEE B E
(BBRA %)), a limited partnership established in the PRC on July 17, 2015
EFSERKREAGRLE (BRER)  —XRE—RAFtATEAGEHRENINE
fReRbE

Xiamen Shuangdanma Industrial Development Co, Ltd. (EFITENSEEEREEGRA
7l), a limited liability company established in the PRC on November 11, 1997 and one of
our Controlling Shareholders

EFTERSEXHERBERAR  — KR - ANtF+—B+—BEPEKIHNER
NAE - REPIEIERRR 2 —
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DEFINITION

“Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology”

[ E#=EDRIR

“+EBN products”

oy
(%]

Xiamen Yan Palace Silon Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EFIM#E 2 E4REVRIFTER AR,
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on October 26, 2023 and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
EFITRZEHREDRRERAR  —KRBEPEEER _ZE-_=F+A=-+<H
BB RAT  BRARRNEEFRA

include certain food and skincare products that contain EBN or EBN extracts as an
enhancement for elevated nutrition or other benefits. +EBN food products are products
that use EBN (with an EBN feed rate of less than 1%) and other food ingredients as raw
materials, such as EBN porridge. +EBN skincare products are products that contain EBN or
EBN extracts, such as EBN facial masks and EBN essence
BREEAFARAEEEEATRKAMRENRBEI BRI E T R L& HEE
WMo +HRBRMEMENERE (REREL %) MEMRRERARER - Al
HEFR +AEEEEREEEABIABERIYNER - JINEEERANEEEE
i3

per cent

Bk
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